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Praise for Robert Stinnett's DAY OF DECEIT
"There is plenty of news value to Stinnett's book. Why? Because he has amassed
evidence that yields... a far more precise knowledge of who knew what and when than

any previous author has presented.'
—Steve Weinberg, The San Francisco Chronicle

"It is difficult, after reading this copiously documented book, not to wonder about

previously unchallenged assumptions about Pearl Harbor.*
—Richard Bernstein, The New York Times Book Review
"A fascinating and readable book that is exceptionally well-presented. *
—Bruce Bartlett. The Wall Street Journal

'Stinnett has made a sickening discovery through the Freedom of Information Act...
FDR must have known.... Day of Deceit is perhaps the most revelatory document of

our time.* —Tom Roeser, Chicago Sun-Times

'"Thanks to Stinnett's thorough research, those who will debate this topic in the future
will have a fuller picture of the real story behind the ‘Day of Infamy.'’ —Ed

Halloran, Rocky Mountain News

'Backed by seventeen years of research and using more than two hundred thousand
interviews and newly declassified documents, Stinnett makes devastating
revelations.... [He is] a model researcher.... December 7, 1941, is indeed ‘a date which
will live in infamy.” Thanks to Stinnett, wc now know where the infamy really lay. A
sobering blockbuster, an absorbing read, and a model of revisionist history. Day of
Deceit does much to unmask the awful truth about Pearl Harbor. All Americans
interested in our entry into World War II—or concerned with our government’s

trustworthiness—should read it." —John Attarian, The Detroit News



"Stinnett makes points that disturb conventional thinking about the Pearl Harbor
attack.* —Lynwood Abram. Houston Chronicle

"Explosive, revealing, and disturbing, Day of Deceit gets to the heart of the debate

about America’s leadership as the nation was swept into the war. A triumph of

historical scholarship and a valuable contribution to the record of World War IL."
—Michael D. Hull, World War Il magazine

'Robert Stinnett has come as close as any mortal will to proving not only that the
president had a pretty shrewd idea the Japanese planned to attack, but that he did
everything in his power, short of declaring war, to make sure they would. After
almost sixty years—and the destruction of intelligence documents—a single
'smoking gun' will never be found. But the case put together by Stinnett during
thirteen years of research, painstaking use of the Freedom of Information Act, and
interviews with participants, is more than persuasive." —Rupert Corwell, The

London Independent

“An explosive, well-written look at the events leading up to the Japanese raid on
Pearl Harbor, including FDR’s provocation of the attack, by a WW1I veteran and
longtime journalist. ... Stinnett has left no stone unturned in this account, which
should rewrite the historical record of WW11." —Kirkus Reviews

"Stinnett provides overwhelming evidence that FDR and his top advisers knew that
Japanese warships were heading towards Hawaii. The heart of his argument is even
more inflammatory: Stinnett argues that FDR, who desired to sway public opinion in
support of U.S. entry into WWII, instigated a policy intended to provoke a Japanese
attack. ...If Stinnett is right, FDR has a lol to answer for—namely, the lives of those
Americans who perished al Pearl Harbor. Stinnett establishes almost beyond question
that the U.S. Navy could have at least anticipated the attack.”

—DPublishers Weekly (starred review)
"Pearl Harbor holds fewer secrets because of Stinnett’s research."”

—Booklist
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PREFACE

THIS BOOK CONTRADICTS AND QUESTIONS MUCH OF WHAT HAS BEEN

written about the events and decisions that led to Japan's attack on Pearl Harbor on
December 7. 1941. My sole purpose is to uncover the true story of events leading up
to the devastating attack on the naval base and adjoining Army facilities, and to
document that it was not a surprise to President Franklin Delano Roosevelt and many

of his top military and policy advisors.

This is an unvarnished account of how the United States got into a bloody
conflict that threatened the free world. It is not an attempt to question the wisdom of

America's entry into the war.

As a veteran of the Pacific War, I felt a sense of outrage as [ uncovered secrets
that had been hidden from Americans for more than fifty years. But I understood the
agonizing dilemma faced by President Roosevelt. He was forced to find circuitous
means to persuade an isolationist America to join in a fight for freedom. He knew this

would cost lives. How many, he could not have known.

The country was disillusioned by the failure of America's idealistic commitment
to make “the world safe for democracy’ in World War I. Many Americans had chosen
isolationism to shelter their young from the horrors of another war, and believed that
Roosevelt would "not send their sons to fight in foreign wars.” Roosevelt believed that
his countrymen would rally only to oppose an overt act of war on the United States.
The decision he made, in concert with his advisors, was to provoke Japan through a

series of actions into an overt act: the Pearl Harbor attack.

As I have discovered in the course of seventeen years of archival research and
personal interviews with US Navy cryptographers, the answer to Roosevelt's dilemma
is found in an extraordinary number of documents whose release I have been able to

obtain through Freedom of Information

Xl
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Act requests. These papers outline deliberate steps that were planned and
implemented to elicit the overt action that catapulted America into the war, and
devastated military forces at Pearl Harbor and other Pacific bases. Eight steps were
suggested to provoke a Japanese attack. Shortly after reviewing these, Roosevelt put
them into effect. After the eighth provocation had been taken. Japan responded. On
November 27 and 28, 1941, US military commanders were given this order: “The
United States desires that Japan commit the first overt act.” According to Secretary of

War Henry L. Stimson, the order came directly from President Roosevelt.

There has been a controversy over American foreknowledge of the events of
December 7, 1941. We have long known that Japanese diplomatic cables—which
pointed toward hostilities—were intercepted and decoded. What 1 have discovered,
however, is that we knew much more. Not only did we undertake provocative steps,

we intercepted and decoded military cables. We knew the attack was coming.

By provoking the attack. Roosevelt accepted the terrible truth that America’s
military forces—including the Pacific Fleet and the civilian population in the
Pacific—would sit squarely in harm’s way, exposed to enormous risks. The
commanders in Hawaii, Admiral Husband Kimmel and Lieutenant General Waller
Short, were deprived of intelligence that might have made them more alert to the risks
entailed in Roosevelt's policy, but they obeyed his direct order *The United States
desires that Japan commit the first overt act." More than 200,000 documents and
interviews have led me lo these conclusions. I am indebted to the Freedom of
Information Act and its author, the late Congressman John Moss (D., CA) for making

it possible for me to tell this story.

Painful though they surely were, Roosevelt's decisions were strategically
calculated to lead to the ultimate victory of allied forces over the Axis nations that
threatened the liberties we all cherish. The advisors who formulated the provocative
policies were staunch in their support though aware of the risks. I am mindful that it is
easier to take a critical view of this policy a hall century removed than to understand
fully what went on in Roosevelt's mind in the year prior to Pearl Harbor. Yet history
asks questions arid makes judgments. Historians must grapple with what is knowable,
and as documented as human action and thought can be. It is in this spirit that I offer

the fruits of my research.

xiv



CHAPTER 1

THE BIGGEST STORY OF
MY LIFE

WASHINGTON

DECEMBER 8, 1941

ABOUT 1:00 A.m.

EDWARD R. MURROW COULDN'T SLEEP. HIS WIFE, JANET. WATCHED

him pace in their hotel room. He was chain-smoking. Murrow, the CBS radio
newsman, had just returned from a midnight meeting with President Franklin D.
Roosevelt in the While House. Japan's carrier and submarine raid on Pearl Harbor had
taken place twelve hours earlier, and the full impact of the military disaster was

slowly sinking in for FDR and the American people.'

During their twenty-five-minute discussion in the second-floor Oval Study, the
President provided Murrow with something—we will never know exactly what—that
any reporter would kill for. That night he told his wife, "It's the biggest story of my
life, but I don't know if it's my duty to tell it or forget it." Long after the war ended,
Murrow was asked about this meeting by author-journalist John Gunther. After a long
pause, Murrow replied; ‘That story would send Casey Murrow through college, and if

you think I’'m going to give it to you, you're out of your mind."
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Earlier in the week, the Murrow’s had accepted a personal dinner invitation from
the Roosevelts. First Lady Eleanor Roosevelt personally prepared, cooked, and
served supper for two dozen guests. Her specialty was scrambled eggs and sausage,
cooked in an electric chafing dish that sat atop a long buffet table in the family dining
room. It was the invariable menu. Since the regular White House staff was given

Sunday off, she did the cooking while the President mixed the cocktails.®

After he heard the first news flashes about the Pearl Harbor raid, Murrow
checked with the White House to see if the supper was still on. Told that it was, he and
Janet then walked across Lafayette Park, crossed Pennsylvania Avenue, and entered
the mansion through the North Portico. After the Murrow’s were ushered into the
dining room, Mrs. Roosevelt explained that the President was meeting with

congressional leaders and military officers and could not join them for supper.

Outside on Pennsylvania Avenue a small crowd had gathered. The White House
was ablaze with light. No one inside the mansion thought to pull the window shades
or institute blackouts on the first day of war—that would came later. An Associated
Press photographer took a picture from Lafayette Park. It shows a window in the
family dining room with a silhouette of a tall figure—probably the First

Lady—ypresiding over her scrambled eggs.

During the dinner. White House chief usher Howell Crim asked Murrow to
remain for an informal meeting with FDR. After Janet Murrow returned to their hotel,
her husband went to the second floor and waited outside Roosevelt s Oval Study—not
to be confused with the Oval Office— in the West Wing of the White House. Soon
Murrow was joined by William "Wild Bill" Donovan, Roosevelt's Coordinator of
information and later founder of the wartime Office of Strategic Services, the
forerunner of the CIA.

Donovan had not been present at dinner but had been summoned by the
President from New York, where he had been watching a football game at the Polo
Grounds. Football fans heard an unusual announcement over the public address
system about 2:30 that afternoon: "Colonel William Donovan, come to the box office
at once. There is an important phone message." The message was from James
Roosevelt, the President's son and a member of Donovan's staff; he told Donovan

about the Japanese attack.’



Throughout the evening of December 7, Roosevelt conferred with congressional
and military leaders. He decided his first wartime move would come the next
morning. December 8, when he would ask Congress to declare that a state of war
existed between Japan and the United States. He prepared a rough draft of what later
became his "Day of Infamy" speech. Then he invited Murrow and Donovan into the
study for a midnight snack of sandwiches and cold beer. Chief Usher Crim noted that
the three men spent twenty-five minutes together in the study before Roosevelt retired
to his adjoining bedroom. Crim’s arrival and departure notations in the Usher Book

comprise the only official record; there were no official minutes of the meeting.

Only Donovan has hinted at what went on: the conversation was mostly about
public reaction to the attack. He sensed that this was FDR’s overriding concern. In
1953, while he served as ambassador to Thailand, Donovan disclosed the details of
the meeting to his executive assistant, William J. vanden Heuvel, who summarized
the recollections in his diary. The President asked Murrow and Donovan whether they
thought the attack was a clear case of a first Japanese move that would unite
Americans behind a declaration of war against the Axis powers. Both guests thought
it would indeed have that effect.

Donovan believed that Roosevelt welcomed the attack and that it was less of a
surprise to him than it was to others in the White House. FDR claimed he sent an
advance warning to Pearl Harbor that an attack by Japan was imminent. "They caught
our ships like lame ducks! Lame ducks. Bill. We told them, at Pearl Harbor and

everywhere else, to have the lookouts manned But they still took us by surprise.”*

Still not convinced that Americas isolationist sentiments would change after this
attack, FDR then read to the two men from a message he had received from a British
Foreign Office official, T. North Whitehead: "The dictator powers have presented us
with a united America." Roosevelt wondered whether Whitehead’s assessment was
correct. Again he asked, would America now support a declaration of war? Donovan

and Murrow again replied in the affirmative.

Whitehead was an influential member of the Foreign Office and an advisor to
Prime Minister Winston Churchill on matters affecting America’s aid to the British in

1940 and 1941. He evaluated American public opinion
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and "read" FDR’s mind for the Prime Minister. In written comments to Churchill in
the fall of 1940, Whitehead had warned of continued United States isolationism, but
predicted it could be overcome; "America is not in the bag. However, the President is

engaged in carefully calculated steps to give us full assistance."’

Several years later Murrow made a brief, circumspect broadcast that in part
addressed the question of what the President had known before the Japanese hit Pearl
Harbor. According to Morrow’s biographer Ann Sperber, "The broadcast itself was a
response to an article by John Chamber- lain in LIFE magazine charging Roosevelt
with foreknowledge of the attack. Murrow did not believe it and said so on the air,

making it clear that he had only his instinct to go on."’

In the end, Murrow’s big story remained unwritten and unbroadcast. Sperber
believed that the meeting concerned damage reports. Whatever it was, it weighed
heavily on Murrow’s mind. “But he couldn't forget it either, blaming himself at times
thereafter for not going with the story, never determining to his satisfaction where his
duties lay that night or what had been in the subtle mind of FDR," Sperber wrote.
Murrow took the story to his grave. He died April 7, 1965, two days past his
fifty-seventh birthday.”

Had FDR revealed something that night about his foreknowledge? Damage
reports emerged immediately in local Hawaii papers, though the full details of the
American losses were not released to the nation's news media until December 16,
1941, by Secretary of the Navy Frank Knox. He confirmed the initial report by the
Honolulu Star-Bulletin. Secretary Knox named the seven warships sunk: USS
Arizona, USS Utah, USS Oklahoma, USS Cassin, USS Downes. USS Shaw, and USS
Oglala. He said the human toll on Oahu was 2897 Americans killed, 879 wounded,
and 26 missing. There was severe damage to the Army's aircraft and hangars on Oahu.
Knox said the Japanese planes came from aircraft carriers and had the "most
tremendously detailed" information of the naval layout at Pearl Harbor. He listed
Japan's losses at forty-one planes shot down, and disclosed the American capture of a
Japanese two man midget submarine that had gone aground on an Oahu beach and the

sinking of four other Japanese midget subs.®

Once the nation’s news media reported the attack details on December 16, 1941,

there was no "big story" left to report on the main events at Pearl
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Harbor. None—except speculation about Roosevelt's foreknowledge. Certain words
and phrases cited by Donovan hinted at what he and Murrow were told by FDR.
William vanden Heuvel's diary, according to author Anthony Cave Brown, is
tantalizing: "The President's surprise was not as great as that of other men around him.
Nor was the attack unwelcome. It had ended the past months of uncertainty caused by

FDR's decision that Japan must be seen to make the first overt move."’

Any conclusion about the Murrow meeting must remain speculative, because the
participants refused to tell the story. However, there are many more direct pieces of
evidence from the days and weeks leading up to December 7 that put the question of
FDR's foreknowledge definitively to rest. Previous accounts have claimed that the
United States had not cracked Japanese military codes prior to the attack. We now
know this is wrong. Previous accounts have insisted that the Japanese fleet

maintained strict radio silence. This, too, is wrong. The truth is clean FDR knew.

The real question is even more intriguing; did he deliberately provoke the attack?
Were there earlier covert moves by the United States? According to a secret strategy
memo, dated October 7, 1940, and adopted by the President, there were.



CHAPTER 2

FDR’S BACK DOOR
TO WAR

NAVY HEADQUARTERS
WASHINGTON
OCTOBER 7, 1940

AS WARFARE RAGED IN EUROPE AND PORTIONS OF AFRICA AND

Japan, Germany and Italy threatened countries in three continents, a memorandum
circulated in Washington. Originating in the Office of Naval Intelligence and
addressed to two of FDR's most trusted advisors, it suggested a shocking new
American foreign policy. It called for provoking Japan into an oven act of war against
the United States. It was written by Lieutenant Commander Arthur H. McCollum,
head of the Far East desk of the Office of Naval Intelligence (ONI) (sec Appendix
A).!

McCollum had a unique background for formulating American tactics and
strategy against Japan. Born to Baptist missionary parents in Nagasaki in 1898,
McCollum spent his youth in various Japanese cities. He understood the Japanese
culture, and spoke the language before learning English. After the death of his father
in Japan, the McCollum family returned to Alabama. At eighteen McCollum was
appointed to the Naval Academy. After graduation, the twenty-two-year-old ensign

was posted to
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the US embassy in Tokyo as a naval attaché and look a refresher course in Japanese
there. McCollum was no sluffed shirt. He enjoyed parties and the favorite drink of
Japan's naval community—Johnny Walker Black Label Scotch. He was never at a
loss for words. After telling a long story, he'd pause with his favorite phrases, "In

other words,” then go into an even longer version.

In 1923, as the fads of the Roaring Twenties swept the world, members of the
Japanese imperial household were anxious to learn the Charleston. McCollum knew
the latest dance routines, so the embassy assigned him to instruct Crown Prince
Hirohito, the future Emperor, in slapping his knees to those jazz-age rhythms. Later
that year, McCollum helped coordinate the US Navy relief operations following the
great Tokyo earthquake. Though the American assistance was well intentioned,
McCollum learned that the proud, self-sufficient Japanese resented the ijin (Foreign)
relief operations. Nearly twenty years later, McCollum took it upon himself to
multiply this resentment a hundredfold by pushing for American interference in

Japan’s brutal policies of domination in the Pacific?

Lieutenant Commander McCollum's five-page memorandum of October 1940
(hereafter referred to as the eight-action memo) pull forward a startling plan—a plan
intended to engineer a situation that would mobilize a reluctant America into joining
Britain's struggle against the German armed forces then overrunning Europe. Its eight
actions called for virtually inciting a Japanese attack on American ground, air, and
naval forces in Hawaii, as well as on British and Dutch colonial outposts in the Pacific

region.

Opinion polls in the summer of 1940 indicated that a majority of Americans did
not want the country involved in Europe's wars. Yet FDR's military and Stale
Department leaders agreed that a victorious Nazi Germany would threaten the
national security of the United States. They fell that Americans needed a call to

action.

McCollum would be an essential part of this plan. His code name was F-2.> He
oversaw the routing of communications intelligence to FDR from early 1940 to
December 7, 1941, and provided the President with intelligence reports on Japanese
military and diplomatic strategy. Every intercepted and decoded Japanese military
and diplomatic report destined for the White House went through the Far East Asia
section of ONI, which he
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oversaw. The section served as a clearinghouse for all categories of intelligence

reports, not only on Japan but on all the other nations of eastern Asia.

Each report prepared by McCollum for the President was based on radio
intercepts gathered and decoded by a worldwide network of American military
cryptographers and radio intercept operators. McCollum’s office was an element of
Station US. a secret American cryptographic center located at the main naval
headquarters at 18th Street and Constitution Avenue N.W.. about four blocks from the
White House.

Few people in America’s government or military knew as much about Japan's
activities and intentions as Lieutenant Commander Arthur H. McCollum. He felt that
war with Japan was inevitable and that the United States should provoke it at a time
which suited US interests. In his October 1940 memorandum McCollum advocated

eight actions that he predicted would lead to a Japanese attack on the United States:

A. Make an arrangement with Britain for the use of British bases in the

Pacific, particularly Singapore.

B. Make an arrangement with Holland for the use of base facilities and

acquisition of supplies in the Dutch East Indies [now Indonesia].
Give all possible aid to the Chinese government of Chiang Kai-shek.
Send a division of long-range heavy cruisers to the Orient, Philippines, or
Singapore.

E. Send two divisions of submarines to the Orient.

F. Keep the main strength of the US Fleet, now in the Pacific, in the vicinity

of the Hawaiian Islands.

G. Insist that the Dutch refuse to grant Japanese demands for undue economic

concessions, particularly oil.

H. Completely embargo all trade with Japan, in collaboration with a similar
embargo imposed by the British Empire.*

McCollum's eight-action memo was dated October 7, 1940, and was addressed and forwarded
to two of Roosevelt's most trusted military advisors: Navy captains Waller S. Anderson and Dudley
W. Knox. Anderson was the Director of the Office of Naval Intelligence and had direct White House
access to FDR. Knox was a naval strategist and chief of the ONI library. He served as mentor to

Admiral Emest J. King, another of the President's
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military advisors in 1940-41 and commander of the Navy's Atlantic Squadron (later
the Atlantic Fleet). Knox agreed with McCollum’s eight actions and immediately
forwarded the memorandum to Anderson with this restrained comment: ‘I concur in
your courses of action. We must be ready on both sides and probably strong enough to
care for both.” He recognized Britain's precarious military position: "It is
unquestionably to our general interest that Britain be not licked. Just now she has a
stalemate and probably can’t do better.” Knox did not discuss maneuvering Japan into
committing an overt act of war, though he cautioned: "We should not precipitate

anything in the Orient.

The paper trail of the McCollum memo ends with the Knox endorsement.
Although the proposal was addressed to Anderson, no specific record has been found
by the author indicating whether he or Roosevelt actually ever saw it? However, a
series of secret presidential routing logs plus collateral intelligence information in
Navy files offer conclusive evidence that they did see it.* Beginning the very next day,

with FDR's involvement, McCollum's proposals were systematically put into effect.

Throughout 1941, it seems, provoking Japan into an oven act of war was the
principal policy that guided FDR's actions toward Japan. Army and Navy directives
containing the "oven act” phrase were sent to Pacific commanders. Roosevelt’s
cabinet members, most notably Secretary of War Henry Stimson, are on record
favoring the policy, according to Stimson's diary.” Stimson's diary entries of 1941
place him with nine other Americans who knew or were associated with this policy of

provocation during 1941."

Roosevelt's “fingerprints” can be found on each of McCollum's proposals. One
of the most shocking was Action D, the deliberate deployment of American warships
within or adjacent to the territorial waters of Japan.'' During secret White House
meetings, Roosevelt personally took charge of Action D. He called the provocations
“pop-up" cruises." I just want them to keep popping up here and there and keep the
Japs guessing. I don’t mind losing one or two cruisers, but do not take a chance on

nl2

losing five or six."~ Admiral Husband Kimmel, the Pacific Fleet commander,

objected to the pop-up cruises, saying: ‘It is ill-advised and will result in war if we

. 13
make this move.”

One of the catalysts for Action D may have been British Prime Minister
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Winston Churchill. On October 4, 1940, he requested that a squadron of US cruisers
be sent to Singapore. McCollum included the request as a suggestion in his

. . . . . 14
eight-action memo. As it turned out, however, no cruisers were sent to Singapore.

From March through July 1941, White House records show that FDR ignored
international law and dispatched naval task groups into Japanese waters on three such
pop-up cruises.”” One of the most provocative was a sortie into the Bungo Strait
southeast of Honshu, the principal access to Japan's Inland Sea.'® The strait separates
the home islands of Kyushu and Shikoku, and was a favored operational area for the

warships of the Imperial Japanese Navy in 1941.

Japan's naval ministry registered a protest with Ambassador Joseph Grew in
Tokyo: “On the night of July 31, 1941, Japanese fleet units at anchor in Sukumo Bay
(in the Bungo Strait, off the island of Shikoku) picked up the sound of propellers
approaching Bungo Channel from the eastward. Duty destroyers of the Japanese navy
investigated and sighted two darkened cruisers that disappeared in a southerly
direction behind a smoke screen when they were challenged." The protest concluded:

. . : 17
"Japanese naval officers believe the vessels were United States cruisers.”

Action D was very risky and could have resulted in a loss of American lives
approaching that of Pearl Harbor. In the end, however, no shots were fired during the
cruises. It would take not just one, but all eight of McCollum's proposals to

accomplish that.

Two major decisions involving Japan and the Far East took place on October §,
1940—the day after McCollum wrote his memo- First, the State Department told
Americans to evacuate Far East countries as quickly as possible.” Then President
Roosevelt brought about Action F—keep the United States Fleet based in Hawaiian
waters—during an extended Oval Office luncheon with the fleet's commander,
Admiral James O. Richardson, and former Chief of Naval Operations Admiral
William D. Leahy, a favored presidential confidant.""* When Richardson heard the
proposal, he exploded: ‘Mr. President, senior officers of the Navy do not have the trust
and confidence In the civilian leadership of this country that is essential for the

successful prosecution of a war in the Pacific."”

Richardson did not approve of
Roosevelt’s plan to place the fleet in harm's way. He strongly disagreed with two of

FDR’s lunchtime points: 1. FDR’s willingness to sacrifice

10
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a ship of the Navy in order to provoke what he called a Japanese "mistake," and 2.
Richardson quoted the President as saying: "Sooner or later the Japanese would
commit an overt act against the United States and the nation would be willing to enter
the war.”'

After Richardson and Leahy left the Oval Office luncheon, dishes were cleared
and reporters were ushered in for a 4:00 P.M. press conference. The ever-affable FDR

used humor to lead reporters astray:

Q: Can you tell us anything, Mr. President, about your conference this afternoon
with Admiral Richardson and Admiral Leahy?

THE PRESIDENT: Oh, we were just studying maps,

Q: Did the conference touch upon frontiers in the Far East?
THE PRESIDENT: We studied maps.

Q: Pacific maps?

THE PRESIDENT: We studied maps and are learning geography.
Q: Were they mostly in the Eastern Hemisphere?

THE PRESIDENT: What?

Q: We thought mostly maps of the Eastern Hemisphere.

THE PRESIDENT: All three hemispheres.

Q: 0.K. (Laughler)”

For Richardson, the safety of his men and warships was paramount and the policy
was no laughing matter. Richardson stood up to Roosevelt. Doing so ended his naval
career. On October 26, 1940, a White House leak to the Washington-based Kiplinger

Newsletter predicted that Richardson would be removed as commander-in-chief.”

The admiral was relieved of his command on February 1, 1941, during a major
restructuring of the Navy. The sea command held by Richardson— Commander in
Chief, United States Fleet (CINCUS)—was modified. In his restructuring, Roosevelt
approved a two-ocean Navy and created the Atlantic Fleet and the Pacific Fleet.
Skipping over more senior naval officers the President picked Rear Admiral Husband
Kimmel to head the Pacific Fleet and promoted him to four-star rank. The job had
been offered to Rear Admiral Chester Nimitz in the fall of 1940, but Nimitz "begged

off" because he lacked seniority.**

Roosevelt had carefully selected and placed naval officers in key fleet command

positions who would not obstruct his provocation policies. One
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of them was Admiral Harold Stark, his chief of naval operations since August 1939,
an all too faithful servant of the President. Outgoing Admiral Richardson criticized
Stark as "professionally negligent" for kowtowing to FDR and agreeing to place the
fleet in jeopardy. He said Stark had been derelict and had suffered a major
professional lapse due to "taking orders from above." In Richardson's opinion, Stark
could have protested the orders to keep the fleet at Pearl Harbor or at least questioned
the policy in proper but forceful fashion. After the success of the December 7 attack,
Richardson claimed FDR turned his back on Stark: "The President said that he did not
give a damn what happened to Stark so long as he was gotten out of Washington as

: 25
soon as practical.”

There is no evidence that Admiral Kimmel knew of the action plans advocated
by McCollum, because Admiral Richardson never told him of them. "The Roosevelt
strategy of maneuvering the Japanese into striking the first blow at America was
unknown to us," Kimmel wrote in his book, Admiral Kimmel's Story, published in
1954. His first suspicions that someone in high office in Washington had consciously
pursued a policy that led straight to Pearl Harbor “did not occur to him until after
December 7, 1941." Kimmel said he accepted the command of the Pacific Fleet "in
the firm belief that the Navy Department would supply me promptly with all pertinent
information available and particularly with all information that indicated an attack on
the fleet at Pearl Harbor."**

Not until Japan surrendered in 1945 did Richardson break his four year vow of
silence and turn on Stark. He said he shared Kimmel's belief and he denounced Stark's
failure in harsh terms: "I consider Betty' Stark, in failing to ensure that Kimmel was
furnished all the information available from the breaking of Japanese dispatches, to
have been to a marked degree professionally negligent in carrying out his duties as

"7 Richardson continued: "This offense compounded,

Chief of Naval Operations.
since in writing Stark had assured the Commander-in-Chief of the United States Fleet
twice that the Commander-in-Chief was being kept advised on all matters within his
own knowledge.” Richardson cited Stark's promise: "You may rest assured that just as

soon as I get anything of definite interest, I shall fire it along.”**

Kimmel received his promotion to admiral and was designated CINC-PAC

(Commander in Chief, Pacific Fleet). Then, depending upon their missions,
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forces were either assigned to the Atlantic Fleet, whose commander was Admiral
Ernest J. King as CINCLANT, to the Pacific Fleet with Kimmel as CINCPAC, or to
the small Asiatic Fleet, commanded by Admiral Thomas Hart in Manila as CINCAF.

Richardson's removal on February 1, 1941, strengthened the position of
McCollum. Only five months earlier, in mid-September 1940, Germany and her Axis
partner, Italy, had signed a mutual-assistance alliance with Japan. The Tripartite Pact
committed the three partners to assist each other in the event of an attack on any one of
them. McCollum saw the alliance as a golden opportunity. If Japan could be provoked
into committing an overt act of war against the United States, then the Pact’s mutual
assistance provisions would kick in. It was a back-door approach: Germany and Italy
would come to Japan’s aid and thus directly involve the United States in the European

29
war.

McCollum predicted a domino effect if Germany overwhelmed Britain. He was
certain that Canada and the British territories in Central and South America and in the
Caribbean would succumb to some degree of Nazi control. The strategic danger to the
United States was from Germany, not Japan. In his eight-action memorandum,

McCollum cited these six military factors in promoting his proposals:

1. All of continental Europe was under the military control of the

German-Italian Axis.

2. Only the British Empire actively opposed the growing world dominance of

the Axis powers.

3. Axis propaganda successfully promoted American indifference to the

European war.

4. United States security in the Western Hemisphere was threatened by the Axis

fomenting revolution In Central and South American countries.

5. Upon the defeat of England, the United States could expect an immediate

attack from Germany.

6. Warships of the Royal Navy would fall under the control of the Axis when the

British were defeated.™

His dire predictions were undoubtedly right. The number one problem for the

United States, according to McCollum, was mobilizing public support

13
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for a declaration of war against the Axis powers. He saw little chance that Congress
would send American troops to Europe. Over the objections of the majority of the
populace, who still felt that European alarmists were creating much ado about
nothing, he called for the Administration to create what he called "more ado": "It is
not believed," wrote McCollum, "that in the present state of political opinion the
United States government is capable of declaring war against Japan without more

ado.™

His solution to the political stalemate: use the eight proposed actions to provoke
Japan into committing an overt act of war against the United States, thus triggering
military responses from the two other signers of the Tripartite Pact. An allusion to
McCollum’s eight actions was recorded by Assistant Secretary of State Breckenridge
Long. He wrote that on October 7, 1940, he learned of a series of steps involving the
US Navy and that one included concentrating the fleet at Honolulu to be ready for any
eventuality. "It looks to me as if little by little we will face a situation which will bring

us into conflict with Japan," Long wrote in his diary.*

A link to some of McCollum's provocations surfaced earlier in 1940 but did not
produce a written directive. McCollum's proposal, triggered by the Tripartite Pact, is
the only verifiable evidence of the American policy. The links started in May 1940,
when FDR met with Secretary of State Cordell Hull and Secretary of the Navy Frank
Knox and discussed permanently basing the United States Fleet in Hawaii. Their
suggestion raised the immediate ire of Richardson, who began a five-month argument
to return the fleet to the West Coast.”” He lost the battle on October 8, a day after

McCollum wrote his memorandum.

Earlier in 1940, an influential citizens’ group urged withholding war materials
from Japan as punishment for what they perceived as her aggression in China. But
their embargo advocacy called for stopping the Japan-China conflict—not enticing an

overt act of war?

Arthur McCollum continued his close ties to Japan. In 1928, the Navy sent him back
to Tokyo, this time as a language instructor. The thirty-year-old McCollum taught a
Japanese language class that included three other officers of about the same age. All

four were destined to provide FDR with
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secret intelligence on Japanese war preparations during the 1940-41 prelude to Pearl

Harbor. They were also to become lifelong friends."

Eventually these four men became leading naval intelligence officers in World
War II: Joseph J. Rochefort, cofounder of the Navy’s communication intelligence
section; Edwin Layton, the intelligence officer for the Pacific Fleet, 1940-45;
Lieutenant Commander Ethelbert Watts, as assistant to McCollum in 1940-41; and
McCollum himself, head of the Far East desk of the Office of Naval Intelligence.
Every pre-Pearl Harbor intercept of Japanese radio communications would pass
through their hands. Rochefort became commander of Station HYPO, the combat
intelligence center for the Pacific Fleet, one of America's most important
cryptographic centers, at the Pear] Harbor Naval Yard. (HYPO, a part of the Navy's
phonetic alphabet, stood for the letter H—Hawaii.) McCollum and Watts supervised
the communications intelligence pipeline to Roosevelt. Layton directed information
to the Pacific Fleet commanders: Richardson in 1940, Kimmel in 1941, and Nimitz in
1942-45.

Naval intelligence established a secret delivery system for Japanese military and
diplomatic intelligence for Roosevelt in the winter of 1940. McCollum was the
distribution officer on 151 routing slips found by the author in the National Archives.
These Navy routing slips provide a trail to a massive collection of Army and Navy
documents that resulted from monitoring Japanese communications and that were
available to Roosevelt and key members of his Administration between February
1940 and December 7, 1941. Sometimes when he had a hot item McCollum
personally delivered the report to FDR;* otherwise the President's naval aide made
the delivery. This twenty-two-month monitoring program allowed the American
government to anticipate and then study Japan's reactions to the provocations

advocated by McCollum.

McCollum dispatched his first intelligence reports to the White House on February
23, 1940. There were two, both in a diplomatic code. McCollum marked both:
"Original to Aide to President" and sent them to FDR. At the time, the President and
seven members of his staff, including naval aide Captain Daniel J. Callaghan, had

reached the midpoint of an eighteen-day
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fishing cruise aboard the cruiser USS Tuscaloosa in Pacific waters off the west coast
of Panama. Naval seaplanes landed alongside the warship and delivered the

documents to Callaghan.

In the first message, Roosevelt learned that Japan was applying diplomatic
pressure to obtain oil export rights in Portuguese Timor, a small island east of the
Dutch East Indies. The other dealt with Japanese Army plans to send 'advisors' to
Bolivia, which had vast resources of tin needed by Japan's military-industrial
complex. McCollum noted that both reports were based on “highly reliable

information," a standard oblique reference to intercepted communications.

Extraordinary secrecy surrounded the delivery system. The Japanese intercepts
destined for FDR were placed in special folders. Captain Callaghan as naval aide was
responsible for the safety of the documents. Roosevelt read the original copy but did
not retain any of the intercepts. Each original was eventually returned to the folder and
stored in McCollum's safe at Station US in Washington. There they remained,
available for White House review. Shortly after December 7, when Congressional
critics began to question the Administration’s failure to prevent the Hawaii attack, all
records involving the Japanese radio intercept program—including the White House
route logs and their secret contents—were locked away in vaults controlled by Navy

. . . 37
communications officials.

During the spring and summer of 1940 the diplomatic intercepts provided
valuable insights into Japanese foreign policy. Through the intercepts, FDR could
follow Japan's continued pressure on Portugal to supply her Empire with raw
materials from Timor, its colony in the East Indies. After Nazi armies conquered
France in May 1940, Japan expanded her quest for raw materials and pushed for

access to the French colony of Indochina, today’s Vietnam.

That August, Hitler's Luftwaffe began all-out bombing of England, targeting
airfields, aircraft factories, and radar stations. A massive attack by 2500 planes of the
Luftwaffe hit London on Adler Tag (Eagle Day). August 16. The next day the Fuhrer
declared a total blockade of the British Isles. By August 31, Germany claimed victory
in the Battle of Britain and Hitler began to assemble barges and ships for Operation

Sea Lion, the invasion of Britain, which would never lake place.
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Roosevelt’s third-term nomination heartened internationalist-minded Democrats
at the party’s convention in Chicago. He was forced to campaign against a Republican
antiwar platform led by its nominee, Wendell Willkie. A Gallup Poll taken in early
September showed that 88 percent of Americans agreed with the views of an
isolationist bloc, led by aviation hero Charles Lindbergh and industrialist Henry Ford,
that advocated staying away from Europe's wars. Yet Roosevelt outmaneuvered the
isolationists and persuaded Congress to pass (by one vote) the Draft Act, then sent
fifty World War I destroyers to England as part of what would become the
Lend-Lease program of aid to the allied powers, including the Soviet Union, During
the campaign, he promised American mothers and fathers: "Your boys are not going
to be sent into any foreign wars." "But according to FDR biographer Robert
Sherwood, the President assured members of his staff during a campaign swing
through New England, "Of course, well fight if we are attacked. If somebody attacks
us, then it isn't a foreign war, is it?" McCollum's eight-action memo would soon make

the President's words a reality.”

McCollum's concept for his memo’s Action F—keeping the fleet in Hawaiian
waters—had its beginning in April 1940, when major portions of the US fleet moved
from their West Coast bases and joined warships of the Hawaiian Detachment (later
named the Pacific Fleett for an annual training exercise. Once the exercise was
completed, Admiral Richardson planned to send the fleet (less the Hawaiian
Detachment) back to the West Coast.*

The fleet never returned. Washington slowly put the brakes on Richardson’s plan
and issued specious explanations for keeping the fleet in Hawaii. Undersecretary of
Slate Sumner Welles answered Richardson's objections by predicting a ‘diplomatic
disaster' if the fleet returned to the Pacific Coast. In late April, Welles' rationale was
touched on in a message sent to Richardson by Admiral Stark, who offered his own
version of the potential "diplomatic disaster."*' He told Richardson the fleet might
receive instructions to remain in Hawaiian waters 'in view of the possibility of Italy

becoming an active belligerent and maybe you won’t."*

There was no adequate explanation for connecting Italian threats to the United

States and basing the fleet in Hawaii. The "might" and "maybe"
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in the dispatches made no sense to Richardson. He requested a meeting directly with
Roosevelt. The admiral disagreed with what he sensed was the “Europe First' priority
in the White House."

As commander of America's major sea command, Richardson's first duty was to
carry out the orders of Roosevelt and his military chiefs. He reluctantly obeyed the
orders but stated his objections for the record. He would not sacrifice his ships and
men to what he saw as a flawed policy. Richardson listed five objections to basing the

fleet in Hawaii:
1. Lack of fundamental training facilities.
2. Lack of large-scale ammunition and fuel supplies.
3. Lack of support craft such as tugs and repair ships.
4. Morale problems of men kept away from their families.
5. Lack of overhaul facilities such as dry docking and machine shops.**

He objected in vain. Roosevelt wanted the fleet kept in Hawaiian waters. All
Admiral Richardson received from his protests were more indecisive orders from the
administration. A dispatch of May 4 is an example:

IT LOOKS PROBABLE BUT NOT FINAL THAT THE FLEET WILL REMAIN IN

HAWAIIAN WATERS FOR A SHORT TIME AFTER MAY 9TH.*°
He was particularly displeased on May 7, 1940, when he was ordered to issue a press
release saying that he had asked to keep the fleet in Hawaii. "There was no logical
reason for me to make such a request," Richardson wrote. ’It made a perfect nitwit out

of me."*

The rationale behind the directives became even less convincing on May 15,
when the warships were ordered to "stay in Hawaiian waters for some time."
Richardson thought he had a chance to dissuade Roosevelt and asked for a meeting in
the White House. The two met alone for lunch on July 8, 1940. The meeting was a
disappointment For Richardson. "I came away with the impression that, despite his
spoken word, the President was fully determined to put the United States into the war
if Great Britain could hold out until he was reelected." But the admiral gave no details
of'the While House conversation except to say that FDR had promised not to send the

fleet to the Far East under "any foreseeable conditions.""’

In the "illogical basing of the fleet at Hawaii," Admiral Richardson saw a disaster

in the making. He was responsible for 69,000 sailors under his
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Pacific command, and he grew increasingly alarmed al using them and his 217 ships
in what he saw as a provocative scheme. He asked, "Are we here as a stepping-off
place for belligerent activity?"*" Exasperated, he complained, “The President and Mr.
Hull [Secretary of State Cordell Hull] never seem to take it into consideration that
Japan is led by military men, who evaluate military moves, largely on a military

- 49
basis."

Richardson missed the point. White House strategy was based precisely on
the premise that Japan's militant right wing would push for an act of force against the

United States. Though he got nowhere with Roosevelt. Richardson bided his time.

During midsummer of 1940. with his third-term presidential campaign in mind,
Roosevelt issued a licensing plan—McCollum's proposals had not yet been
adopted—that appeared to curtail Japanese access to petroleum products and scrap
iron in America. The San Francisco Call- Bulletin photographed stevedores in July
and October 1940 at San Francisco docks, loading the Japanese vessels Tatsukawa
Maru and Bordeau Maru with scrap iron, an apparent violation of FDR's embargo.
The ships loaded up with tons of scrap iron, slipped out through the Golden Gale, and
headed for Japan.

The oil-licensing system was also a sham in that it did not apply to the refineries
on America's West Coast. The White House essentially allowed Japan to obtain
petroleum supplies sufficient to maintain its ability to make war. Japan's
consul-general in San Francisco assured his government that the Roosevelt
administration was not enforcing the embargo; oil and gasoline supplies were
available. “All our export permits have been granted. These American agencies from
whom the oil is bought go ahead and make suitable arrangements with the government

authorities at Washington."’

The consul-general wrote that he had purchased "special blend crude oil" and
easily evaded Roosevelt's embargo. He then detailed Japanese purchases of over
44,000 tons (321,000 barrels) from the Associated Oil Company. In concluding his
secret dispatch, the consul-general told Japan's military leaders: "American oil dealers
in the San Francisco area selling to Mitsui and Mitsubishi, of which the principal one
is the Associated Oil Company, feel that there will be no difficulty about continuing

the shipment of ordinary gasoline to Japan."*'
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The consul-general's "no difficulty" dispatch was routed to FDR on September
16, 1940. But no one in the White House enforced the petroleum embargo. Instead,
export of oil to Japan received the green light. Japanese oil and gasoline tankers, with
the tacit approval of the Administration, rushed back and forth across the Pacific
loading up at oil refineries in Pacific Coast ports.” Naval radio direction finders, on
orders from Washington, tracked the tankers to the Japanese naval oil depot al
Tokuyama, located at the southern tip of Honshu on the Suo Nada, an arm of the

Inland Sea.>

Between July 1940 and April 1941, during a period when American petroleum
supplies were supposedly under embargo, nearly 9,200,000 barrels of gasoline were
licensed for export to Japan. Approval for 2,000,000 additional barrels was pending
late in April 1941. From October 1940 to December 1941, the Japanese tankers were
under constant electronic surveillance by the Navy. Washington closely followed the

tankers.

Transportation of the petroleum to Japan was monitored at Station SAIL, control
center for the Navy's West Coast Communications Intelligence Network (WCCI) near
Seattle (SAIL being the Navy phonetic for the letter S—Seattle). Commercial radio
facilities of Mackay Radio & Telegraph, Pan American Airways, RCA
Communications, and Globe Wireless provided information used in the surveillance.
This vast monitoring network extended along the entire West Coast from Imperial
Beach, California, to Dutch Harbor. Alaska.*

The surveillance yielded important intelligence for the White House by tracing
the movement of oil supplies, watching for signs of Japan withdrawing merchant
vessels from the world's oceans, and identifying the radio transmitter characteristics
of each vessel. Code breakers at SAIL and the West Coast network produced Tracking
Chart I based on radio-direction-finding reports that traced the Pacific Ocean routes
taken by eight of Japan's tankers from October 1 to December 6, 1940. From the
tracking chart, US Navy officials learned that most of the petroleum was obtained
from the Associated Oil Company refinery at Port Costa, California, and transported
directly to Tokuyama—the principal oil storage facility for warships. President
Roosevelt obtained his confirmation that Japan was evading his embargo from the

consul-general’s "no difficulty” intercept.

Naval intercept operators easily followed the tankers. During their
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round-trip voyages, they diligently used their radio transmitters and provided their
positions to the Navy’s radio direction finders. Navy intelligence in San Francisco
identified all the tankers by their Japanese radio call signs.”> Two of the tankers, the
Kyokuto Maru and the HIMIS Shiriya. were destined to be included in the Pearl
Harbor strike force. Both vessels sailed into San Francisco Bay throughout 1940 and
1941, picked up their cargoes of American oil, and returned to fill the Tokuyama
storage facility. A year later, the Kyokuto Maru's radio signal was instantly identified
when she became the flagship of the eight-vessel tanker train that refueled the
warships of the Pearl Harbor force. Maru derives from the Japanese word maru,
meaning "circle." Merchant ships, but not warships, have the word added to their
name for good luck as they encounter the perils of the high seas in the belief that
Manis complete the voyage to the distant port and return to a joyous homecoming,
thus completing the circle. In 1940 and 1941, the Kyokuto Maru would make many

. - . 56
circles between ports in America and Japan.

During the last days of September and first week of October 1940, a team of Army
and Navy cryptographers solved the two principal Japanese government code
systems: Purple, the major diplomatic code, and portions of the Kaigun Ango, a series
of twenty-nine separate Japanese naval operational codes used for radio contact with
warships, merchant vessels, naval bases, and personnel in overseas posts, such as
naval attaches. Much has been made of the Purple Code and far too little of the navy
codes. Historians have made misleading references to the Purple Code by confusing
its use and purpose. It was used solely by the Japanese Foreign Ministry for encoding
diplomatic messages dispatched by radio between Tokyo and selected overseas
embassies and consulates. In the United States, Japan issued the Purple system to its
Washington embassy and to its consulate in Manila, but not to the Honolulu consulate.

The Purple Code was never used by the Japanese Navy.”’

Leading historical publications in the United States have confused readers by
publishing erroneous details on Purple. The truth of Pearl Harbor is found in the naval
codes, not in the diplomatic codes. As recently as December 1997, Naval History, a

magazine published by the US Naval Institute,

21



DAY OF DECEIT

printed an article which claimed that the American naval victory at Midway resulted
from breaking the Japanese Purple cipher.” In fact, however, the Midway victory
came about because US Navy cryptographers had broken Japan's Code Book D, one
of the twenty-nine code systems in the Kaigun Ango. Throughout 1941 and most of
1942. United States naval cryptographers and intercept operators referred to Code
Book D as the 5-Num code, because a group of five numbers represented a Japanese
word or phrase. Japan's navy assigned thousands of different five-number
combinations to represent their language for radio transmission purposes. On
November 19, 1941, the five-number group for the carrier Akagi, the flagship of
Japan's Hawaii force, was 28494. It was up to US Navy code breakers to solve the
meaning of 28494 (and subsequent revisions). And they did, starting in October
1940.%

Cryptographers have their own jargon. To them, "recovered value" or "solution"
means that they had solved and knew the meaning of 28494. In addition to the 5-Num
code, American cryptographers solved and could recover values from three other code
systems of the Kaigun Ango: Merchant Marine Code (Code Book S); radio call signs
(Yobidashi Fugo) issued to every category of Japanese warships, units, individual
officers, and vessels of the Japanese Merchant Marine, known as Marus: and Japan’s
naval movement code in which warships. Martis, and individuals reported their
arrivals, departures, and destinations. These four naval systems were used by Japan’s
navy for radio messages in the pre-Pearl Harbor period and throughout the Pacific
War. The US success in solving the diplomatic and naval code systems was a closely
guarded American secret. President Roosevelt regularly received copies of Japanese

messages decoded and translated from both the Purple Code and the Kaigun Ango.

Controversy surrounds the timing of the successful decryption of the four code
systems of the Kaigun Ango by American code breakers. Testimony given to various
Pearl Harbor investigations suggests that the navy codes were not solved until Spring
1942. The author's research proves otherwise. Their solution emerged in the early fall
of 1940, at about the same time Arthur McCollum’s memorandum reached the Oval
Office.

Rear Admiral Royal Ingersoll, Assistant Chief of Naval Operations, revealed
America's ability to detect and predict Japan’s naval war strategy and tactical

operations to the US Navy’s two Pacific commanders, Admirals
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James Richardson and Thomas Hart, in a letter dated October 4, 1940. Ingersoll was
specific: The Navy began tracking the movement and location of Japanese warships in
October 1940. “Every major movement of the Orange (America’s code name for
Japan) Fleet has been predicted, and a continuous flow of information concerning
Orange diplomatic activities has been made available."” He said that Navy
cryptographers had solved the Japanese naval merchant ship code. "The system itself

is 99 percent readable," reported Ingersoll.”'

Japan’s main naval radio system, the ‘Operations Code" (the 5-N'um code)
remained a problem for cryptographers. A full solution was expected by April 1941.
"Recovery was well defined," wrote Ingersoll, "but demanded laborious work
sometimes requiring from only an hour to as many as several days to decode each
message."” To speed up decryption time, the Navy constructed a special decoding
machine. Mystery still surrounds the workings of the machine—as is typical of nearly
sixty years of Navy secrecy concerning all aspects of the 5-Num code. The machine
has not been turned over to the National Archives. Neither have the original Japanese
naval intercepts in the 5-Num code that were obtained by US Navy cryptographers.
The author contends that this extraordinary secrecy, which still remains in effect in
1999, is intended to distance the American government and particularly FDR from

foreknowledge of Japanese attack plans.

But Ingersoll's 1940 letter sheds a light on the 5-Num system that was never
intended by the pre-Pear]l Harbor naval censors. Recovery was effected before April.
By the end of January 1941, President Roosevelt was on the receiving list of the
Kaigun Ango, according to the White House route logs prepared by Arthur
McCollum.

On January 30, Station CAST, the navy’s Philippine cryptographic center on
Corregidor Island in Manila Bay, placed the first Japanese military intelligence in
FDR's hands. It informed Roosevelt of a large build-up of Japanese warships in the

South China Sea of French Indochina. It was an ominous beginning.
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CHAPTER 3

THE WHITE HOUSE
DECIDES

ARTHUR MCCOLLUM WAS NOT CONVINCED THAT THE PUBLIC AND American industry could
be mobilized in sufficient time to fight off the Axis powers. His memorandum of
October 7, 1940, circulated among Navy and White House officials while a torrent of
bad news poured in from the European front. England was nearly on its knees,
threatened with invasion and beginning to feel the impact of the German U-boat
assault on its shipping lifeline. Hitler had instituted the early stages of what would

later be called the Holocaust.

Al home, Wendell Willkie, campaigning for the presidency, stumped across
America and closed to within a few percentage points of Roosevelt 's lead.' In early

September the President took four steps to move the country toward war:

1. He sent America’s first peacetime Draft Act to Congress. The act called for
conscripting men into military service and sought the authority to seize

industrial plants for defense production.
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2. He called up National Guard units to active duty throughout the country.

3. He traded fifty old US Navy destroyers to England in exchange for the lease
of bases in Bermuda, the Bahamas, Jamaica, St. Lucia, Trinidad, and British

Guiana.

4. He signed $5 billion in legislation, creating a two-ocean Navy that would

eventually include 100 aircraft carriers.’

Roosevelt halers had a political field day. A fistfight broke out in the House of
Representatives when Representative Beverly Vincent (D.. KY) tried to trip
Representative Martin L. Sweeney (D., OH) in the House aisle. Sweeney had just
delivered an anti-FDR speech. The Associated Press reported it as hand-to-hand

combat. Each congressman took, and gave, about six blows to the face.’

Willkie condemned the destroyer trade as the most "arbitrary and dictatorial
action ever taken by a president in the history of the United States."* Other
Republicans agreed: "The destroyer trade is an “outright declaration of war," said
Senator Gerald Nye (R., ND). "It’s a belligerent act and will weaken our own
defenses. If Britain should be defeated, why should we supply her with destroyers to
surrender to Germany?" Republicans continued to snap at FDR’s heels during a
defense-plant inspection trip. "A cheap publicity stunt to make political capital out of
national defense." charged Senator Styles Bridges (R., NH). Major newspapers joined
in the fray. "An Act of War," editorialized the St. Louis Post-Dispatch. Carl
Ackerman, dean of the Columbia University School of Journalism, complained to
Willkie: "If the act becomes law the President may classify all education institutions
as defense facilities, and our schools will be regimented as they are in Germany, Italy,

—
and Russia."

Throughout the fall of 1940, Roosevelt worked to unite Americans in their
country's defense. He rallied public support while traveling by train on “inspection
trips" of defense plants throughout the eastern states. Many Americans listening to the
President approved of his policies and agreed with the sentiments of his "no foreign
war" promise. An audience in Great Smoky Mountain National Park in Tennessee
cheered and applauded when FDR asked for American preparedness against “the

greatest attack
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that has ever been launched against freedom of the individual. We must prepare

beforehand, not afterward."®

The president called for constructing new military bases for the defense of our
shores. "Men and women must be taught to create the supplies that we need Liberty
through democracy can, I believe, be preserved in future years if we want to preserve
it." Then FDR took aim at his detractors in America: "We must counter the agents of

dictators within our country."’

Perhaps Roosevelt’s most famous call for preparedness came when he proposed
lending military supplies and goods to England. This was FDR using his finest
communications skills, in a brilliant analogy: when your neighbor's house is on fire,
you lend him your garden hose. He made the analogy during a press conference in
mid-December when he claimed he had no news for the correspondents, then revealed
his ideas and plans for a Lend-Lease program to help the nations fighting the Axis
powers. "Suppose my neighbor's home catches fire, and I have got a length of garden
hose four or five hundred feet away: but, my Heaven, if he can take my garden hose
and connect it up with his hydrant, I may help him put out his fire. Now, what do I do?
I don’t say to him before that operation, Neighbor, my garden hose cost me $15; you
have got to pay me $15 for it.' What is the transaction that goes on? I don't want the
$15—I want my garden hose back after the fire is over." Though there was opposition
from the isolationist bloc. Congress passed the Lend-Lease Act. Military aid went
directly to England and later to Russia when Germany invaded that country. But
isolationists like Styles Bridges continued to brand the President's call for action as

"dragging America to war."’

Audio recordings from the Oval Office in the fall of 1940 indicate Roosevelt’s
concern over the isolationists painting him as a “dictator leading us to war." The
recording was done on an RCA photo-film machine secreted in the basement of the
West Wing of the While House directly below the Oval Office. Roosevelt planned the
recording equipment installation with David Sarnoff, president of RCA, during a
thirty-minute meeting in the Oval Office on June 14, 1940. It was in service from

mid-August to early November.

RCA engineers hid a voice-activated microphone in a lamp on FDR's desk; wires
led to an on/off switch that he controlled from his desk drawer; most of the lime he

forgot to turn it off. The device was installed because
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the President had been angered over news accounts which contained misquotes from
Oval Office press conferences. Arthur Schlesinger, Jr., wrote that FDR's anger
stemmed from a report which quoted him as saying that America’s frontier was on the
Rhine River, implying that Roosevelt planned war with Germany. The President
never uttered the remark, according to Schlesinger’s research; to protect himself from

future misquotes during the third-term election, he installed the recorder.'’

One recording reveals FDR’s animosity toward press baron Roy Howard, who
rankled the President by privately furnishing Willkie with a bitter assessment of
Administration policies in the Far East. FDR learned that Howard, head of the
Scripps-Howard News Alliance, had also denigrated the Administration's foreign
policy in discussions with State Department officials in Southeast Asia. On
September 2, 1940, Howard met with Hugh G. Grant, the American consul-general in
Thailand, and attacked the President personally. The news executive charged that
FDR was “down and out physically and mentally* and was mishandling US relations
with Japan. A loyal Grant wrote a report giving details of Howard’s Far East travels to
the State Department. Roosevelt read Grant’s secret dispatch to the members of his
cabinet during a meeting on September 6. The concealed microphone recorded a
furious President seeking advice on ways to handle Howard; FDR wanted to expose

the publisher for acting as Willkie’s mouthpiece.

One of those present, speaking with a Southern accent—perhaps Secretary of
Slate Cordell Hull—cautioned the President: "No sir. I wouldn't say any more. He
might do an awful lot of harm and undoubtedly he is gathering this material for
Willkie. There is no chance whatsoever of stopping Howard. If we tip him off that we

know about his actions it might operate to his advantage.""

Roosevelt believed that American political opposition to his defense plans was
directed from Germany, Italy, and Japan. He scornfully denounced an editorial in the
New York Times""” which expressed doubts that the Axis powers were involved in
American politics. Pounding on his desk, FDR blasted the Times' comments and
asserted: “It’s perfectly true the Axis powers will give anything in the world to have

me licked on the fifth of November.""

Contrasting the Times' news reporting with its editorials, Roosevelt
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said he was quite amused—the editorial-page writers didn't read the FrontPage news
articles. For proof he cited a news report from Herbert L. Matthews, the Times'bureau
chief in Rome. Matthews reported a meeting between Hitler and Mussolini held at the
Brenner Pass, on the border between Austria and Italy, on October 4. "The Axis,"
wrote Matthews, "is out to defeat President Roosevelt not as a measure of internal
policies of the United States but because of the President's foreign policy.""*
McCollum also supplied confidential evidence which confirmed that the two Axis
leaders "attempted by every method within their power to foster a continuation of

American indifference to the outcome of the struggle in Europe.""

While Roosevelt fumed over the New York Times' editorial policies, a Tokyo
dispatch written by his "old friend’ Roy Howard, brought him "more worry than
anything else in the world."'® United Press and the Scripps-Howard News Alliance
distributed the publisher's story to its worldwide clients. FDR was startled to read of a
Japanese spokesman calling on the United States to "demilitarize its bases at Wake.
Midway, and Pearl Harbor.""” The Oval Office’s secret microphone recorded the
President's anger in a telephone conversation with an unidentified caller: "God! That's
the first time that any damn Jap has told us to get out of Hawaii. And that has me more

worried than any other thing in the world.""®

When the first election returns came in on November 5, they indicated a Willkie
victory. FDR retreated to his Hyde Park study and told his Secret Service chief, Mike
Reilly, to lock the doors and keep everyone out. But the news soon brightened.
Roosevelt won a huge popular vote and his third landslide victory with 429 electoral
votes to Willkie's 51." He emerged from his study and told a cheering throng gathered
in front of his mansion's portico: ‘We are facing difficult days in this country, but I
think you will find me in the future just the same Franklin Roosevelt you have known
a great many years."” His only bad news: Republicans continued to control the
isolationist agenda. But a different agenda was perceived by the British government of
Churchill. Admiral Stark wired Hart in Manila that the British expected the United

States to be at war a few days after the reelection of Roosevelt.”'

As McCollum's eight action proposals began to be applied, relations with Japan
deteriorated. With the New Year, three of his actions were in place: Action E, the

dispatch of twenty-four US Navy submarines to
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Manila; Action F, retaining the US Fleet in Hawaiian waters; and Action G, the Dutch
now refusing to supply Japan with oil and raw materials. Navy intelligence detected
the new Japanese attitude from an intercepted diplomatic radio message sent by
Foreign Minister Yosuke Matsuoka on January 30. 1941; ‘In view of the critical
situation between the two countries we must be prepared for the worst."” Matsuoka
directed his ambassador in Washington to change from what he called publicity and
propaganda work and establish an espionage-gathering network within the United
States. He wanted details on the movement of warships and on military maneuvers,

and figures for aircraft production and shipbuilding throughout the United States.

The heart of the Japanese policy was an economic strategy called the Greater East
Asia Co-Prosperity Sphere—a Japanese economic plan establishing a Yen (¥)
monetary bloc comprising the East Asian countries. The plan diminished the
economic influence of America. Britain, and the Netherlands for the sake of Japanese
economic interests. Its aim was to gain access to the region's vital natural resources,
resources nonexistent within Japan. To appease militant nationalist elements within
the government. a bottom line was added: if and when worse came to worst Japan

would go to war with the United States and her allies.

Foreign Minister Malsuoka's worse-to-worst policy revealed Japan's breaking
point.”" Arthur McCollum knew it would occur whenever the United States tightened
the screws by putting his eight actions into effect. They were soon to come: the pop-up
US cruises into Japanese territorial waters and the final action, H, the total embargo

intended to strangle Japan's economy.

The civilians in Japan's government still wished to do everything possible to
avoid war and to negotiate a diplomatic settlement with the United States. But in an
effort to gain support Japan's moderates accommodated her military authorities and
authorized a fallback position of general war preparations should diplomatic efforts

fail to gain access to Southeast Asia resources.

This fallback position included preparation for an attack on the US Fleet and
military bases in Hawaii. It was right out of McCollum's proposed Action F. Though
some historians have cited talk about Japanese war planning dating to the 1920s, that

was only talk. In 1940, the Japanese
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military bases in the Central Pacific were totally inadequate for warfare. They
consisted of deep-water anchorages without any established military installations.
There was no oil storage for warships, no dry docks or repair facilities.
Air-war-support structures such as hangars, refueling equipment for aircraft, and
landing fields were nonexistent. Military communications at these Central Pacific

bases were primitive.

Japan’s initial planning for the attack began in the fall of 1940, about a month
after McCollum’s action recommendations were sent to the White House. Naval
Minister Admiral Koshiro Oikawa moved quickly. In mid- November he promoted
Vice Admiral Isoroku Yamamoto to full admiral and gave him operational command
of the Imperial Japanese Navy. Yamamoto was called to the red-brick Victorian
building housing the Naval Ministry in downtown Tokyo. The two admirals
informally discussed strategy in opening a war with England and America. They

agreed that a surprise air raid on Pearl Harbor should start Japan's military offensive.**

By mid-January 1941, Yamamoto had secretly sketched out his Pearl Harbor
strategy and appointed key staff members to work out the tactical details. Pearl

Harbor would be the bottom line when worse finally came to worst.

On January 24, while Admiral Yamamoto initiated planning for the attack,
Roosevelt's Secretary of the Navy, Frank Knox, warned of perils to Pearl Harbor.
Knox cited the naval base's military vulnerability to air bombing attack, air
torpedo-plane attack, sabotage, submarine attack, mining of the waters in Hawaii by

Japan, and bombardment by gunfire from Japanese warships."*’

Soon after Yamamoto began circulating his Pearl Harbor strategy among trusted
Japanese naval officers, the general attack plan was leaked to the US embassy in
Tokyo. Max W. Bishop, Third Secretary at the embassy, was standing in a teller line
in the Tokyo branch of the National City Bank of New York converting some yen to
American dollars. A lap on the shoulder caused Bishop to look up; he recognized the
face of the Peruvian minister to Japan, Dr. Ricardo Rivera Schreiber. Motioning
Bishop to a side alcove, Schreiber revealed "fantastic" information: "Japanese
military forces were planning, in the event of trouble with the United States, to

attempt a surprise mass attack on Pearl Harbor using all their military resources."
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Bishop had confidence in Schreiber. He had met the minister on a number of
occasions and had played golf with members of Peru's legation. Bishop writes that the
conversation was completely confidential: "I did not think it odd that he look me to
one side in the bank for a brief talk. It was the duty of all diplomatic officers to seek

and obtain as much information as possible."

Cutting short his noon lunch break, Bishop hurried back to the US embassy and
prepared a confidential dispatch for the State Department. Ambassador Joseph Grew
approved the draft of the message. By 6:00 p.M. Tokyo Time it was encoded in an
unbreakable State Department cryptographic system, taken across the street to the

Japanese Telegraph office, and sent via radiotelegraph to Washington.*

The next morning, on January 27, Secretary of State Cordell Hull read the

message:

MY PERUVIAN COLLEAGUE TOLD A MEMBER OF MY STAFF THAT HE HAD HEARD
FROM MANY SOURCES INCLUDING A JAPANESE SOURCE THAT THE JAPANESE
MILITARY FORCES PLANNED IN THE EVENT OF TROUBLE WITH THE UNITED
STATES, TO ATTEMPT A SURPRISE ATTACK ON PEARL HARBOR USING ALL OF
THEIR MILITARY FACILITIES. HE ADDED THAT ALTHOUGH THE PROJECT SEEMED
FANTASTIC THE FACT THAT HE HAD HEARD IT FROM MANY SOURCES PROMPTED
HIM TO PASS THE INFORMATION. CREW?

Hull distributed copies of the Grew cable to Army intelligence and the Office of
Naval Intelligence (ONI). Arthur McCollum was directed to provide the ONI's
analysis. However, he immediately faced a quandary. By his own analysis as spelled
out in his action memo, an attack on Hawaii was just what was needed. As a youngster
growing up in Japan, he knew of the Japanese propensity for surprise attacks. As a
five-and-one-half-year-old McCollum was living in Japan in February 1904, when
Japanese torpedo boats surprised the Russian Fleet at Port Arthur on the Bay of Korea.
A stunned world learned of the destruction of the Russian warships, which were

ambushed in a surprise attack.

McCollum remembered his history. From his viewpoint, Grew's cable proved
the effectiveness of the goad strategy. But instead of alerting the Pacific Fleet that
Action F—the American fleet's presence at Pearl—was luring Japan into war,

McCollum discounted Grew's information as
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“rumor." On February 1. 1941, he sent this analysis to the newly appointed
commander of the Pacific Fleet, Admiral Husband E. Kimmel: "The Division of
Naval Intelligence places no credence in these rumors. Furthermore. based on known
data regarding the present disposition and employment of Japanese naval and army
forces, no move against Pearl Harbor appears imminent or planned for in the

foreseeable future."™

Two days earlier, thirty Hollywood movie stars, including Lana Turner, George
Raft, and Red Skelton, had been invited to a gala luncheon at the White House to help
celebrate the President’s birthday. They kicked off a series of fund-raising
celebrations held in all forty-eight states to raise money for research on and treatment
of polio—a disease that had crippled FDR for nineteen years. It was on the same day

that he received his first intelligence based on Japanese naval intercepts.”

The President began to track the movement of Japanese ships and command
officers to the coastal waters of French Indochina. Two naval units left the Kure naval

base and joined other Japanese warships at Hainan Island in the Gulf of Tonkin.

By the time the birthday celebrations began in the forty-eight states that evening,
Roosevelt had a clear intelligence picture of an emerging Japanese strategy involving
Southeast Asia. McCollum had proposed that Southeast Asian countries controlled by
Britain and the Netherlands cut off their exports of natural resources to Japan, which

they had done. Now FDR would see the effectiveness of the move.

According to the cryptographer’s summary, Japanese Foreign Minister Yosuke
Matsuoka had orchestrated border clashes between the Southeast Asia nations of
Siam (Thailand) and French Indochina. An armistice-cease fire was proposed, to lake
effect on January 31, 1941. Japan expected to work out the details during a conference
scheduled on the deck of the light cruiser HUMS Natori. in Saigon’s harbor. A final

peace settlement was scheduled to be signed at Tokyo later in the year.

Japanese warships, including the flattops of Carrier Division Two, were
dispatched to the coastal waters off French Indochina (F.I.C.) in a show of force.
Their purpose was to ensure that F.I.C., Siam, and the countries of Southeast Asia

would support the yen financial bloc and provide Japan with access to raw materials.

Meanwhile, Roosevelt was celebrating his birthday in the White House
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with the movie stars at the luncheon, and that evening the First Lady presided at the
fund-raising galas in Washington. Afterward, Mrs. Roosevelt and a retinue of movie
stars made the rounds of the major hotels and danced to such popular songs as
"Frenesi," "I Hear a Rhapsody," and a British favorite that mourned the Nazi bombing

of London. "A Nightingale Sang in Berkeley Square."

Just before midnight, Roosevelt concluded his part in the birthday celebration by
delivering a radio address to the nation in which he thanked "every man, woman, and
child" who had labored to raise funds for polio, the disease that had robbed him of the
use of his leg and thigh muscles. After the microphones were turned off, FDR looked
over his presents. They were an impressive lot. He received a five-foot-high,
300-pound birthday cake from the nation's labor unions, a "Happy Birthday' editorial
from the New York Tones, and a denunciation of his international policies by Adolf
Hiller.

A Gallup Poll released that day measured America's attitude toward war. An
overwhelming 79 percent of the nation opposed Charles Lindbergh's proposal for a
negotiated peace with Hitler, but an even greater majority, 88 percent, continued to

oppose United States entry into the European war.”

FDR's overhaul of the Navy's seagoing command structure took effect on February I,
1941, aboard the USS Pennsylvania at Pearl Harbor. Four new silver stars brightened
the white dress uniform of Admiral Husband E. Kimmel as he spoke into a CBS News
radio microphone, reading the orders authorized by President Franklin D. Roosevelt
that placed him in command of the newly created Pacific Fleet. About eight feel away
and to the admiral's right stood Admiral James O. Richardson, whom Kimmel was
succeeding. Outwardly Richardson bore no enmity toward the President. He realized
the commander-in-chief had the right to dismiss officers who didn’t agree with White
House policies: "The President packed my sea bag for me." Privately, though, he was

shocked and “deeply disappointed in my detachment."'

Although few on the Pennsylvania were aware of the change, a monitor of the

unfolding provocation policy was now inserted into the Pacific
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Fleet command structure. Roosevelt personally promoted the Director of Naval
Intelligence, Captain Walter Anderson, to rear admiral and gave him command of all
Pacific Fleet battleships with the title Commander Battleships. Anderson’s reputation
as a naval officer was less than sterling. A sixty-year-old career officer and a
naval-academy graduate, his military service was nearing an end. Though he had

served aboard warships from 1912 to 1933, he was not a distinguished sailor.

Admiral Richardson has written that Anderson did not have the respect and
confidence of other naval officers?” Admiral Stark apologized for sending Anderson
to the Pacific Fleet. He wrote to Kimmel: "The appointment was forced on us by the
White House. Anderson is a good man to handle the battleships, but I do not commit
myself one inch beyond that." He then warned, "Don't promise Anderson a

promotion. He’s always looking ahead fora new job."*’

Rear Admiral Chester Nimitz, the Navy’s personnel chief, gave Anderson the
good news: he was slated to be the number three officer commanding the soon-to-be
Pacific Fleet—first as a vice admiral with three stars, then later, in April 1941, a full
admiral with four stars. A delighted Captain Anderson ordered new white uniforms
for the tropical climate of Hawaii. They were adorned with gold marks on his sleeves

and admiral’s stars on the shoulders. Gold braid trimmed his new hat.

Then it all crashed. A week later Nimitz broke the bad news: "You're only
getting two stars as rear admiral. The other stars are going to Ernie King, who will
become commander of the new Atlantic Fleet." Anderson was crushed. "I was
unhappy with my rank of rear admiral. All twenty previous commanders of the

battleships took over the job as vice admiral, I didn't."**

anyway.

But he took the position

Privately, Anderson did not blame King for the loss of his stars. "I knew Admiral
King intimately. We had been friends since 1912 when we both served on Atlantic
warships." Instead. Anderson blamed Secretary of the Navy Frank Knox. In 1940,
Knox took a dislike to Anderson when the latter refused to send Chicago Daily News
reporters to North Africa as confidential ONI agents. "The proposal knocked me off

999

balance. Oh, Mr. Secretary, we couldn't do that.”” Knox, former publisher of the
News, had planned to scoop the Chicago Tribune with eyewitness war accounts from

the North Africa front.
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Neither Nimitz nor Knox was America's designated admiral maker. That was
President Roosevelt's prerogative. In May 1939 the President moved Anderson from
the London naval attaché post and made him Director of Naval Intelligence in
Washington. Anderson's reign in naval intelligence was marked by poor morale in the
agency. ‘ONI was the haven for the ignorant and well connected," according to
Marine Corps Colonel John W. Thomason, Jr., at the time head of the ONI Latin
American desk.”®

At least three times a week. Anderson met with FDR. ‘It was usually in the late
afternoon in the President's private office."’’
Edwin “Pa‘ Watson, the military aide, and Colonel John Magruder, then the Army

Two other officials. Major General

intelligence chief, would join them. During his ONI tenure. Anderson also developed
very close friendships with FBI director J. Edgar Hoover and Adolf Berle. Jr., FDR's
Assistant Secretary of Stale. Three days before McCollum put his eight action
provocations in writing, Anderson met secretly with a group of Roosevelt's staff in the
Hay-Adams Hotel, across Lafayette Park from the While House. The group included
Berle, Attorney General Francis Biddle, FCC Commissioner James Fly, and Lowell

Mellett, a presidential political advisor.

The group, according to Berle's diary entry.”® discussed the isolationist
movement and ways to form an integral mechanism to combat the kind of propaganda
spreading across the country. Their concerns echoed those enunciated by Roosevelt
on the secret recordings, but, Berle wrote, the group was unable to agree on a policy.
Three days later, in his proposal to Anderson, McCollum advocated uniting the
country by creating "ado" with its eight provocations. Throughout 1940 and 1941,

Anderson lent McCollum to Hoover for consultation and advice.*

The new two-star admiral left Washington in mid-January 1941 and assumed
command on January 31. Anderson obviously believed in the McCollum strategy and
went to Hawaii knowing of the risks inherent in increasing American pressure on a
militant Japan. Yet in an oral-history interview conducted by Columbia University in
March 1962, he claimed to know nothing of the Richardson-Roosevelt discussion

. . . .. 40
concerning keeping the fleet in Hawaiian waters.

Most of the Pacific Fleet’s senior officers and the crew of the Pennsylvania
watched the Kimmel/Richardson change-of-command ceremony on February I,

unaware of its full significance. Northeast trade winds gently
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cooled the deck of the big battleship and tempered the brilliant tropical sun.
Resplendent in crisp white uniforms, the officers and men were gathered on the
fantail's main deck under the battery of No. 4 turret. Many were destined to die in

41
December.

Richardson showed no emotion as he read out to all those assembled the order
removing him from America's top naval command. He was reassigned to a relatively
insignificant desk job in Washington. Six newsmen stood high atop the turret and
looked down on the main deck but probably none guessed the real reason for the
ceremony. Richardson had been fired because he would not agree to place the fleet at
risk. He promised Admiral Stark not to rock the boat: "I shall keep my lips sealed and
my eyes in the boat and put my weight on the oar to any duly assigned."” Before
leaving Hawaii, Richardson apparently told Kimmel of a ‘disagreement with
authorities in Washington’ concerning basing the fleet at Pearl Harbor. There is no
record indicating that he ever revealed the details of his confrontation in the Oval

Office to Kimmel.*

Looking toward the stem of the Pennsylvania, both Richardson and Kimmel
could see the newly ordained Commander Battleships of the Pacific Fleet, Rear
Admiral Walter Stratton Anderson, standing at attention among a group of senior
naval officers. During naval ceremonies the previous day, Anderson, the man who
would preside over the devastation at Pearl, had read aloud Roosevelt's orders placing

him in command of the fleet’s nine battleships.**

The new Commander Battleships’ poor reputation among the Navy’s high
command was recalled by Richardson and Kimmel. Just days before, Kimmel had
been warned to beware of Anderson by Admiral Stark, who did not mince words. The
appointment was not Stark's idea. The Anderson promotion was dictated by the White
House: "It's their prerogative and believe me the White House decides these days."*
Stark also told Kimmel that the shake-up of the Fleet was done under duress: "Our
hand was forced, we wanted to run this whole schedule differently."46 In 1939,
Richardson told FDR that he had little respect or confidence in Anderson as a naval

4
officer.”

Anderson was sent to Hawaii as an intelligence gatekeeper. He had powerful
connections in the Navy Department and the FBI. Declining military living quarters

on the Pearl Harbor base, he rented a house on Diamond
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Head Road located on the makai (Hawaiian for "toward the water") side of the famed
Waikiki landmark.* From his living-room windows, Anderson could see the southern
Hawaiian islands of Maui, Molokai, and Lanai. The sky-jutting Cliffside’s of the
Diamond Head crater cut off all views of Pearl Harbor. Battleship Row and his
flagship, the USS Maryland, were out of Anderson's sight. Kimmel's assigned
residence was among his officers and men. He lived on Makalapa Hill, a naval
residential area about 600 yards from Pacific Fleet headquarters. From the front lanai
of his quarters he had a commanding view of the entire warship anchorage, including
Battleship Row.

On December 7, Anderson's eight battleships (the ninth, the USS Colorado. was
on the West Coast) would receive the brunt of the Japanese attack. Heavy loss of life
and injuries were sustained aboard the Arizona, Oklahoma. West Virginia, Nevada.
Tennessee, California, Maryland, and the Pacific Fleet flagship, the Pennsylvania.*
Anderson was not aboard any of the battleships. He spent that fatal weekend at his

Diamond Head Road residence.”

As Director of Naval Intelligence from June 1939 to December 1940. Anderson
had been at the center of policy making. He had direct access to Roosevelt in the
White House and met weekly with FBI Director J. Edgar Hoover. Most important, he
knew of the American success in breaking the Japanese military and diplomatic
codes. When he arrived on the quarterdeck of Kimmel's flagship Anderson had one
moral duty: to inform his commander-in-chief of the cryptographic triumphs. He
failed to do so, and deliberately excluded Kimmel from the decryption success. “I
can't understand, may never understand why I was deprived of the information

available in Washington," a bewildered Kimmel wrote after the war.”'

Had he been briefed, Kimmel could have requested that Purple decryptions be
sent to him from either Washington or Corregidor. But without the machine, he did
not have the capability to decode them, ironically, the Army’s monitor station on
Hawaii, Station FIVE, was a principal interceptor of Purple code messages; the
intercepts were forwarded immediately by radio to Washington, where they were
decrypted on the Station US machine for the White House. Decryption was speedy.
Most of Station FIVE'S intercepts of Purple encoded messages were decoded on the

Station US Purple machine and translated within a day's time, according to
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the White House route logs kept by Arthur McCollum, Incredibly, copies were not
sent to Hawaii. Like Admiral Husband Kimmel, Lieutenant General Walter Short,
Hawaii's Army commander, was not told of the secrets of Purple, even though the

messages were being intercepted just steps from his command post at Fort Shafter.”

Both Admiral Anderson and Commander Vincent R. Murphy, Kimmel’s
assistant war plans officer, knew of McCollum's proposal to keep the fleet in harm’s
way. Either or both should have told Kimmel everything they knew about America's
ability to learn Japan's strategic and tactical intentions from the intercepts. By
mid-February, soon after taking command of the Pacific Fleet, Kimmel sensed his
exclusion from the intelligence loop. On February 18 he asked Admiral Stark to fix
responsibility for disseminating reports of a "secret nature so there will be no

misunderstanding.”

Kimmel received Stark’s answer on March 22: "Naval Intelligence is fully aware
of its responsibility in keeping you adequately informed."** Determined to plug into
the loop, Kimmel tried again. On May 26 he requested the establishment of what he
called a "cardinal principle": "Inform the Commander-in-Chief of the Pacific Fleet
immediately of all important developments as they occur by the quickest means

. 55
available."

His requests were ignored. What information he got from Washington,
for almost the entire time prior to the attack, did not provide him with a full
understanding of Japan’s intentions. By late July 1941, he had been cut off completely

from the communications intelligence generated in Washington.>
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CHAPTER 4

WE ARE ALERT FOR
AN ATTACK ON
HAWAII

SELABINTANAH RESORT

JAVA

DUTCH EAST INDIES

OCTOBER 16, 1940

ROOSEVELT’S REVAMPING OF THE NAVY’S COMMAND STRUCTURE IN Hawaii
lessened the chance that Japanese moves on Hawaii, spurred to action by Arthur
McCollum's eight provocations, would be detected. As events would show, there
were Americans ready to put all eight into effect. Among McCollum’s proposals, the
key provocations were actions B and G, which would cut off vital supplies to Japan
and force her into a military mode to regain access. McCollum’s action B proposed to
"Make an arrangement with Holland for the use of base facilities and acquisition of
supplies in the Dutch East Indies." Action G proposed that the United States 'insist
that the Dutch refuse to grant Japanese demands for undue economic concessions,

particularly oil."’

Japan's leaders reacted immediately and attempted to change the
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Dutch attitude after both provocations were put into effect in the fall of 1940 and early
1941. Intercepts in the diplomatic code, analyzed in Washington by McCollum,
revealed the Japanese strategy; they disclosed that her diplomats speedily attempted
to restore access to the Dutch-owned natural resources. But each attempt at

reconciliation brought forth a classic case of tightening the screws.

During September 1940 Japan sensed the screw-tightening by the Dutch and
arranged for a diplomatic conference in Java in an attempt to keep petroleum products
and other natural resources flowing to the Empire. Its delegation was headed by
Minister of Commerce Ichizo Kdbayashi, who met with H. J. van Mook, Dutch
minister for economic affairs. Commander Arthur McCollum's proposed role for the
Dutch had not yet been written but his provocations—still at a latent stage—managed
to surface during the initial Dutch-Japanese negotiations in late September and early
October.

Japan's delegation felt right at home in the Dutch East Indies after their long sea
journey. Tea gardens, tumbling waterfalls, and rice fields surrounded the conference
site in the forested mountain resort near the hamlet of Selabintanah about 120 km
southeast of Batavia. The beauty of the region reminded the diplomats of the heights

leading to Mount Fuji in Japan.

But the heated diplomatic interchanges between Kobayashi and van Mook were
in sharp contrast to the peaceful surroundings. Japan's diplomats angrily contended
that the Netherlands delegates were mere puppets of Washington. On the table were
proposals involving Japanese rights to obtain oil and petroleum products from
Holland's enormous reserves in the Dutch East Indies. Japan called for the Dutch to
provide a minimum of 3,150.000 metric tons of petroleum annually. One of the
delegates. Japanese minister of commerce Ichizo Kdbayashi, demanded that the
Dutch guarantee a delivery schedule covering a five-year period. Kobayashi
expressed the attitude of his government: "The Netherlands has been closely
co-operating with the United Kingdom and the United States. Now is the time to
shake hands with Japan."

Dutch Minister H. J. van Mook reprimanded Kobayashi and labeled the oil
demands preposterous. Besides, he said, the Netherlands government's role was only
supervisory. Dutch oil firms controlled the production and sale of the petrol products,

not the government.’
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The Kobayashi mission started off on the wrong foot. When the Nissho Mam,
carrying the Kobayashi delegation, arrived in Batavia Harbor on September 12, 1940,
the captain committed a diplomatic faux pas: he failed to hoist the Netherlands flag, as
required by protocol. But whether the Nissho Maru hoisted the colors or not the
Japanese mission was doomed, because the Netherlands government went along with
McCollum's actions B and G. Japan was not going to obtain any petroleum from the

Dutch, despite her prolonged diplomatic overtures, which lasted until June 1941.

Though not mentioned by name, on October 16 President Roosevelt learned of
Kobayashi's mission through a summary of a Purple intercept routed by McCollum to
naval aide Captain Callaghan. The report mentioned the Japanese economic mission
in the Dutch East Indies and disclosed the Japanese interest in seizing the Dutch East
Indies at the earliest opportunity. The Japanese Foreign Office officials including
those in Selabinlanah urged fast action in seizing Dutch territory, according to the

intercept:

THE UNITED STATES IS INCAPABLE OF TAKING ACTION AT THE PRESENT TIME TO
PREVENT JAPANESE SEIZURE OF THE DUTCH POSSESSIONS IN THE FAR EAST AND NO
TIME SHOULD BE LOST IN EFFECTING SUCH A SEIZURE.*

Roosevelt doubted that America would go to war over the Dutch East Indies, for
he felt there was little public support for intervention in the Southeastern Asian
countries. He expressed his doubts during the October 8 White House luncheon with
Admiral Richardson. "I asked the President if we were going to enter the war. He
replied that if the Japanese attacked Thailand, or the Kra Peninsula, or the Dutch East
Indies we would not enter the war, that if they even attacked the Philippines he
doubted whether we would enter the war, but that they could not always avoid making
mistakes and that as the war continued and the area of operations expanded, sooner or

later they would make a mistake and we would enter the war."

An October 25 intercept provided additional details on the Kobayashi mission.
Roosevelt learned that Japan sought a ground lease for the construction of a "technical
base" that would be manned by "disguised troops." Once completed, Japan intended

to use the base "for military
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operations against the Netherlands." Realizing the importance of the intercept to the
Netherlands government, McCollum delivered a copy of the dispatch to the Dutch
naval attaché, Captain Johan Ranneft, on the night of October 30, 1940. Ranneft
forwarded the message to his government in exile in London. They refused to grant

the lease.®

McCollum and Ranneft, an experienced naval-communications officer, worked
closely together throughout 1940 and '41. The two shared Japanese intercepts
obtained by their governments. Dutch cryptographers eavesdropped on the Japanese
navy through a cryptographic unit called Kamer 14 (Room 14) operated by the Royal
Netherlands Army at Bandoeng, Java. There is no doubt of the close cooperation and
exchange of naval intelligence between the United States, British, and Dutch forces
prior to December 7. Secretary of the Navy Frank Knox assured Cordell Hull, the
Secretary of State, that all US Navy intelligence personnel in the Far East were
cooperating with British and Dutch naval intelligence by exchange of vital
information of a special nature by rapid means. Admiral Hart, of the Asiatic Fleet,
confirmed that a Dutch naval officer, Commander H. D. Linder, was assigned to his

staff for such a purpose.’

Throughout the spring and summer of 1941, the White House manipulated the oil
negotiations. On March 19, Roosevelt met with Netherlands Foreign Minister Dr.
Eelco van Kleffens in the Oval Office. Van Kleffens, Roosevelt, and Undersecretary
of State Sumner Welles conferred for seventy minutes and reiterated the strategy for
frustrating Japanese acquisition of petroleum products as advocated by McCollum's
actions B and G. When he left the meeting, van Kleffens went even further than his
minister, van Mook, and accused Japan of aggressive behavior toward the
Netherlands. He told reporters: “We have rejected every attempt by Japan to overstep

and we will maintain that attitude."®

The Dutch foreign minister then began a long journey to Batavia by way of San
Francisco, where he boarded the trans-Pacific China Clipper through Hawaii. Van
Kleffens was not shy with the press. His journey was punctuated by interviews in
which he continued to aim provocative remarks at Japan. In Honolulu, the Japanese
Consulate reported his arrival and departure for Batavia by radio to Tokyo. When he
reached Batavia, van Kleffens outlined the current policy to the local Dutch officials.

Japan was permitted to obtain oil but at a diminished rate. An extra impediment
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was added: Japanese tankers would be required for its transportation; there were no
Dutch tankers available. "Japan was enraged," reported Hallett Abend of the New
York Times, “and suspected she had been outsmarted” by van Mook. She blamed him
for the irksome provisions under which Japan must haul oil in her own tankers and

pay for it in good American dollars.’

Van Kleffens and Ranneft maintained a connection with the Roosevelt
Administration throughout 1941, exchanging Japanese military and diplomatic
intelligence. In early December, Ranneft learned that the Japanese carrier forces were
on the move. The reports came from the Office of Naval Intelligence (ONI) in
Washington and located two separate movements. According to Ranneft’s diary
entries, one location was directly west of Hawaii; the other location involved a
movement of carriers easterly from Japan. Ranneft did not provide location specifics
in his diary. But the oceanic charts of the Pacific can help identify the two separate
carrier locations reported by the Dutch naval attaché. The 21° North Latitude
meridian leads directly west from Hawaii, past the Mariana Islands, and to the
Philippine Sea. In early December 1941, units of Japanese Carrier Divisions Three
and Four were in the Philippine Sea area preparing to support the Japanese invasion of

Southeast Asia. Scratch Carrier Divisions Three and Four as a threat to Hawaii.

It's Ranneft’s positioning of Japanese carriers on an easterly course from Japan
that is most revealing—and the danger to Hawaii. As any nautical chart of the Pacific
will prove, an easterly ocean course from Japan must originate somewhere from 32 to
45° North Latitude. In early December, Japan's Hawaii raiding force was proceeding
easterly from Japan along the 40° North Latitude region of the North Pacific.

During his visit to ONI on December 2, Ranneft saw a naval intelligence plot
(i.e., a route on a nautical chart) that placed two Japanese carriers leaving Japan on an
easterly course. Again on Saturday, December 6, he saw an update of the Japanese
warship plot maintained by ONI. This time Arthur McCollum and his boss, Director
of Naval Intelligence Captain Theodore Wilkinson, pointed to an isolated the
Japanese flattops west of Honolulu.'’ Although Ranneft has been criticized as a
source, his diary account that he provided to historian John Toland is clear. It reads:

“December 2, 1941. Meeting at Navy Department, the location of 2 Japanese
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carriers leaving Japan with eastern course are pointed out to me on the map."

Official United States naval records also support Ranneft's diary entry. Plottings
on the naval intelligence map for December 2 were based on intercepted movement
reports and radio direction-finder bearings obtained by the Navy’s monitoring
stations. Each plot reflected intelligence obtained prior to December 2 and isolated
two separate Japanese carrier movements from the Empire: Carrier Route 1 extended
southwest toward the Philippines and Southeast Asia'' and Carrier Route 2 continued
northeast through waters of the North Pacific Ocean and east to Hawaii. Ranneft's
unnamed port could only be Hitokappu Bay on Route 2 on the Kurile island of

Etorofu, northeast of the main Japanese islands.

There was no way Ranneft could mistake the southern Japanese carrier
movement for an eastern foray. Three light carriers comprising units of Carrier
Divisions Three and Four were tracked on Route 1, the southern route from the
Empire. Each Japanese carrier division usually included two flattops, but Division
Three was split. The light carrier HUMS Zuiho look part in the invasion of the
northern Philippines and Malaya while her sister carrier, HUMS Hosho, remained in
the Inland Sea. Carrier Division Four, the HUMS Ryujo and HUMS Taiyo (known to
America as the Kasuga Maru) assembled at Palau and supported invasions on the east
coast of the Philippines. Each of the three flattops and their carrier division commands
show up constantly on Route 1 in the pre-Pearl Harbor intercepts of Station H, the
Pacific Fleet’s radio intercept station on Oahu, which monitored Japan's fleet

broadcasts.

From mid-November onward, American radio monitors linked Carrier Divisions
Three and Four with the Japanese battle force headed for the Southeast Asia region.
Their sortie port was Sasebo on the southwest corner of Kyushu, the most westerly of
Japan's home islands. Reports issued by the monitor stations were emphatic. The two
light carrier divisions were under the command of Japan’s Third Fleet and were
headed for Southeast Asia. Missing from the southern-movement scenario were the
six heavy flattops of Carrier Divisions One, Two, and Five. They were sailing to Pearl
Harbor on Route 2.

nl2

By using the geographic term "eastern," ~ Ranneft excluded the port of Sasebo

and Japanese Carrier Divisions Three and Four, which were
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headed to the south. Navigation by sea eastward from Sasebo is impossible due to the
Kyushu land-mass. Then where is the mystery sortie port for the eastern movement of
"The Carriers" of Divisions One, Two. and Five? The answer came in a series of
Japanese naval-radio broadcasts originated by the Hawaii-bound carriers, their
commanders, and Admiral Yamamoto between November 18 and December 1, 1941.
Most of the broadcasts were intercepted at Station H. one of eleven Navy monitor
stations in the Pacific and the principal interceptor for the Pacific Fleet. Station H was
part of the Navy's Mid-Pacific Radio Intelligence Network, commanded by
Lieutenant Commander Joseph Rochefort from Stallion HYPO. Both were on Oahu:
HYPO in the Pearl Harbor Naval Yard and H at Heeia, a hamlet on the windward side
of the island, fronting on Kaneohe Bay. Though their similar names can confuse those
uninitiated into the methods of Navy code-breaking, each had separate functions.
HYPO was the combat intelligence center for the Pacific Fleet and the Roosevelt
Administration. In cryptographic jargon, HYPO processed (decoded and translated)
Japanese naval-radio messages obtained by intercept operators listening to the

Japanese broadcasts at the monitoring unit, Station H.

These intercepts and the corresponding radio logs of Station H are powerful
evidence of American foreknowledge of the attack on Pearl Harbor. Americans do not
know these records exist—all were excluded from the many investigations that took
place from 1941 to 1946 and the congressional probe of 1995. The most potent
evidence is two radio dispatches sent by Admiral Yamamoto to the First Air Fleet on
November 25 while the thirty-one warships were anchored at Hitokappu Bay in the
Kurile Islands awaiting instruction to sail to Hawaii. In his messages, Yamamoto
provides the evidence that contradicts American and Japanese claims of radio silence
and exclusion of the words Hawaii and Pearl Harbor from radio transmissions prior to
December 7. Both claims are at the heart of the Pearl Harbor surprise-attack lore.
Yamamoto broke radio silence and directed the Japanese First Air Fleet to depart
Hitokappu Bay on November 26, advance into Hawaiian waters through the North
Pacific, and attack the United States Fleet in Hawaii. He even provided the latitude

and longitude for portions of Route 2.

In his first dispatch he wrote:
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THE TASK FORCE, KEEPING ITS MOVEMENT STRICTLY SECRET, SHALL LEAVE
HITOKAPPU BAY ON THE MORNING OF 26TH NOVEMBER AND ADVANCE TO 42° N. X
170° E. ON THE AFTERNOON OF 3 DECEMBER AND SPEEDILY COMPLETE REFUELING."

In the second dispatch he continued:

THE TASK FORCE, KEEPING ITS MOVEMENT STRICTLY SECRET AND MAINTAINING
CLOSE GUARD AGAINST SUBMARINES AND AIRCRAFT, SHALL ADVANCE INTO
HAWAIIAN WATERS, AND UPON THE VERY OPENING OF HOSTILITIES SHALL ATTACK
THE MAIN FORCE OF THE UNITED STATES FLEET IN HAWAII AND DEAL IT A MORTAL
BLOW. THE FIRST AIR RAID IS PLANNED FOR THE DAWN OF X-DAY. EXACT DATE TO
BE GIVEN BY LATER ORDER.

UPON COMPLETION OF THE AIR RAID, THE TASK FORCE, KEEPING CLOSE
COORDINATION AND GUARDING AGAINST THE ENEMY’S COUNTERATTACK, SHALL
SPEEDILY LEAVE THE ENEMY WATERS AND THEN RETURN TO JAPAN.

SHOULD THE NEGOTIATIONS WITH THE UNITED STATES PROVE SUCCESSFUL, THE
TASK FORCE SHALL HOLD ITSELF IN READINESS FORTHWITH TO RETURN AND
REASSEMBLE. "

Both dispatches, stripped of all Japanese communication data and lacking the
source of the intercept, can be found in two US naval histories. Pearl Harbor by Vice
Admiral Homer N. Wallin and The Campaigns of the Pacific War prepared by the
Naval Analysis Division of the United States Strategic Bombing Survey.” The
published text of the two messages follows the general form of intercepted Japanese
naval radio dispatches obtained by US naval monitoring stations in 1941. Records of
Station H indicate that Yamamoto, using the radio call sign RO SE 22, dispatched
thirteen radio messages between 1:00 P.M. on November 24 and 3:54 P.M. on
November 26. All thirteen are missing from the intercept file of Japanese naval

messages released to the National Archives by President Jimmy Carter in 1979.'°

By reconstructing records of Station H and Japanese naval records, the
destination and the departure port for Ranneft’s mystery force is made clear. Japan's
Heel movement to Hawaii fitted into two time frames in late November: (1) assembly
al standby locations on November 17-25, and (2) the sortie to the target November
25-December 7."

Hitokappu Bay, an inlet on Etorofu Island in the Kurile Islands group.
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was the assembly location for the six carriers of the First Air Fleet—the offensive
power of the Pearl Harbor raid. Joining the carriers in the anchorage were its support
force of two battleships, two heavy cruisers, one light cruiser, eleven destroyers, and
three "I’ type submarines, plus the crucial supply train of seven tankers. Several
warships committed a serious radio security breach during their sortie to the
Hitokappu Bay anchorage: each transmitted coded movement reports—reports that
could be read by American naval cryptographers in Washington, according to Albert

Pelletier one of the Navy's top cryppies at Station US,"*

These Japanese warship movement reports are substantiated by intercept records
of Station H. None of the movement reports were shown to the 1945—46
congressional investigation or to the one in 1995. Instead, Congress was told that
American radio intelligence had "lost" the warships because each Japanese naval
vessel maintained radio silence. Admiral Kimmel's intelligence chief, Edwin Layton,
substantiated this claim. During his Capitol Hill testimony in 1946, he said neither the
Japanese carriers nor the carrier commanders were ever addressed or heard on Nippon
radio frequencies in the twenty-five days preceding Pearl Harbor. But Layton was
covering up. The radio intercept reports were available, but Layton failed to inform

Admiral Kimmel of the Japanese movement to Hitokappu Bay."

In fact, Navy radio monitoring stations at Corregidor, Guam, Hawaii, and Dutch
Harbor, Alaska, intercepted the transmissions. Japanese warships and the
commanding admirals of the thirty-one-ship Hawaii force broke radio silence and
were addressed by Tokyo radio during the twenty- five days from about November 12
through the December 7 "surprise attack."

One intercepted message on November 18 defied all security precautions and
spelled out H-1-T-O-K-A-P-P-U-B-A-Y. The Roman letters were not even
encoded—they were spelled out in clear. Confirmation of this is available from the
Station H records, but Captain Duane Whitlock, the radio traffic analyst at CAST,

denies that such a message was sent.

Other warships went on the Japanese naval air waves and confirmed that
Hitokappu Bay was the standby location for the Hawaii force. British naval monitors
at Singapore and their Dutch counterparts in Java heard the same broadcasts.”

General Hein ter Poorten, commander of the
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Netherlands army forces in the DEI, said his cryptologists at Kamer 14 had evidence

that "showed Japanese naval concentration near the Kuriles."*'

The plain-language
dispatch of the words "Hitokappu Bay," confirmed a prediction made on the basis of
radio intercepts on October 22, 1941, by Joseph Rochefort, the commander of Station
HYPO on Oahu, who told Admiral Kimmel that Japan was in the midst of a
large-scale screening maneuver or operation involving air units. Rochefort laid out the
operation for Kimmel.”

Pacific Ocean from the Kurile Islands in the north to the Marshal) Islands in the south

He predicted it would include a vast triangular area of the

and Marcus Island in the east and extending to the southeast areas of Asia. For
emphasis. Rochefort cited the Kurile Islands three times in the prediction. He had

discovered Japan's secret sortie port far Route 2.

The contents of the Japanese message spelling out “Hitokappu Bay" were not
revealed to Admiral Kimmel by Rochefort’s Communication Summary dated
November 19—the logical date for disclosure. The plain-language "Hitokappu Bay"
reference does not appear in the summary though Rochefort wrote that Japanese naval
circuits in the far north were intercepted. Dropping ’Hitokappu Bay" from the
typewritten summary may have been done deliberately to conceal American success
in decoding Japanese naval communications. Admiral Harold Stark's testimony
before the joint congressional investigation in 1945-46 indicates that he knew of the
Hitokappu Bay rendezvous point prior to December 7, 1941.” But the plain-language
“Hitokappu Bay" reference in the message of November 18 was never presented. Nor
was it made available to the Pearl Harbor inquiry of Senator Strom Thurmond in
1995.%

Between November 18 and November 30, some units of the First Air Fleet
radioed movement reports as they sailed north in the Pacific from their home ports in
Japan. Their route extended off the east coast of Shikoku and Honshu and past
Hokkaido, Japan's most northerly home island. Navigating first to the northeast, then

north, then northeast again, their course took them to Hitokappu Bay.

Japan’s naval communications were controlled by six powerful radio shore
stations in the home islands: Sasebo, Kure, Maizuru, Tokyo, Yokosuka. and Ominato.
In the Central Pacific, four stations were in control: Chichi Jima, Saipan, Truk, and

Jaluit. For the Far East, the navy used
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Takao, Formosa; Shanghai, China; and Pusan, Korea, as radio control points. Three
were designated super-stations: Sasebo controlled all radio transmissions to Southeast
Asia, China and Korea; Yokosuka to the Central Pacific, and Ominato to the north,
including the North Pacific.

For super-secret operations, Japan set up special communication zones known
only to senior commanders. It was a way to conceal the operation's location from
American and allied eavesdroppers. In mid-November, a special communication zone
was assigned to the First Air Fleet al Hi-tokappu Bay in the Kurile Islands. Normally,
Japan issued a 5-Num code equivalent for these special locations, but because
Hitokappu had been selected at the last minute it was not on the code list. Tokyo had

only one choice: they spelled it out.”

After transmitting of the initial message, there were no more Hilo-kappu Bay

plain-language radio leaks. But some warships disclosed their

HITOKAPPU BAY INTERCEPT
[overleaf]

Two versions of the Hitokappu Bay intercept, with and without blacked-out code numbers. The
censored version. left, as released in 1979 under Presidential Executive Order, blacks out the code
designator JN-25-B (a later designator for the 1941 version of the 5-Num code) and the fist-number
code groups in the text. The message was intercepted by an unidentified Station H operator with the
initials SN, at 1932 hours (7:32 pm) on November 18. 1941. as indicated by the "TOI" (time of
interception) info at top right. (The date, listed in the lower right-hand corner as "Navy Trans
4/24/46" indicates that the document was then translated or transcribed in 1946. Decryption,
however, remains the critical question, Rochefort was fluent in Japanese.) SN said the message came
in loud and clear in Hawaii, he rated it as G=good. no static. Radio Tokyo, HA FU 6, transmitted the
message to all Japanese fleets UMO02 on 4155 kilocycles. The original of this message has not been
released by the US government. Based on the handwritten note by GZ (Navy designator for the
translator) the original Japanese text was transmitted in a series of five-number code groups, each
representing a Japanese word—except for HITOKAPPU WAN (Bay), which was spelled out in
katakana. The intercept operators and Kisner had solved the Japanese naval radio call signs and
knew HI N MA was the Operations Section Chief of the Japanese Naval General Staff; I A TO was the
Ominato Naval Base and RI TA 358 was the First Air Fleet's Chief of Staff. Some historians have
claimed that the original of this message was not even available until after December 7, but the time of
interception is explicit. Inmediately upon receipt, the source and recipients of this message would
have been clear™.
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locations when they filed movement reports through various Japanese naval-radio
communication zones. Their reports provided a dead giveaway to American
cryptographers who could read the movement reports solved by Pelletier at Station
US. First to leak their zonal locations were three of the long-range I-boat submarines
assigned to the First Air Fleet, I-19, I-21, and I-23. Adhering to long-standing orders,
the sub commanders reported moving northeast from Kure. Their radio reports
indicated an advance through the Yokosuka Communication Zone, then the Ominato
Zone, “to the communication zone of the First Air Fleet." The message was clear. The
carriers of the First Air Fleet were in their own special communication zone. They

could be reached by radio at Hitokappu Bay, northeast of Ominato.

Radio direction finders of the US Navy confirmed the Japanese naval
movements. The radio signals were picked up throughout the Pacific Rim. Stations at
Corregidor, Guam, and Dutch Harbor provided "fixes" on the carriers Akagi, Hiryii,
and Shokaku, and of Carrier Divisions One, Two, and Five. Each flattop was plotted
moving north by northeast by the radio operators at CAST on Corregidor. These plots
were forwarded to Rochefort at Pearl Harbor's Station HYPO and then to President
Roosevelt’s routing officer Arthur McCollum in Washington by a special secure
Navy radio code circuit called TESTM.*’

To those uninitiated in the methods of communications intelligence, Japan's
radio call-sign system, known as the Yobidashi Fugo, looks like alphabet soup. But to
the experienced radio intercept operator/cryptographer the call signs, when
deciphered, are revealing. The flagship of the First Air Fleet, the 38,000-ton carrier
HUMS Akagi, shared triple radio duty. Its radio transmitter served three masters with
different radio call signs: Captain Kiichi Hasegawa of the 4kagi. whose radio code
name was 8 YU NA, and Vice Admiral Chuichi Nagumo, who wore two hats: he was
both Commander-in-Chief of the First Air Fleet, YO N 7, and Commander of Carrier
Division One, SA SO 2.**

Vice Admiral Nagumo continually broke radio silence by transmitting messages
to his command using the Akagi’s radio facilities. But Nagumo was not the only
offender. Captain Hasegawa added his transmissions to the traffic. So did Vice
Admiral Gunichi Mikawa, the commander of the battleships and cruisers of Nagumo's

force. Mikawa was detected by Station
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CAST using his secret Hawaii call sign, N WA 2. His radio transmissions, according
to the CAST radio direction-finder bearings, placed his force off the east coast of
Japan. Even worse for Japanese communications security, both admirals used their

most secret call signs, which were reserved exclusively for the Hawaii attack.”

Japan's navy revised the radio call signs for all warships on November 1, when
they put a new radio-call list into effect- Nagumo and Ntikawa thought the new coded
radio-call signs hid them from detection by US listening posts. They were correct, as
long as they kept their radio transmitters silent. But once the warships used the

airwaves. the American naval intercept operators solved the new identities quickly.

Transmissions to and from the entire Japanese fleet were in radiotelegraphy, not
voice. Radio transmitters emit spurious sounds,” which can be identified by "radio
fingerprinting." These sounds are unique to the transmitter; that is, no two transmitters
sound alike. The US Navy used oscilloscopes to identify the wave patterns of these
sounds. Experienced naval intercept operators could sometimes recognize individual
Japanese radio operators by their unique use of the radiotelegraph key to send the dots

and dashes of their code.

The new call list. List 9. thwarted the American code-breakers for a few days.
But once the warships began transmitting, and "fingerprints" could be detected, the
code-breakers were able to analyze the meaning of the various calls for individual
ships or units. This wide use of radio transmissions was necessitated by the fact that
Japan's navy and military operations extended over vast stretches of air. land, and sea.
In a Thanksgiving Day assessment of Japanese carrier movements, the Pacific Fleet's
radio intercept traffic chief. Homer Kisner,”' detected a separation of carrier
commands. He noted that Carrier Divisions Three and Four were involved in
"southern operations" and received their orders From the commander of Japan's Third
Fleet, not from the Commander Carriers, Vice Admiral Nagumo. Kisner spotted
another movement which he called "the Carrier Divisions": the six big carriers of the
Japanese Fleet. These included Carrier Division One. Akagi and Kaga. commanded
by Nagumo; Carrier Division Two, Hiryu and Soryu, commanded by Rear Admiral
Tamon Yamaguchi; and Carrier Division Five, commanded by Rear Admiral Chuichi

Hara, with the newest Japanese flattops, Shokaku and Zuikaku.

S3



DAY OF DECEIT

Pushing aside his cranberries and turkey, Kisner examined the pile of radio
intercepts culled from the Japanese naval airwaves by his 65 radio operators. The
thirty-one-year-old Kisner had assumed the duties of radio traffic chief in June 1941.
He supervised the interception of all types of Japanese naval radio communications.
His headquarters was Station H, a Navy radio receiving facility located at Heeia on
Kaneohe Bay on the windward side of Oahu. Homer Kisner had learned to intercept
Japanese radio broadcasts in a Navy classroom operated by Station US on the roof of
Navy headquarters in Washington in 1933. After graduating from the three-month
eavesdropping course, Kisner, then a radioman second class, traveled to Hawaii and
placed Station H in operation that summer. In the ensuing years, he served in other
monitor stations in the Pacific specializing in the interception of Japan's military and
diplomatic radio broadcasts. His unique talent in eavesdropping on Japan's fleet was
unsurpassed. His immediate boss, Commander Joseph Rochefort, regarded Kisner as
tops in the specialized field of plucking Japanese radio broadcasts from the airwaves.
From July 1941 to October 1942 Kisner served as the Pacific Fleet's radio traffic
chief. For the next three years Kisner operated with the Pacific Fleet supervising
various intercept operations. He observed Japan's early success followed by her
defeat. He detected the Japanese advance on Hawaii in 1941 and also intercepted
Japan's reaction to the bombing of Hiroshima and Nagasaki and the initial peace
feelers in 1945. President Harry Truman in 1946 awarded him the Bronze Star for his
expertise. Promoted to full Commander in 1953, Kisner was sent to Korea for
communications intelligence and earned a second Bronze Star from President Dwight

. 32
Eisenhower.

Kisner's daily routine at Station H called for a quick examination of the
intercepts for military information. Then he prepared a Daily Chronology and
delivered the entire package to Rochefort's basement office at Pearl Harbor, about
fifteen miles away on the lee side of Oahu. There were no teleprinters or two-way
radio facilities to link the offices. A single telephone line from the Mutual Telephone
Company was Kisner’s only electronic means of alerting the US government to an
emergency. But there was no way Kisner was going to use that telephone. It was a

party line.

Every day Kisner packaged the Daily Chronology, intercept message sheets, and
radio logs into a neat bundle, strapped a Colt .45 revolver to his hip. and drove to Pearl

Harbor in a Navy half-ton pickup truck. He was
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carrying America's most precious intelligence secrets, and his daily route to Pearl
Harbor took him directly past the Japanese Consulate, where a Japanese naval spy,

Tadashi Morimura, prepared weekly espionage reports for Tokyo.

Modem freeways bypass Kisner's route today. But in 1941 he drove from Oahu's
windward side and up the circuitous Pali Road, which cut through the Koolau
Mountains. At the 1100-foot summit, the road became Nuuanu Avenue and followed
a steep downhill descent to the Honolulu side. The Japanese Consulate was at the
intersection of Nuuanu Avenue and Kuakini Street. One unlucky auto accident at that

busy intersection and the Pacific War might have had a different outcome.

Kisner relied on Mama San’s Laundry to hide Station H and his daily departures
for Pearl Harbor from potential Japanese spies. Her residence, laundry, clotheslines,
and huge banana trees fronted the entire side of the Station's property on
Kamchameha Highway and cut off views of H from motorists traveling on the
highway. He supervised the intercept operations from a large white concrete building
with a sixteen-foot-high ceiling. His office view looked out to the turquoise-blue
waters of the Royal Fish Pond at Heeia, built and maintained by Hawaiian kings over
the centuries as a food source. Inside the building his 65 radio operators split among
eight work stations. (The discovery of the two carrier commands was a monumental
find, yet neither Kisner nor any of his 65 men nor the remaining hundred-odd
intercept operators were ever called before any of the nine Pearl Harbor
investigations, including the 1995 probe. The reason, our government would still
claim fifty years after the fact, was that their testimony could compromise our
national security.) They worked around the clock, including holidays, in rotating
eight-hour shifts. Kisner required twenty-four operators for the three shifts every day.
Station H logs indicate that in the weeks prior to the attack the work schedule was
often junked. Operators doubled up and worked overtime in continuous sixteen-hour
shifts. In the US Navy there is no such luxury as overtime pay. As American-Japanese
relations deteriorated and approached the breaking point, many radiomen ate their

meals and slept on the floor near their monitor positions.

When he wasn’t analyzing the Japanese intercepts, Kisner watched his eight

men, each at his work station. They sat in swivel chairs before a long
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bench stacked with radio equipment. Each wore earphones called "cans’ connected by
wire to banks of radio receivers tuned to the known Japanese naval frequencies. When
a message was heard it was transcribed on a special code typewriter called an RIP-5.
(RIP stands for Radio Intelligence Publication.) The machine had been secretly
developed by the Underwood Typewriter Company®® to convert the unique dot-dash
radiotelegraphy code of the Imperial Japanese Navy to Latin-alphabet equivalents. To
the untrained ear, Japan's naval telegraphy procedures sounded like International
Morse Code. But each dot and dash had a non-Morse meaning. For example, in Morse
Code, dash-dot-dot-dot is the letter B, but in the Japanese naval katakana telegraphic
system the same sequence means the syllable HA. When an Intercept operator typed
B on the RIP-5 the katakana syllable HA was printed out.

Intercepting and transcribing Japanese fleet messages for FDR and his military
leaders was a highly skilled task. In 1941, America had only 165 trained katakana
operators. Kisner and his 65 operators at H were the best in the business. All had been

chosen by Rochefort as the “pick of the crop."*

Scanning the Thanksgiving Day intercepts, Kisner looked for Japanese
commanders who appeared "bossiest." Kisner first assembled the intercepts in
chronological order. He said the interception of “an unusually large number of [radio]
messages indicated increased activity or movement of the Carriers.” He connected
Carrier Division Three with the Third Fleet and associated both commands with a

southern movement from Japan toward Southeast Asia.

Kisner discovered other warships. All were destined to attack Pearl Harbor. He
placed Destroyer Squadron One and the heavy cruiser HIMJS Tone with Carrier
Divisions One, Two, and Five. From mid-November to December 6, this placement

35
never changed.

Kisner tracked the Japanese fleet movements with radio direction finders that
located Japanese warships when they used their radio transmitters. He included the
bearings of Japanese warships obtained by the direction-finder stations in his Daily
Chronology. The documentation of Japanese naval broadcasts compiled by Kisner
and his radiomen from November 18 through 20 is compelling: Four broadcasts

linked warships of
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the First Air Fleet with the Kurile Islands and Hitokappu Bay—a serious breach of

Japanese naval security.

Nov. 18: Hitokappu Bay appeared in plain language text in a radio dispatch
originated by naval headquarters, Tokyo. By using the plain words, the
dispatch associated the First Air Fleet with Hitokappu Bay. Intercepted by
operator SN al Station H at 7:32 P.M. Tokyo time.

Nov. 19: A Japanese naval submarine transmitted its coded radio call sign of RO
TU 00 and filed a movement report to the flagship of the First Air Fleet in
Hitokappu's communication zone. Intercepted at Station H by LF at 2:02
AM. Tokyo lime.

Nov. 20: Japanese naval Submarine Squadron Three reported that sub I-19 was
underway from Yokosuka to Ominato, and then to the radio zone of the
flagship of the First Air Fleet. Intercepted at Station H by radio operator
Merrill Whiting, at 2:35 p.M. Tokyo time.

Nov. 20: Two and a half hours later, Whiting heard a third Japanese sub, TA YU
88, when it filed a movement report to the communication zone of the
flagship, First Air Fleet.*

Kisner was excluded from every Pearl Harbor investigation, including the 1995
inquiry. His first public comments on the pre-Pearl Harbor communications
intelligence were made to the author in April 1988 when he examined the intercepts
contained in the President Carter document release. Kisner confirmed their
authenticity. He verified that several Japanese intercepts heard by his operators were
transmitted in plain language prior to December 7. But after fifty-plus years Kisner
could not recall the circumstances of the intercepts or why he failed to flag the
plain-language HITOKAPPU BAY in his Daily Chronology on November 19.
Emphasizing that he was not excusing himself for overlooking Japan’s use of plain
language in the radio dispatch, Kisner noted that Joseph Rochefort and his staff of
analysts at Station HYPO should have been alerted by the words. On October 22,
1941, HYPO’s Communication Summary predicted that Japan was planning a

large-scale screening maneuver involving air forces, staged from the Kurile Islands.
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In an interview in 1998, Kisner, then eighty-eight years old, was shown
McCollum's memo by the author. His reaction to proposal F was the same as Admiral
Richardson's—disbelief and outrage: "No one in the Navy would deliberately place
warships and sailors in harm's way. If T had known of the plan, I'd have gone direct to

Admiral Kimmel and warned him.*’

During the Tour years he served with the Pacific Fleet in communications
intelligence, Kisner estimated that he and other staff members handled a minimum of
1,460,000 Japanese military intercepts. Kisner’s full documentation for the pre-Pearl
Harbor period is contained in the message sheets and separate radio intercept logs
kept by his 65 operators, including Whiting and the unknown SN and LF. These
Station H message sheets and the operator logs are still classified as among America's
most secret documents. The Japanese warships and senior admirals of the First Air
Fleet gave away their North Pacific Ocean locations during their sorties to Hitokappu
Bay. US naval cryptographic monitors as well as their British and Dutch counterparts

. 38
verified the movements.

Dutch code-breakers at Kamer 14 intercepted the same Japanese naval
broadcasts and forwarded the information to their government-in-exile in London.
These Dutch intercepts placed Japanese warships near the Kuriles toward the end of
November 1941. Presumably the Kamer facility obtained Admiral Yamamoto’s
dispatches to the First Air Fleet, for two Dutch military officers, Lieutenant General
Hein ter Poorten and Captain J. W. Henning, claim that intercepts of Japanese naval
communications by Dutch code-breakers revealed a concentration of warships in the
Kuriles. Both officers are credible. General ter Poorten was commander-in-chief of
the Netherlands ground forces in the Dutch East Indies; Henning was cryptologist at
Kamer 14. Adding to the credibility of the two Dutch army officers is the written
assurance given November 8, 1941. by Frank Knox to Cordell Hull that there was a
full exchange of intelligence information between the Dutch, British, and Americans

in the Far East prior to Pearl Harbor.”

The Dutch accounts placing the warships in the Kuriles were written in 1960, but
they dovetail with the intercepts Kisner gathered in late November 1941.
Unfortunately, the military records of the Netherlands East Indies were intentionally

destroyed early in 1942 to make sure they would
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not fall into enemy hands when Japanese invasion forces overran the Dutch colony.

Skeptics argue that the concentration of warships in the Kuriles pointed not to
Hawaii but to a Japanese invasion and attack on Russia or the Aleutian Islands of
Alaska. But there were no invasion or expeditionary troop components detected in the
Japanese warship movement to the Hi- tokappu Bay-Kuriles region. All the major
Japanese expeditionary forces and their commanders were heading south toward
Southeast Asia, the Philippines, and Palau. The Kurile concentration was a screening
force, which verified Rochefort's October 22 prediction of a Japanese air movement

eastward in the North Pacific Ocean.

According to Ranneft's account, the intercepts and chart plots clearly indicated
an imminent clash with the United States. "No one among us mentions the possibility
of an attack on Honolulu. I myself do not think about it because I believe that

everyone in Honolulu is 100 percent on the alert, just like everyone here at ONL."*
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CHAPTER 5

THE SPLENDID
ARRANGEMENT

SINCE THE EARLY 1920s, AMERICA HAD BEEN EAVESDROPPING ON

Japanese governmental communications. Roosevelt's military leaders called it a
"splendid arrangement," a phrase coined by Admiral Stark.' It was America's
intelligence backbone. In 1941 it comprised twenty-two Pacific Rim radio intercept
stations, including four cryptographic centers that decoded Japanese military and
diplomatic messages. Homer Kisner’s Station H and Joseph Rochefort's
cryptographic center, both on Oahu. Hawaii, were part of it. So were Station CAST on
Corregidor Island and Station SAIL near Seattle.” Altogether it was an exceptional
effort of extraordinary scope and achievement, and for years it had kept American

officials aware of every intention and activity of the Japanese government.’

Joseph Rochefort* and his Station HYPO would play a large pan in the Pearl
Harbor story and World War H's amazing decryption effort. In 1917, at the height of
World War I, the seventeen-year-old Rochefort had joined the Navy while still in high

school in Los Angeles. He was called to
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duly in April 1918 and sent to San Pedro. He wanted to be a naval aviator, but the
Navy had different plans and sent him to an engineering school in New York. He
graduated an ensign in 1919 and became engineering officer of the USS Cuyama, a
tanker. In 1924, after five years of uneventful service, a fellow officer noted
Rochefort’s skills at auction bridge and solving crossword puzzles and recommended
him for a Navy cryptanalysis class in Washington. There Rochefort found his true
calling. He excelled in the cryptographic work, was promoted to full lieutenant, and
was named assistant to Lieutenant Commander Laurance Safford, who was in the
initial stages of organizing a communications-indigence section for the Navy. When
Safford was sent to sea duty in late 1924, Joseph Rochefort was named

officer-in-charge of the small unit that eventually became Station US.’

Like Rochefort, the American military commanders in the Philippines, General
Douglas MacArthur and Admiral Thomas Hart, were part of this "splendid
arrangement"—but Hawaii's commanders. Lieutenant General Walter Short and
Admiral Husband Kimmel, were not. President Roosevelt, British Prime Minister
Churchill, and the Netherlands government in-exile in London used the entire
network, which extended from the West Coast of North America to China's east coast
and from Dutch Harbor, Alaska, to Batavia on the island of Java in the Dutch East
Indies. Seventeen of the monitoring stations were run by the United States, four by the

British Royal Navy, and one by the Dutch army.

The US Pacific monitoring operation included thirteen Navy stations and four
operated by the Army, Command decisions rested with each service. The Navy
controlled its cryptographic operations from Station US, located in Navy
Headquarters at I8lh Street and Constitution Avenue. N.W., in Washington; the
Army’s control was centered at the Signal Intelligence Service (SIS) in Army
Headquarters, down the street at 20th Street and Constitution Avenue, N.W., known
in 1941 as the Munitions Building. The Navy's Japanese monitoring program was the
largest by far, SAIL, CAST, and HYPO were the regional control centers. Decoding
and translating the intercepts took place at four processing centers: CAST and HYPO
in the Pacific and Station US and the Army's SIS in Washington. Station SAIL was
limited to intercept operations and dispatched its information by teleprinter to Station

US for processing.
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Britain’s four stations in the Pacific, called WT stations for wireless telegraph,
were controlled from the Far East Combined Bureau, a cryptographic processing
center in Singapore’s Naval Dockyard. Its monitoring station was on Stonecutter’s
Island in Hong Kong’s harbor. Two radio direction-finder stations in Canada, at
Esquimalt and Ucluelet on British Columbia's Vancouver Island, formed the
remainder of Britain's Pacific cryptographic efforts. Kamer 14, the Netherlands
monitor and processing center at the Bandoeng Army Base in the Dutch East Indies,

completed the “splendid arrangement."

America's small Asiatic Fleet, commanded by Admiral Thomas Hart, received
its Japanese communications intelligence from CAST,® a full-service facility under
co-commanders Lieutenants Rudolph J. Fabian and John Lictwilcr. The center was
manned by 75 trained cryptographic specialists—including intercept operators, radio
direction-finder experts, translators, and cryptographers—who monitored Japanese
diplomatic and military communications. CAST also served as the exchange center

for sharing intercepts with the British and the Dutch.’

Rochefort's Station HYPO controlled the Mid-Pacific Network, which was the
largest of the Navy’s Pacific operations with about 140 radio intelligence specialists.
Aside from the HYPO staff, 32 specialists manned five RDF stations: at Dutch
Harbor, on Midway, on Samoa, and two on Oahu. Coast Guard cryptographers on
Oahu also supplied intercepts to HYPO. It was a mammoth job, for about 1000
Japanese military intercepts were produced daily on Oahu and required careful
scrutiny. The Mid-Pac Network concentrated only on Japanese naval communications
and did not intercept diplomatic messages, since that was the mission of CAST and
SAIL.

Rochefort created an accurate picture of Japan's preparations despite being
unable to see a single warship, sailor, or aircraft of the perceived enemy. The nearest
Japanese fleet unit was several thousand miles away. Station HYPO was housed in the
basement of the administration building of the Fourteenth Naval District, It was
fifteen feet underground in a windowless, damp cellar, dug into the volcanic rock and
soil of the naval yard. There were no enclosed offices or partitions except for a wall
divider that separated the special [and loud] IBM sorting machinery from the rest of
the space. From his gray metal desk in the center, Lieutenant Commander Rochefort

supervised the entire operation. Tall and lean, with close-
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cropped dark brown hair, the forty-one-year-old Rochefort was a model naval officer
greatly admired by his handpicked staff of officers and enlisted men. The
cryptanalysts at HYPO worked in the open around him. The cryptanalysts, or

“cryppies," are among the greatest heroes of the war.

Hawaii's tropical temperatures, combined with the heat in the basement
generated by the statistical machinery, made working conditions unbearable, so a
powerful air conditioner was installed. To endure this chilled air, Rochefort wore a
red smoking jacket over his neatly pressed khaki uniform. Then to ease the discomfort
caused by the carpet less concrete floor, he wore cushioned slippers. Officially, the
smoking jacket and slippers violated naval dress regulations, but whenever he left
HYPO's basement to meet with Admiral Kimmel or attend FBI meetings in down-

town Honolulu, Rochefort was properly and meticulously dressed.

Although Rochefort was considered the top cryptanalyst in the Navy's officer
corps, he preferred sea duty to the draining menial effort that code-breaking
demanded. Frustrations associated with the cryptographic chores ate at him
twenty-four hours a day. He suffered from ulcers and at the end of the day needed two
to three hours to unwind at his home in the Honolulu hills. He missed many meals

with his wife Fay and their children, Janet and Joseph, Jr.

Rochefort lived by the credo: "An intelligence officer has one task, one job, one
mission. This is to tell his commander, his superior, today, what the Japanese are
going to do tomorrow. This is his job. If he doesn’t do this, then he’s failed." He was
proud of his organization. "I would say with all modesty that this was the best
communications intelligence organization this world has ever seen. It was due simply
to the fact that our people were tops in their particular fields. All worked together as a
team. They had been in this business anywhere from five to ten or twelve years. I had
been involved in this thing since 1925 and I fancied myself as a translator." True to his
mission, Rochefort did more than just translate, he predicted. "I was better prepared to
indicate what was in the Japanese mind. That is why we always specified the meaning
of Japanese naval operation orders. We also sent in judgments explaining what the
Japanese intended to accomplish by the operation orders. That is where I differed

from most intelligence organizations at that time.””

Rochefort defined the basic concept of communication intelligence
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Major sites on Oahu that figure in this book:
Pearl Harbor Naval Base and Station
HYPO (center lower); Station H (center
right/: Lualualei RDF (center left): Opana
Radar, Army early warning site (top
center); Kaena Point, navigational base for
both Japanese and American forces (upper
left); (1) Fort Shafter. US Army
Headquarters and site of Station FIVE: (2)
Japanese  Consulate:  (3)  Downtown
Honolulu includes Aloha Tower. FBI Field
office, Army and Navy espionage
investigative office; (4) the Pali Road linked
windward Oahu (east) with Honolulu; (5)
Hamlet of Kalama: (6) Diamond Head
residence of Rear Admiral Walter
Anderson. Inset: Japan launched its attack
on Hawaii from the North Pacific Ocean at
the Prokofiev Seamount, about 200 miles
north of Oahu.

Source: Map based on map from Hawaii

Territorial Planning Board. 1940.
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thus: "You cannot always count on being able to read these messages forever. Enemy
cryptographic systems are constantly changed to avoid detection. You've got to be
able to put yourself in a position where you extract a lot of information just from the
messages themselves without being able to read them. This generally is known as
radio intelligence." Rochefort cited radio direction finding (RDF) as an important part
of communications intelligence. He explained: "By means of radio direction finders
you ascertain the geographical position of the enemy force. That’s called direction

finding—DF. That’s a part of radio intelligence."’

Unlike the interservice cryptographic cooperation in the Philippines, there was
no liaison between HYPO and the Army’s Station FIVE, an intercept station at Fort
Shafter on Oahu. FIVE was under the administrative command of Lieutenant General
Walter Short. It was an important link in the "splendid arrangement"”
but—inexplicably—intercepts were not shared between HYPO and FIVE. Short's
operators intercepted Japanese diplomatic messages, including the all-important
Purple code, but without the Purple decryption machine or help from CAST or
Washington they were unable to decode them.

Apparently General Short learned of the importance of the Japanese radio
messages intercepted at Station FIVE. On November 27 he requested that Rochefort
instruct the Army's intercept operators at FIVE in solving what Short called the
"Japanese telegraphic code." Rochefort received Short’s request the next day but
details are lacking, for censorship conceals both the text of the request and
Rochefort’s reaction. Apparently he did nothing to assist the general. A direct link to
Short's letter—but not the letter itself—can be found referenced in a Fourteenth Naval
District route slip in the National Archives al San Bruno. Rochefort initialed the slip
and kept Short’s original letter in HYPO’s files. On January 1, 1942, a similar request
again asked Rochefort’s cooperation in the solution of enemy codes and ciphers.
Again he acknowledged the request, signed his full signature, J. J. Rochefort, and
retained the copy in HYPO’s files.

Mysteriously, both the November 27 and January 1 letters have the same Army
serial number. Short had been relieved of his duties on December 17. so the date of
the second request is suspicious. The identical serial numbers suggest a deliberate

attempt to make it appear that the request
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wasn’t received until weeks after the attack. Neither letter has been released by the
Navy or the Army. Their existence would not have come to light at all had not the

route slips been discovered by the author."’

Lieutenant General Short never told Congress of Rochefort’s failure to assist
him in decrypting the intercepts. Asked directly about the Army’s radio intercept
facilities in Hawaii, Short told Senator Alben Barkley (D., KY), the chairman of the
Joint Congressional Committee established to investigate the disaster in 1945-46, “I

had no source of information outside Hawaii, except the War Department""'

Short failed to mention Station FIVE or his November 27 request. His discourse
with Barkley offered the opportunity to clear his reputation by focusing on the crucial
intercepts denied to his command. Traffic encrypted in the two most important
Japanese diplomatic code systems, Purple and the J series, passed through Station
FIVE's radio receivers at Fort Shafter. These included the Tokyo-Berlin,
Tokyo-Batavia, and Tokyo-Washington circuits encoded in the Purple code. FIVE
also intercepted the J series, which Japan's Foreign Ministry called the Tsu code. It
was the top code assigned to Japan’s Honolulu consulate for its radio contact with
Tokyo and had been broken by the Americans. The Purple machine was not assigned

to the consulate.

To foil Allied code-breakers, the Foreign Ministry changed the Tsu code three
times in 1941. The changes were ineffectual and were solved promptly by
cryptographers at Station US. Each solution was sent immediately by radio dispatch
to both Station CAST and HYPO. The first change, put into effect between January
and March, was labeled J-17 by Washington; April through May, J-18. The final
change, called J-19. remained in effect for six months—June through December 3. By
intercepting the J series. Station FIVE obtained the Tokyo spy orders transmitted in
the J-19 code system, which directed preparation of bomb plots for the Pacific Fleet
anchorages in Pearl Harbor. Short's intercept operators, unable to decode the bomb
plot messages, forwarded them to Washington. They were decoded and, when
translated, revealed the bomb plots—but Washington clammed up. Not a word of the

bomb plots that targeted Pearl Harbor was sent to Short or to Kimmel.

No record has been found indicating that General Short ever told Admiral

Kimmel of the intercept capability at Fort Shafter. Conversely. Kimmel
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apparently never told Short that the J-19 messages, and the earlier messages of 1941,
could be decrypted at Station HYPO.

America's West Coast was served by six Navy stations, which stretched 2400
miles from Sitka, Alaska, to Imperial Beach, near San Diego. California. Of the six,
SAIL copied all categories of Japanese naval and diplomatic message text while
ITEM, at Imperial Beach, was a special sentinel assigned to locate Japanese fleet units
approaching Hawaii and the West Coast. The other four stations were engaged solely
in radio direction-finder operations aimed at tracking Japanese merchant vessels and
warships throughout the Pacific. It was a "big tent" organization, for the stations re-
ceived electronic help from America's commercial radio firms such as RCA
Communications and Globe Wireless, which transmitted Japanese communications
between Tokyo and North, Central, and South America. Canadian stations were also
part of the ‘big tent." Monitor stations at Esquimalt and Ucluclet on British
Columbia’s Vancouver Island joined in tracking the Japanese vessels.'> All of these
intercept facilities sent intercepted Japanese messages along to Washington by

teleprinter for decoding and translating.

The Army had two intercept stations on the West Coast. One was called Station
TWO and was situated on the headlands or San Francisco's Army Presidio,
overlooking the straits of the Golden Gate. The other was Station FOUR at Quarry
Heights, near Balboa in the Panama Canal Zone. Their missions paralleled those of
the other two Army stations in the Pacific: the interception of Japanese diplomatic
messages. There were no processing facilities, so intercepts were sent by teleprinter to
the SIS in the Munitions Building, on the site now occupied by the Vietnam

Memorial.

The "splendid arrangement" required a plentiful supply of Japanese intercepts to
work. With the vast quantity of diplomatic codes and the naval intercepts, the network
had its hands full. Japan's Foreign Ministry used four separate diplomatic codes for
contacting overseas missions during 1941: Purple, the J Series, LA, and PA. Five of
the intercept stations in the Pacific were focused on these Tokyo diplomatic
broadcasts in 1941. The seeming redundancy was crucial; nothing could be left to
chance. Radio signals are easily disturbed by outside elements. Solar storms can
disrupt broadcasts here on earth. Transmissions intended for short distance sometimes

bounce halfway around the world during sun spot activity. Thus
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Army intercept stations in Manila. Honolulu, and San Francisco combined with two

Navy facilities—CAST on Corregidor and Seattle's SAIL—as a hedge against a loss.

Of the four code systems, Purple contained messages that involved the most
sensitive and important dispatches of the Japanese Foreign Ministry and its overseas
ambassadors. Every Purple message yielded strategic decisions involving the Axis
nations. In Berlin, Japanese Ambassador Baron Hiroshi Oshima frequently met with
Hitler and his lieutenants and learned secret German strategy. Oshima dutifully
passed along Hitlers secrets to Tokyo in the Purple Code. In fact. Roosevelt
discovered Germany's plans for the invasion of Russia through a Purple intercept on
June 14, 1941."

Purple was a two-step encryption system. In the first encryption step, prior to
radio dispatch, Ministry code clerks converted the Japanese text to Roman letters.
Then the coded text was further encrypted by an electronic cipher machine process

that used six rotor wheels to sequentially rearrange the Roman letters. "

To further foil American and Allied code-breakers, Japan issued separate
ambassadorial codes to her various embassies. For example, the Tokyo-Berlin Purple
system always remained cryptographically different from that of Tokyo-Washington.
Thus, for the United States to read Purple messages obtained from the Washington
and Berlin circuits, cryptographers had to solve each ambassadorial code first, then

translate the message into English.

The essential clement of the decoding process required reconstructing the cipher
machine and its daily wheel sequence. Without the machine and the sequences,
messages in the Purple system could not be read. Army cryptographic specialists led
by Colonel William Friedman of the SIS solved the intricacies of the Purple machine
in 1940 and constructed a prototype.

Friedman's staff produced their first decrypted message on September 25, 1940.
When they were satisfied that they had the machine down pat, prototypes were
reproduced by naval technicians at the Washington Naval Yard and sent to Station
US, to CAST, and to the British government. The machine was not sent to Hawaii
because the messages could be decrypted and translated at either CAST or
Washington and sent from there to Army and Navy commanders on Oahu. Rear
Admiral Leigh Noyes, the Director of Naval Communications, made the decision to

exclude Hawaii: “I knew
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perfectly well that CAST could decipher the diplomatic traffic and send it to

Honolulu." Noyes saw no point in a needless duplication of effort."’

The first step in decoding Purple messages required setting the daily letter
sequences for the six rotor wheels in proper order. Each wheel had letters of the
Roman alphabet engraved along the outside of its rim. Japan changed the sequence of
the letters every twenty-four hours at midnight. Each day, a different six-letter
sequence was used to signal how the alphabet would be encrypted. On a given day,
every E would translate to a different set of letter combinations, every P to another,
etc. There are billions of possible encryptions of the twenty-six-letter alphabet,

according to David Kahn, author of Codehreakers."”

Ensign Laurence L. MacKallor, who was the Navy's Purple decoding specialist
at CAST” and who personally guarded and transported the code machine from
Washington, explained how he obtained the daily decoding sequences for the Purple
code: "Normal traffic required a daily alphabetic sequence which determined the
order in which the letters of the electric typewriter were connected into the cipher box.
This sequence was usually recovered in the field [at CAST]. Sometimes the sequence
could be predicted in advance, as Japs reused a master book which had been partially
recovered. The sequence was usually recovered during the current day, but time of
recovery varied greatly with depth and quality of traffic." Between November 29 and
December 7, Commander Laurence Safford of Station US sent the daily Purple
sequences to CAST by radio dispatch. For example, FTNLQB was the setting for the
six wheels for November 29 and VUTHLD the sequence for December 5, according
to Safford.”

A second tier of Foreign Ministry codes—known in America as the J
series—played a pivotal role in pre-Pearl Harbor communications intelligence.
General Short's Station FIVE intercepted the J system but—as discussed
earlier—lacked expertise in decoding and translation. Between January 1 and
December 3, Ministry officials, confident that the code had not been compromised,
used Tsu for transmission of spy messages between Tokyo and Honolulu. For nearly
twelve months a constant flow of Tsu messages between Hawaii and Tokyo reported
operations of the Pacific Fleet and provided bomb plots of Battleship Row for

Japanese aviators assigned to the forthcoming attack.

American cryptographers knew the code’s techniques by heart, for
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they had first solved the J series in the 1920s. By 1941 Japan, hoping to outwit the
code-breakers, introduced minor variants of the code every three months. Each of the
three J series put into effect in 1941 was read and translated within a day's time.”

There was no outwitting America’s cryppies.

The J series was originally solved by what is politely referred to in cryptography
jargon as the "direct method." This involved things like burglary of the baggage of
Japanese Foreign Ministry couriers. Japan’s Foreign Ministry preprinted variations of
its code systems in separate code books that could be placed in effect at some future
date. Then Foreign Ministry couriers delivered dozens of the books to the overseas
missions. U.S. Naval intelligence officers learned a courier’s route and method of
transportation through decryption of radio dispatches such as this one directed to San
Francisco: "Courier Fukuda" will be aboard the Yawata Maru to arrive in your city on
April 24, 1941. Please arrange clearance through Customs." Navy men were happy to
facilitate the movement of Fukuda and his code books through Customs. They placed
officers on the docks, posing as customs agents, who opened the boxes containing the
code books, quickly photographed their contents, then resealed the boxes and passed
them through. Or the codes were bought outright. Agents in San Francisco paid
$40,000 to Chief Radio Officer T. Harada of the Yawata Maru for the Japanese

merchant-ship code Shin.”’

The most explosive controversy involving America's foreknowledge of Japan's
attack on Pearl Harbor centers on the Kaigun Attgo [Navy Code], a system of
twenty-nine separate naval codes. Japan used four of these systems to organize and
dispatch her warships to Hawaii by radio. America's "splendid arrangement" had
solved each of the four by the fall of 1941. So had the British, the Dutch, and the
Chinese government of Chiang Kaishek. A sixty-year cover-up has hidden American
and Allied success in obtaining the solutions to the Kaigun Ango prior to Pearl
Harbor. American naval officers hid key code documents from congressional
investigators. Naval intelligence records, deceptively altered, were placed in the US

Navy's cryptology files to hide the cryptographic success.”

The four primary systems were: (1) Code Book D, known to American
cryptographers as the 5-Num code; (2) a radio call sign code assigned to Japanese

officials, shore stations, warships, and Mams; (3) the Ship Movement
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code, a system for reporting arrival and departures of naval vessels from Japanese
ports and anchorages, known to Americans as the SM code: and (4) the Shin code,

. . . . 23
used for contacting vessels of the merchant marine, known as S code in America.

From July to December 7, 1941, Admiral Isoroku Yamamoto, com-
mander-in-chief of the Imperial Japanese Navy, transmitted his war orders using all
four systems. The orders consisted at first of directives organizing the various fleets
and assignment of personnel and then progressed to war assignments. Disclosure of
Japan's Hawaii plans came during a dramatic sixteen-day period between November
20 and December 6, when Yamamoto and his commanders took to the radio airwaves
and revealed that two forces were aimed at Hawaii: a main naval force moving across
the North Pacific—six aircraft carriers escorted by battleships, cruisers, and
destroyers plus a fuel train of seven tankers grouped together as the First Air
Fleet—and a second force composed of thirty submarines and auxiliary vessels
moving eastward through the Central Pacific. Both groups were under the tactical
command of Vice Admiral Chuichi Nagumo and collectively called the Kido Butai, or
Strike Force.”

Their encoded broadcasts over Japan's naval airwaves were intercepted at HYPO
and, by most accounts, at CAST. After fifty-nine years, two essential questions
remain: How promptly were the intercepts decoded and translated? Who in the United
States received the translations and what was done with the information? Duane
Whitlock, a traffic analyst at Station CAST, wrote that his unit was not reading the
Japanese naval codes in 1941. "I can assure those messages (Japan’s naval) were not
read until they were sifted out and read in 1946." By contrast. Admiral Thomas Hart,
commander-in- chief of the US Asiatic fleet was reading the intercepted messages
obtained by Station CAST, according to his 1941 flag lieutenant Charles Adair." The
official answers are no one and nothing, according to the joint congressional
investigations of 1945-46 and 1995. Both inquiries found that American
cryptographers had not solved Japan's naval codes and that the Japanese warships
were on radio silence and consequently were not discovered by American radio
direction finders. Congress was told that not even Japan's shore-based radio stations

disclosed any details pointing to Hawaii as the target. Congress did not find the truth.

Japan’s SM code first disclosed the Hawaii plans early in November.
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This code proved a gold mine for American cryptographers. It provided 210
movement reports of Japanese warships between November 2 and December 4. Every
class of warship is represented, from mine layers to the carriers of the First Air Fleet.

None of the SM dispatches were ever examined by Pearl Harbor investigators.”®

An example of 5-Num and SM decryption before the attack can be documented
through a CAST intercept of November 29. Lieutenant Rudolph J. Fabian,
co-commander of CAST, quotes directly from the SM code in a radio dispatch sent by
Vice Admiral Nobutake Kondo, commander of Japan's Second Fleet and the leader of
naval forces about to conquer the Philippines and overrun the Southeast Asia region:
"The Commander-in-Chief SECOND fleet indicates he will shift communications
from the Kure Communications Zone at 0400, on the 29th; from the Sasebo
Communication Zone at 0000, [on December] 1; and enter the Bako Communication
Zone (in the Pescadores Islands west of Formosa) at 0000, on December 2, thus
implying a move from Japan proper to the South." Fabian's report was delivered to the

Naval Aide to the President, according to McCollum’s assistant.”’

Fabian's report established that CAST's cryptographers were decrypting and
translating Japan's SM code as well as the radio call sign code. Cryptographer Albert
J. Pelletier, Jr., of Station US verified that the Navy had broken the SM code in 1941.
‘We were reading ninety percent of the messages," Pelletier wrote in the official
publication of the Naval Cryptographic Veterans Association, Cryptolog. in the

Summer 1992 issue.”

The key figure in Roosevelt’s "splendid arrangement” and in breaking the
5-Num code was Agnes Meyer Driscoll,” the Navy's chief civilian cryptanalyst. From
the mid-1920s to 1941. she was instrumental in solving every Japanese
naval-operations and ship-movement code. America's success in naval cryptography
had its beginnings at the start of World War 1. Its roots stem from a Shakespeare
commune™ established in Geneva, Illinois. by a Chicago textile merchant. The
commune attracted a young student of genetics just out of Cornell University,
William F. Friedman, who was hired by a merchant, George Fabyan, to improve
agriculture techniques on the Geneva farm. But another interest of Fabyan's,
cryptology, soon became Friedman's lifelong pursuit. Friedman's introduction to

cryptology centered on the writings of William Shakespeare and whether they
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were actually written by Francis Bacon. Fabyan had assembled Shakespeare scholars
on the farm and had Friedman, an expert photographer, copy words and phrases from
the Bard for comparisons with those of Bacon. Friedman used his photography skills
and with his future wife, Elizabeth (detesting Eliza, she substituted the E), developed
cryptographic means to pursue the Baconian research. Enormous publicity followed
the cryptographic quest and when America entered the war in 1917, Friedman's talent
as a cryptographer caught the eye of the US Army, which offered him a commission

in the newly formed code-breaking unit.

Agnes May Meyer joined the commune in February 1920 at the age of thirty,
when the Navy sent her to Geneva, which by then had evolved into a major training
center for military cryptography. She had patriotically joined the Navy Reserve in
June 1918 with special qualifications in physics, engineering, math, and statistics
earned at Ohio State University. Her skills were wanted by a new Navy unit called the
Code and Signal Section. Though fully qualified for an officer's commission, Meyer
was given a petty officer rating of Yeomanette. After completing classes at Fabyan’s
center, she resigned from the Navy and took a job with a firm engaged in developing
electronic cipher machines in Oakland, California. Meyer became an expert in the
concept of machine cryptography and on August 1. 1924, rejoined the Navy, this time
as a civilian. Assigned to the fledgling Codes and Cipher Section, she worked under
Laurence Safford and Joseph Rochefort in breaking Japanese codes. She was a fast
learner. From 1924 onward through World War 1I she solved every Japanese naval
code system. Rapidly she rose to the top in Navy cryptology and became the principal
civilian cryptanalyst. She married Washington attorney William Driscoll in 1924. But
among the cryppics of the Code and Cipher Section she was known as Miss Aggie or
Madame X.”'

Edwin Layton, later head of Intelligence for the Pacific Fleet, worked with her in
the summer of 1936.”> Warned that she was touchy, Layton was told not to patronize
her because she was sensitive to her role as a woman in a man's world. He noticed that
she kept to herself both at work and socially. “None of us were ever invited to social
events hosted by the Driscolls," Layton wrote. “She could be warm and friendly but
usually affected an air or intense detachment, heightened by her tailored clothes and

lack of facial makeup." Sometimes Layton's cars picked out her voice:
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"She could curse as fluently as any sailor." Rochefort recalled that she always turned
pages with the eraser end of her pencil and never used her fingers as page turners.
Eventually the Codes and Ciphers section became Station US, where in June 1939
Driscoll first identified Japan's switch to the 5-Num code and supervised the Navy’s
efforts at decryption. Of course the Navy could not publicly credit her with the
solution. Not to do so was a deliberate decision devised to mask America's success in

learning Japanese military secrets.

Driscoll formed a cryptographic team, the first Americans to identify the system.
It appeared simple enough—groups of five numbers substituted for a Japanese word,
hence the 5-Num code label. Japan tacked on addition or subtraction numbers to the
original 5-Num group to confuse American and allied cryptographers. Two change
techniques were used—one for the morning, the other for afternoon use. For
encrypted messages. 11111 might be added to the basic 5-Num group in the morning
and subtracted in the afternoon. Japan believed their 5-Num system to be unbreakable.
But Driscoll was able to crack it when she realized it was similar to a code used by the

. . . . 33
American government in the Spanish- American War.

Documents concerning the 5-Num Code remain classified, but it is clear from
Admiral Ingersoll's statement that the code produced intelligible messages as early as
October 4. 1940. The FBI confirmed the Navy's decoding success on October 21,
1940, and reported the feat in Department of Justice records.”

Driscoll's cryptographic team prepared written instructions for solving the
5-Num system and issued them as Radio Intelligence Publication (RIP) 73. Revisions
of RIP 73 were issued by Washington as RIP 80 in March and July 1941.*° With these
revisions, cryptographers al CAST and HYPO had the capability to supply Generals
MacArthur and Short and Admirals Hart and Kimmel with Yamamoto's plan of
attack.

Sometime in the fall of 1941 the latest techniques for solving the 5- Num code
were issued from Station US—presumably by Driscoll and her team, headed by
Ensign Prescott Currier—and sent to Hawaii so HYPO's cryptographers could
produce decodes of Yamamoto's military plans for Admiral Kimmel. Yet the crucial
decode details—presumably the latest version of RIP 73 or RIP 80—did not arrive in

Hawaii until after the
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attack. The Department of Defense has refused to release delivery details. Even the

1995 Joint Congressional inquiry failed to probe this question.

This much is known: in the fall of 1941, a revised solution to the 5-Num system
was sent to Hawaii on apparently the slowest boat in the Navy.*® The solution would
have let Admiral Kimmel in on Japan's secrets. A Navy document admits that the
solution of elements of the 5-Num code was sent to HYPO from Station US in the
autumn of 1941. This is an astonishing disclosure, for it directly contradicts postwar
claims that the code was not readable until 1942 or early 1943. The Navy's admission,
couched in caveats, boils down to this: On an undisclosed date, wrapped in an
undisclosed package, carried by an undisclosed officer-courier, the 5-Num secrets

were transported to Hawaii on an undisclosed vessel.

Inside the the package(s) were the means to break open Japan's Pearl Harbor
plans, which had been transmitted over the airwaves and intercepted by the hundreds
at Station H. As of December 6, Admiral Nagumo had originated 844 secret radio
messages" in the 5-Num code, according to Japanese records. America’s Stations
CAST and HYPO obtained the messages, but apparently did not issue translated
decryptions—nor, incredibly, did Station US, which had the solution to 5-Num that
had been prepared by Driscoll and Currier. A total blackout concealed Nagumo's

dispatches, and all Kimmel received was silence.

Only on the day when Admiral Husband Kimmel was fired, December 16, 1941,
did the head of the Pacific Fleet get access to the intelligence community's most vital
information. On that day Kimmel's temporary successor, Vice Admiral William Pye,
received Admiral Nagumo's Message 845. In Nagumo's comprehensive radio
dispatch to Tokyo, he reported the damage inflicted on the Pacific Fleet during the
"surprise attack." Rochefort and his cryptographers at HYPO immediately intercepted

and produced a long decryption—too late.”®

Admiral Kimmel and the Pacific Fleet should have been the principal
beneficiaries of the "splendid arrangement." That was the intent of Commander
Laurancc Safford, head of Station US, who had detailed Rochefort and nearly 140
military cryptographers and radio intercept operators to Kimmel by June I. Starling on
July 15. 1941, the cryptographers of Station HYPO, using intercepts from the four
code systems of the Kaigutt Aiigo, began providing Admiral Kimmel with a daily

summary of Japanese naval
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operations. By the morning of December 6, when he received his final prewar
summary, at least 112,000 Japanese naval intercepts had been obtained by Station H.
But intercepts that indicated a Japanese strike at American territory never appeared in
the summary. Nor did any of the 844 messages dispatched by the First Air Fleet as it
planned for the Pearl Harbor raid.

During President Roosevelt's fourth-term campaign in 1944, Republican
candidate Thomas E. Dewey’’ learned of the "splendid arrangement” and saw in it the
political means to defeat Roosevelt. He reasoned, if the White House was reading
Japanese messages leading up to the attack, why were our forces in the Pacific caught
so woefully unprepared? In the autumn of 1944, Dewey planned a series of stump
speeches charging Roosevelt with advance knowledge of Japan's plan to attack Pearl

Harbor. Dewey's proof was the intercepted Japanese messages.

His plans were impolitic, to say the least. War was raging in the Pacific and lists
of American casualties were printed in the newspapers daily. Japan remained a
wounded but formidable enemy. Japanese naval leaders did not realize that the
Kaigun Ango codes had been solved by US codebreakers. Candidate Dewey risked
sacrificing America's code-breaking advantage at a time when learning Japanese
strategy was still a powerful factor in major battles. Japan would have immediately
changed her code systems. General George Marshall, then chairman of the Joint
Chiefs of Staff, persuaded Dewey to call off the code controversy. "American lives

are at peril," Marshall aptly warned.

In 1999, almost sixty years later, the government has not released details
regarding the delivery of the 5-Num slow-boat package despite the author's FOIA
requests. Questions abound. Why weren’t Nagumo's 5-Num radio messages detailing
the First Air Fleet's advance on Hawaii delivered to Admiral Kimmel? The secrecy
surrounding the slow-boat delivery is confounding. The Purple Code delivery to
Manila and Churchill has been fully disclosed. When the Purple solutions were
shipped to the Philippines for use by General MacArthur and Admiral Hart in January
1941, extraordinary security procedures prescribed by Naval Regulations were
scrupulously followed and documented. Ensign MacKallor has told how he took
charge of five packages containing RIP 72 and RIP 77—the former, the Navy's secret

designation for the Purple Machine, the latter its code solutions
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and the instructions for its use.* According to MacKallor's written report, the
shipment contained an instruction book, an electric typewriter connected to a cipher
box. and a daily six-Roman-letter sequence that determined the settings of six cipher

wheels that, used in combination, unmasked the coded Japanese text.

MacKallor armed himself with a pistol, took his crated packages to
Washington’s Union Station, and on January 19 boarded a transcontinental train to
Los Angeles. He arrived in San Pedro on January 26 and headed for the USS Sepuiga,
an armed Navy tanker anchored in the Los Angeles harbor. MacKallor’s chore was
not easy. He loaded his crated secrets into a small boat and set out across choppy
waters to the gangway of the Sepulga for transportation to Station CAST. It was a
long trip. En route the tanker developed steering problems and returned to Los

Angeles for repairs. She didn't reach Manila until March 25.

At about the same time that courier MacKallor started his journey to CAST, a
similar ocean voyage began in Annapolis and transported two Purple machines and
the 5-Num solutions to England so that Prime Minister Winston Churchill could share
in the "splendid arrangement." On January 24, two auto caravans left Washington for
Annapolis Roads in the Chesapeake Bay and the midchannel anchorage of the HMS
King George V, one of Britain’s formidable battleships. Lord Halifax, the new British
ambassador to the United States, and his wife were arriving on the battleship.
President Roosevelt,*' in a demonstration of British-American solidarity, headed a
reception party that included Secretary of the Navy Frank Knox, presidential military
aide Major General Edwin Watson, and presidential naval aide Captain Daniel
Callaghan. The presidential group left the While House, drove to Annapolis, boarded

the warship, and welcomed the envoy to the United States.

At the same time another caravan, this one made up of Navy station wagons,
headed for the King George V. Inside the vehicles were two Purple machines, their
operating instructions, and solutions to Japanese naval codes including the 5-Num
code and the radio call signs.* Four American military officers guarded the secret
cargo: Major Abraham Sinkov and Captain Leo Rosen of the Army's Signal
Intelligence Service, and Lieutenant Robert H. Weeks and Ensign Prescott Currier of
Station US. The two Army officers were experts on the Purple Code; they were part of
the
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team that discovered its solution in September 1940. Weeks and Currier were
America's specialists in Japanese naval codes, especially the 5-Num. In a driving
rainstorm, the four code-breakers loaded their cargo into an open boat and sailed out

to the battleship, where the secret cargo and the four officers were brought aboard.

After the Roosevelt party escorted the ambassador ashore the battleship departed
for England, arriving at the Scapa Flow Dock Yard February 6. The Americans and
their crates were transported to the British code-breaking unit outside London called
the Government Codes and Cipher School, where the machines and codes were
delivered to Edward Travis, second in command. After instructing the British in the
complexities of the code systems the Americans returned to the United States. Travis
sent one Purple machine and the solutions of the Japanese naval codes to the British

cryptographic unit at Singapore.

Churchill was now plugged into Japanese diplomatic and military strategy. Still
the "splendid arrangement" was not in full operation in the Pacific, because experts in
solving the 5-Num code remained in Washington. So in March and April 1941 three
Navy code-breakers, schooled in the solutions of the 5-Num code at Station US,
prepared to leave Washington for fleet assignments—Lieutenant John Lietwiler to
Station CAST and Lieutenant Robert Weeks to the Atlantic Fleet's flagship, USS
Augusta. Ensign Prescott Currier,” one of the Navy’s brightest code-breakers, got the
assignment to Station HYPO and the Pacific Fleet. Directives were issued ordering
CAST and HYPO to work on the 5-Num code jointly, and to supply decoded
translations to their respective commanders. Admirals Thomas Hart and Husband

Kimmel.

In the Atlantic, Lieutenant Robert Weeks was ordered to the USS Augusta, and
its commander, Admiral Ernest King.** The code-breaking plan was indeed a
"splendid arrangement." Allied leaders Roosevelt and Churchill were plugged in; so
were the British and American naval commands. An additional exchange included

General MacArthur in Manila and the Dutch Army and Navy in Batavia.

Suddenly in late April the plans for distributing the solutions to the 5- Num code
to America's military leaders crashed. Admiral Kimmel was cut from the loop—but

the other major commanders were not. The severance
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was done this way: Currier was held in Washington and his orders to the Pacific Fleet
canceled. But Lietwiler and Weeks continued to their new posts: Lietwiler to CAST
and Weeks to the Augusta. Cover stories designed to mask the Kimmel cut-off
abound. An official history of Navy intercept operations of the Pacific War claims
that the 5-Num code was never described to. assigned to, or exploited by HYPO until
after December 7. But other Navy records dispute the claim. In November 1940, for
example, special IBM sorting equipment for use in decrypting the 5-Num code was
ordered for HYPO.

Recoveries of the 5-Num code obtained by Station US and the British Singapore
unit were received by CAST in March 1941, according to a secret dispatch sent by
Admiral Hart.*® who described the Singapore decryption activities: “The British
employ three officers and twenty clerks on this system alone" A handwritten note on
Hart's dispatch indicates that both Singapore and Station US had obtained at least
8200 recoveries in the 5-Num system and expected to obtain more. Another notation
disclosed that HYPO would begin solution of 5-Num in July 1941. But the most as-
tonishing disclosure on Hart’s typewritten message is a handwritten margin note
which directs that the dispatch be removed from Navy files and a dummy message
substituted in its place. The order apparently came from Captain Joseph Redman,
Assistant Director of Navy Communications. Redman's directive has hidden the
contents of Hart’s dispatch and the margin notes from every Pearl Harbor
investigation. It disclosed the successful British effort aimed at penetrating the 5-Num
system and set up a cryptographic red line for Admiral Kimmel: he would receive
nothing from cither Purple or 5-Num. His Purple Machine went to Singapore, and the

5-Num code was sent to him on the slow boat.

Kimmel’s cut-off was orchestrated by Rear Admiral Royal Ingersoll, Assistant
Chief of Naval Operations, who ordered CAST to supply intercepts from the Purple
and 5-Num codes to Hart and General MacArthur but omitted any reference to
Admiral Kimmel. General George Marshall, head of the US Army, knew of the
arrangement. So did Captain Alan Kirk, Director of Naval Intelligence, Redman, and

Commander Laurance Safford, head of Station US.*

In 1988, Prescott Currier’ declined to give his version of the 5-Num cut-off:

"Public disclosure of any aspect of intelligence collection is a bad

80



THE SPLENDID ARRANGEMENT

thing; it calls undue attention to something we would much prefer to pass unnoticed."
Currier had been assigned to Kimmel, but his June posting to the Pacific Fleet was
canceled by Washington. Lieutenant Weeks and his Japanese code expertise arrived
aboard the Augusta while the warship docked in Newport, Rhode Island, on June 15.
So by the end of June 1941, the major American military commanders and the British
government were plugged into the "splendid arrangement"—all except Admiral
Kimmel and General Short in Hawaii, where, as far as Japanese intercepts were
concerned, mum was the word. This cryptographic blackout was applied only to

.: 48
Hawaii.

Congress tried to obtain details on the 5-Num distribution controversy during the
1945-46 investigation. Senator Homer Ferguson (R.. Michigan) asked for the 5-Num
intercepts. His request was derailed by Democratic members of the committee.
Instead of producing the Japanese naval intercepts for Ferguson, the Democrats
introduced the dubious "Winds Code." Supposedly the ‘Winds Code" was a variation
of a proposed Japanese weather-report message that, if dispatched or broadcast on
overseas radio channels, indicated a break in diplomatic relations and subsequent war
with any or all of three countries: the United States, Great Britain, or Russia But there

is no proof that the “Winds Code" was ever transmitted by Japan.*’

On November 28 Japan's Foreign Ministry first outlined the now discredited
"Winds Code" in a secret radio message to its diplomatic posts and missions.
Anticipating that communications would be severed by host countries, the ministry
devised phrases with secret meanings to indicate war moves. Wind directions would
be the key words in regular Tokyo news broadcasts: "east wind rain" would mean war
with the United States, "west wind clear" would mean war with Britain, and "north

wind cloudy" would mean war with Russia.>

News of the "Winds Code" system created a media sensation during the
congressional hearings. Reporters focused on the "Winds Code" and lost interest in
the less fantastic naval intercepts. Eventually the controversy was dismissed when
Congress learned that the implementing weather message was never transmitted by

Japan. By then the 5-Num dispatches had been forgotten.

Every 1941 intercept of the Japanese navy remained sequestered in
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American files until 1979. when President Jimmy Carter’' released a small number of
English translations of pre-Pearl Harbor intercepts to the National Archives. These
intercepts originated in the fall of 1941 and were obtained by US naval monitoring
stations on Guam. Corregidor, and Hawaii. Even Carter's cautious declassification
order was circumvented by National Security Agency officials, who blacked out all
references to code systems before delivering them to the Archives. The documents
released publicly only hid American success in solving Tokyo's encoded naval radio

messages prior to the Pearl Harbor raid.

The US National Security Agency (NSA) defended its failure to release
information involving American cryptographic success with Japan's naval systems.
'It's in the public interest," according to David W. Gaddy, chief historian of NSA. He
explained the censorship: “The subject cannot be debated publicly; the government
cannot disclose the basis for its position if the basis is itself part of the secret it must

protect as part of its obligation to secure the public interest.>

A Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) request filed by the author asked the
National Archives to restore the blacked-out information on the Japanese intercepts
for publication in this book. The request was granted in 1987 for the author's copies
but not for the public viewing copies on exhibit at Archives II. Today, most blackouts
on the pre-Pearl Harbor intercepts still conceal the 5-Num code designator used by the
Japanese navy. These seemingly innocuous five-number sequences continue to hold
the secret to understanding Japanese communications during World War IT and—far

more revealingly—the secrets to American officials' moves to obscure them.
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CHAPTER 6

THE OUTSIDE MAN

ALOHA TOWER
HONOLULU WATERFRONT
TERRITORY OF HAWAII
MARCH 27. 1941

BY THE CLOSING MONTHS OF 1941. AMERICA WAS INTERCEPTING AND

breaking—within a matter of hours—most every code that Japan could produce.
When December began, the cryptologists who had labored over the codes were not
surprised to leant that some of them originated on American soil: they had long

known that there was a spy operating in their midst.

As he strolled down Bishop Street toward the waterfront piers adjacent to
Honolulu's Aloha Tower, Chief Yeoman Ted Emanuel checked his image reflected
in a storefront window. He had reason to be looking his best. It was Boat Day—the
arrival of an overseas passenger liner at Honolulu's Aloha Tower piers. Traditionally,
each Boat Day was the occasion for one of Hawaii's most festive ceremonies. It was
definitely a dress-up event. Emanuel was proud of his image reflected in the
glass—tropical blooms covered every inch of his short-sleeved aloha shirt in a busy
design of Hawaiian hibiscus, poinsettia, and bougainvillea. He carried a Leica

camera hidden underneath his shirt: he was pan of a clandestine naval
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intelligence team ordered by President Roosevelt to meet and survey every Japanese
vessel docking at Honolulu. As early as August 10, 1936, Roosevelt had circulated a
secret memorandum declaring: "Every Japanese citizen or noncitizen on the Island of
Oahu who meets these Japanese ships or who has any connection with their officers
and men should be secretly but definitely identified and his or her name placed on a
special list of those who would be the first to be placed in a concentration camp in the

event of trouble."

Emanuel was the Navy’s senior undercover agent in Hawaii, assigned to
maintain surveillance on suspected Japanese agents. On this particular Boat Day, his
mission was to obtain a surreptitious photograph of a suspected Japanese navy spy
arriving under diplomatic cover on the Nitta Maru, a luxurious passenger liner.
Satisfied that the camera was obscured but that the lens could capture an image
through a small hole cut into his shirt’s floral design, Emanuel decided to test the
arrangement. When he extended his arms in a waving motion, he could trip the shutter
by stretching a concealed cable and wine release. The click of the shutter assured
Emanuel that the camera worked. He hurried along Bishop Street to Pier 8. The Nitta
Maru was scheduled to dock earlier than expected. She had arrived during the night

and was anchored offshore in Mamala Bay, awaiting Customs clearance.'

Emanuel's target was the Japanese spy Tadashi Morimura. who was scheduled to
assume the post of chancellor in the Japanese Consulate. The position was a
responsible diplomatic job, usually assigned to seasoned, experienced members of the
foreign service. Morimura’s posting aroused suspicions within America’s intelligence
community, because he was young and not listed in the official Japanese Diplomatic
Registry. Japan rarely sent twenty-seven-year-olds to fill such important consular
posts. His real name was Ensign Takeo Yoshikawa; under the cover name of
Morimura he had been detailed to Hawaii for espionage purposes. Yoshikawa had
graduated from Japan's naval academy, Eta Jima, in the late 1930s. Japanese naval
authorities decided that a navy officer was needed to observe military operations on
Oahu and spy on the Pacific Fleet. His job called for him to gather fleet operational
details, to obtain Hawaiian maps including photographs, and then to assemble them

into an intelligence picture for use by Japanese torpedo and bombing pilots.’
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Morimura would provide the operational intelligence on Pearl Harbor using the
Tsu radio code in the J series of Japanese Foreign Ministry codes. For eight months in
1941, Morimura used the Tsu code and gradually presented Pearl Harbor as the target
for Japan's bomber and torpedo pilots. On December 3, he switched to a simple
diplomatic code known as PA for his final messages before the attack. American
cryptographers had already broken the Tsu system as well as PA and could intercept,
decode, and translate the dispatches within a day’s time. Morimura's succession of
Tsu dispatches, along with the final PA, confirmed that Pearl Harbor was a primary

Japanese bombing target.

Morimura was allowed to operate freely throughout 1941, American authorities,
including Roosevelt, never curtailed his espionage. Morimura was able to supply
Admiral Yamamoto with highly accurate bombing charts of Pearl Harbor and other
US Army and Navy targets on Oahu. On December 6 Morimura's work was complete.

He notified the Japanese carrier force:

THERE ARE NO BARRAGE BALLOONS AT THESE PLACES—AND A CONSIDERABLE
OPPORTUNITY IS LEFT FOR A SURPRISE ATTACK.?

From the eve of Morimura's arrival in Honolulu onward. Rear Admiral Walter
Anderson placed a protective veil around the espionage conducted from the Japanese
consulate. According to a memorandum issued by J. Edgar Hoover, Anderson told the
FBI's special agent Robert Shivers, the agent in charge of the Honolulu Field Office,
that the Navy would conduct the espionage investigation, not the FBI. Hoover
indicated that the admiral had taken over the investigation with the FBI's approval.®
Anderson was in a unique spot to oversee and control the espionage investigations.
Before leaving Washington as Director of Naval Intelligence, he placed Navy
intelligence officers in two key Hawaiian posts: he named Lieutenant Commander
Edwin Layton as head of intelligence for the Pacific Fleet and Captain Irving
Mayfield as director of intelligence investigations for the Fourteenth Naval District,
which included all the Hawaiian Islands as well as American-controlled bases
throughout the Central Pacific.

After completing two weeks of sea duty training in air raid drills aboard his
flagship, the USS West Virginia, Admiral Anderson had arrived
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back in Pearl Harbor.” On March 26, the day before Morimura’s arrival, Anderson
met with Robert Shivers, the FBI chief in Hawaii, and reiterated the orders from

Hoover: Navy Intelligence was in charge of the Morimura surveillance, not the FBI.

Special Agent Shivers supervised sixteen FBI special agents. The group worked
out of the second-floor FBI Field Office in the Dillingham Transportation Building in
downtown Honolulu. All were eager to investigate espionage involving personnel
attached to Japan’s Honolulu consulate. About mid-October 1940, shortly after
Arthur McCollum proposed his eight actions, the FBI had been asked to refer
investigations of Hawaiian espionage to Navy Intelligence. Hoover passed the policy
along to Shivers—then sent another letter warning that the Japanese government
planned to detail Japanese naval officers, disguised as clerks, to spy on American
facilities. Shivers' professional ethics were apparently offended. Haw was he to

investigate espionage by Japanese naval officers and at the same time stand aside?

On October 31 Shivers protested the stand-aside orders to his boss: "This office
has acquired considerably more information concerning the Japanese situation and
has developed a much larger number of Japanese informants than the office of the
Naval Intelligence. We are better equipped with superior investigative personnel."’
Shivers' response to his order must have exasperated Hoover, for on December 14,
1940, the FBI director tried again: 'The Federal Bureau of Investigation is not
equipped with translators, interpreters, and informants and cannot undertake the full

responsibility for Japanese espionage until it is equipped to do so."

Contrary to
Hoover’s assertions, however, Shivers did employ Japanese translators and
informants in Honolulu. The informants were first rale—wiretaps on the consulate's

telephones that provided inside ears into the activities taking place.

Hoover's memorandum, filed with the Army's Pearl Harbor investigation, relates
a continuing tug-of-war with Shivers over espionage probes in Hawaii, Hoover
confirms that he enlisted the aid of Captain Walter Anderson of ONI in trying to
curtail Shivers' espionage investigations. Most of what transpired during the
Anderson-Shivers meeting aboard the West Virginia remains unavailable. Attorney
General Janet Reno has refused to declassify secret FBI files on the matter, citing
FOIA rules that prohibit
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disclosing national defense secrets.” But now-retired FBI agent Frederick G. Tillman,

who was the case agent assigned to Morimura in 1941, has provided some details. "

Morimura's journey from Tokyo to Honolulu aboard the Nitta Mani was tracked
by American intelligence. The first break had come on March 8, when Foreign
Minister Yosuke Matsuoka unwittingly tipped off American intelligence officials in a
cablegram to Honolulu: "Secretary Morimura being sent to Honolulu consulate.""
The Nippu Jiji, a Japanese newspaper published in Honolulu, reported Morimura's
appointment and arrival date. For the next nineteen days. US intelligence relied on a
variety of intelligence data, including clear-text radio messages, J code intercepts, and

State Department correspondence, to track Morimura to Honolulu. "

When the Nitta Mam arrived in the Mamala Bay quarantine anchorage,
Morimura remained in his cabin and awaited the arrival of Otojiro Okuda, the vice
consul. Unlike Morimura, Okuda was a thirty-seven-year- old career diplomat of the
Japanese Foreign Ministry. He had reported to the consulate post on June 10, 1940,
with his wife and two young sons. Employees of the consulate regarded Okuda as
snooty and were overheard on the wiretap describing him as "disgustingly drunk" at
parties. When Consul General Kiichi Gunji was recalled to Japan in September,
Okuda became acting consul-general and the diplomatic spokesman for Japan in
Hawaii. His speeches were not exactly diplomatic. On Armistice Day. November 11,
1940, Okuda blamed the Western nations for the Japanese- Chinese conflict and cited
as a root cause Commodore Matthew Perry’s 1853 expedition to Japan, which had
opened up trade with the West: ‘Since Japan opened her door against her will, she was
compelled to face and combat Western aggression in Asia.""> Okuda was more than a
spokesman for his country. According to the Navy wiretaps and FBI reports, he
supervised the gathering of military information pertaining to Army units in the
Hawaiian Islands and particularly the operations of the United States Pacific Fleet al
the Pearl Harbor naval base. On August 22, 1941, Tillman had identified Okuda as

‘the man at the consulate who is concerned with intelligence matters.""*

Morimura had been sent to Hawaii to serve as Okuda's "outside man"—a polite
term then used by the intelligence fraternity for a spy. He was single, a handsome

twenty-seven-year-old with somewhat Caucasian
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features. His only avocations were wine, women, and song, and a large part of his

every day and night was spent in indulging them.

The State Department saw the same puzzling questions in Morimura’s
background that Navy intelligence saw. They couldn't find his name in the Japanese
foreign registry. Nor was Japan precise on Morimura's title. In their application for his
diplomatic entry to the United States, the Foreign Ministry listed him as "Chancellor,"
yet in Honolulu he was announced as a "Secretary." These inconsistencies

immediately flagged Morimura as suspicious.

Two naval investigators. Theodore (Ted) Emanuel and Lieutenant Denzel Carr,
were on hand for the Nitta Maru's arrival.” The US Navy’s Inspector-General
Captain W. S. Kilpatrick had praised Carr’s work as "unequaled by anyone else in the

nl

United States naval intelligence service."'® Carr joined the Customs inspection party
posing as a health officer while with his concealed camera Emanuel look up a position
on the dock. At six o'clock in the morning Carr and the Customs party climbed up the
Jacob's ladder and boarded the ship in the anchorage. Its manifest designated
thirty-three passengers debarking at Honolulu. Carr looked it over and spotted
Morimura's name. Carr bided his time: he expected Vice Consul Okuda to arrive on

board when the ship docked and escort Morimura ashore.'’

The vessel received permission to dock at Pier 8, alongside the Aloha Tower.
Confetti streamed through the air as the gangplank was lowered and secured. The
Royal Hawaiian Band struck up "Aloha Oe," the haunting musical greeting composed
by Queen Liliuokalani, Hawaii's last monarch.'® Carr mingled with the Customs
officials and watched Okuda bound up the gangway and head for Morimura's cabin.
Okuda remained in the cabin for about thirty minutes, then escorted Morimura past
the Customs boarding party to the liner’s gangway, where both debarked about 8:45
A. M. Emanuel waited dockside and watched for a signal from Carr. As the two
Japanese started down the gangway. Carr touched the top of his head. Emanuel saw
the signal, began waving his arms as if greeting someone. and triggered his camera. "’
The two naval intelligence officers then returned to their headquarters in the
Alexander Young Building, a short distance away. The next day. March 28, Emanuel

placed Morimura on the Navy's Group A espionage-suspect list.”’
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Copies of the Navy's espionage alert were delivered to the FBI's Honolulu field
office and to the intelligence officers for Admiral Kimmel and General Short. After
the war, both Kimmel and Short testified that their intelligence officers did not inform
them either of Emanuel's alert or that Morimura was under surveillance. Of the three
intelligence agencies headquartered in Hawaii, only Shivers reacted sharply to
Morimura’s Class A espionage status. Ignoring directives from both Hoover and
Anderson, Shivers placed a special watch headed by Tillman on the Japanese con-

sulate.”!

"We did not put a tight surveillance on him," Tillman said in 1990. "We couldn't
do much around the consulate. The Stale Department told us not to monkey with the
consulate. So we didn’t. We would have gotten there (into the consulate) a little earlier

if it wasn’t for that. The consulate members were sacrosanct. Holy, you know."

Morimura didn't do much work in the consulate office, according to Tillman. "It
came to our attention that he was the outside man. He spent most of his time outside
the consulate. We would see him in the downtown areas and at various locations on
Oahu. Once I tailed him to a Honolulu shoe store and watched while he purchased two
pairs of shoes. I believed he planned a return to his homeland. Since leather shoes
were difficult to obtain in Japan, I thought he was purchasing them to wear back
home." Nearly fifty years after Pearl Harbor, Tillman said that the decrypted in-
tercepts that were denied him would have made a crucial difference in curtailing
Morimura’s activities. “I was not aware or told about the interceptions until after the
[Pearl Harbor] attack. Headquarters did send us a picture of him in late November,
about two weeks before the raid. But the photo did not justify an arrest. Though we
named him as a suspected spy, without the intercepts there was no way we could could
prove in court what he was doing. We were not provided the intercept evidence. He

had a right to go into the heights that overlooked Pearl Harbor."

Tillman does not believe Morimura was aware of the FBI's scrutiny. "Our eyes
met at times, but I don’t think he was wise to the loose surveillance." There was also
the wiretap on Morimura’s personal consulate telephone. The wiretaps gave advance
warning of his trips to the country, which were usually followed by telephone calls to
RCA or Mackay—both radio cable firms—for a messenger boy. Tillman did not

follow Morimura
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when he went to various parts of the islands. “No need to." said the G-Man. “We knew

what he was up to."”

Shivers forwarded Emanuel's warning to Hoover. For the next eight months
American intelligence officials in Washington monitored Morimura’s reports. But
none of the Morimura Tsu and PA messages were ever seen by those who needed

them most: Kimmel. Short, Hoover, Shivers, or even Tillman.*

Morimura was not particularly liked by the consulate's professional diplomats.
As aware as US authorities that he was r.ot included in Japan's Diplomatic Register
and was using diplomatic cover, they saw him as encroaching on their territory.
Kokichi Seki, the consulate's thirty-nine-year- old Third Secretary, was particularly
miffed at Morimura. Originally, Seki had been responsible for spy reports on the
Pacific Fleet. He was Okuda’s first "outside man," from mid-December 1940 to late
March 1941. Cautioned not to enter or photograph American military bases, Seki
traveled on local roads and identified the best scouting locations. The consulate's 1937

Ford sedan, driven by Richard Kotoshirodo, was used for the trips.

Kotoshirodo, twenty-five, held dual citizenship and worked as a consulate clerk.
During the first week of January 1941, Kotoshirodo and Seki went to several of the
high vantage points surrounding Pearl Harbor. Rolling down the Ford's window for
clear views, the spies took a census of the Pacific Fleet. Their first spy excursion of the
New Year counted nearly seventy major warships in the harbor and provided a
benchmark for Admiral Yamamoto's future war planning. Distinguishing
characteristics of the ships were noted, including the number of scouting aircraft
carried by battleships and cruisers. When confronted with his activities in 1943. Ko-
loshirodo would acknowledge what he had done, though denying responsibility. “I
understood that I was gathering naval information for the Japanese government when
I made these trips, but I gave no thought as to what my superiors in the consulate were

going to do with it."**

On January 6, 1941, Acting Consul-General Okuda summarized their
observations of the Pacific Fleet in Pearl Harbor in a 191-word report and encoded the
message in the J Code. Before telephoning for a messenger from the local office of
Mackay Radio & Telegraph, Okuda inserted a designator that meant that the message
was intended for delivery to the Imperial Japanese Navy. It was a single five-number

group near the beginning
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of the message, plus a five-letter group positioned at the start of the text, The letter

.. . 25
group was distinguished by a consonant-vowel-consonant-vowel-consonant pattern.

By placing the designator groups at the beginning of the message, Okuda
unknowingly sent the report to the attention of Roosevelt and Churchill. Since
Mackay was British-owned, Churchill had access to these messages. Documents
reveal that Mackay’s Washington office supplied copies of the spy reports to the
White House. Both US and British intelligence knew that these designator patterns
signaled espionage reports. American radio intercept stations in the Pacific were
directed to send any Japanese spy messages containing the designators to Washington
by priority dispatch. The first messages received in Washington disclosed Japan's
interest in the number of warships at Pearl Harbor. Later in the year the reports
progressed to bombing plots of the anchorage and the eventual recommendation that

the American fleet at Pearl represented an opportunity for a surprise attack.

Mackay Radio & Telegraph began transmitting Okuda’s text, labeled H-4, to
Tokyo. As soon as the message hit Tokyo's airwaves it was intercepted by the US
Army Signal Corps in San Francisco.”® Unknown to Okuda and other Japanese
officials, the Honolulu spy reports were at the top of America's watch list. Each report
was flagged for American intelligence agencies by the designator system. Okuda
radioed eight espionage reports to Tokyo during January 1941. And every radio
message was transmitted by Mackay and intercepted by Army monitoring stations.
The most successful of these was the intercept facility at Fort Winfield Scott in the
San Francisco Presidio, known as Station TWO. Fort Scott operators intercepted
seven messages, including H-4 of January 6, 1941. The intercepts were then
forwarded to Station US in Washington, where cryptographers and translators
confirmed that the messages were in the J series. Decoding and translating took only a

27

day.” Each translated message—called a "smooth message" in cryptographic

jargon—was distributed by McCollum to officials in the Roosevelt Administration.
Spy message H-4 was fully decoded and translated in Washington on January 10,
four, days after its interception at Fort Winfield Scott. Admiral Yamamoto received

his copy about the same time. He noted that the Seki- Kotoshirodo team admitted

errors in a December 1940 spy report and
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erroneously identified Navy patrol boats anchored in Pearl Harbor as minesweepers.
This sloppy reporting was unacceptable to Tokyo and prompted the departure of

Ensign Takeo Yoshikawa (as Morimura) to Pearl Harbor.

Once Morimura had arrived on Hawaiian soil, Seki guided him to observation
points where Pacific Fleet operations in Pearl Harbor could be observed. Over the
weekend of March 29-30, the pair hired a taxicab and scouted the fleet's operations.
However, their alliance did not last. Okuda was embarrassed by Seki's past
identification errors, and besides, the spies did not work well together. Seki resented
the younger and less experienced man. He complained about Morimura's pursuit of
after-hours pleasures and his drunken binges. But reining in Morimura was out of the
question for Seki. It was Morimura s job to correct Seki's earlier errors. He had come
to Hawaii with the backing of the highest levels of the Japanese Navy Ministry and

had an expense account to prove it.

Honolulu was Morimura's kind of town. He looked forward to visiting
Honolulu's Japanese tea houses, staffed with young waitresses and geishas. He
quickly developed a lively social life, and spent his first dollars on a private telephone
line. The Mutual Telephone Company installed the phone in his private quarters,
located in the rear compound of the consulate—and published his phone number and

address in the Hawaii phone book. It was not an auspicious beginning,**

Naval intelligence installed a wiretap surveillance on Morimura's telephone. It
was an easy job, since the other consulate telephone lines were already tapped. The
consulate's telephone conversations were piped to Ted Emanuel's residence three
blocks away. Emanuel's home on Pacific Heights Road was selected so that Navy
Intelligence could distance itself in the event the wiretap was discovered by the
Japanese. A contingency cover story was readied in case of discovery, according to
Denzel Carr: "Emanuel was just an overzealous gumshoe operating on his own." The

. .. . 29
Navy did not want an embarrassing international controversy.

An automatic Dictaphone recorded the conversations on a cylinder. (Such
machines preceded tape recorders.) Each morning, Emanuel carried the cylinders to
Carr's office for translation. Soon the wiretaps revealed Morimura's activities: his
fun-filled nights and trips to the country to gather information. For many days and

evenings he combined work and
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From: Honolulu (Okuda)
To: Tokyo (Gaimudaijin)
6 January, 1941
(J17-K6)
#002 (in 2 parts-complete)
Re my message #234 of last year*
Vessels seen in Pear] Harbor on the morning of the 5th were as follows:

Five battleships (New Mexico. Mississippi, and probably the Idaho as well as
two of the Texas class): five heavy cruisers (one of the Portland class, three of
the--class, and one of the New Orleans) ; nine light cruisers (five) of the Honolulu
class and four of the Omaha class): 37 destroyers: five destroyer tenders: two
(patrol boats?); several special service ships (of which two seemed to be
submarines, but it could not be definitely determined); two heavy cruisers in (dry
dock?): one vessel—either a battleship or a cruiser, is outside the harbor.

Key shaped cranes, similar to those toward the stem of the Idaho class cruisers,
are being constructed on the five light cruisers of the Honolulu class, on the
extreme end of the after-deck.

It was also noted that the more modern masts have replaced the mainmasts
which used to be on the four Omnha class vessels.

The vessels which were previously reported to be mine sweepers are, in reality,
patrol boats, so please make corrections.

JD-1:165 13495 6 January, 1941 Navy Trans. 1-10-41 (2)

*JD-174 (818 #13380).

Source: Pearl Harbor Report Part 12. page 255.

This is the American version of H-4—the first Japanese spy message sent from Honolulu in 1941.

When it was introduced in evidence before the Congressional investigation of 1945-46, Okuda's

vowel-consonant patient had been omitted. A full Congressional took at the Morimura spy-grams

never occurred.

Acting Honolulu Consul-General Otojiro Okuda dispatched H-4 to Japan's Foreign Minister

Yosuke Matsuoka on January 6. 1941 (HST) It was encoded in the Japanese diplomatic Tsu

code—known to US cryptographers as J-17.

Army Station TWO al Fort Winfield Scott in San Francisco intercepted the encoded text the same

instant it was dispatched by radio to Tokyo. Station TWO personnel forwarded the coded text by air

mail to Washington, where it was decoded and translated on January 10. 1941.
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pleasure in the Shunchoro Tea House located high in Honolulu's hills; it had direct

views of the warships in Pearl Harbor and the flight operations al Army airfields.*

Meanwhile, Consul Okuda worked to end the bickering between Seki and
Morimura. He replaced Seki with Richard Kotoshirodo—the consular clerk—as the
associate on most of Morimura's spy trips. Sometimes Morimura traveled
alone—usually in a Packard limousine hired from the Royal Auto Stand. If ever there
was a spy whose actions invited attention it was Morimura. The luxurious Packard
stood out on Oahu's roads in contrast to the working-class Chevys and Model A Fords

driven by the plantation laborers on Hawaii’s sugarcane fields.”'

Throughout April, May, and June. Morimura scouted military installations on
Oahu. The Navy’s enlisted men's landing at the foot of the Pearl City Peninsula
proved to be a productive location. Morimura made friends with Teisaku Eto. whose
soft-drink stand did a steady business with Pacific Fleet sailors whose ships were
anchored in the lochs that comprise Pearl Harbor. Directly opposite Eto’s stand,
separated by a narrow stretch of waler, was the Naval Air Station, Ford Island. The big
carriers USS Saratoga, Enterprise, and Lexington sometimes berthed on the Ewa side
of the island; the battleships were always on the Diamond Head side. Cruisers,
destroyers, and auxiliary warships were moored to buoys in the various lochs.
Morimura thought it amusing that US Navy officials allowed Eto, a Japanese alien, to
operate his soft-drink stand right in the middle of the Navy base with clear views of
the berthed or anchored warships. A similar situation was unthinkable in Japan—no
American would ever be granted a lease near military compounds. America's
freedoms enabled the spy to sip a soft drink, take a census of the Pacific Fleet, and
eavesdrop on sailors' scuttlebutt as they waited for liberty boats to haul them to their

: 32
warships.

Cautioned not to break US espionage laws. Morimura and Kotoshi- rodo never
physically entered or look photographs of any military installation. There was no
need. Color postcards picturing military bases, and maps published by the US
Geodetic Survey, were easily available from local merchants. By mid-May,
Morimura's "outside" activities convinced Carr that the Navy’s original assessment
was correct. Trouble beset Morimura when he tried to establish a local bank account.
The Honolulu
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branch of the Yokohama Specie Bank couldn't find any credit history and balked at
setting up an account for him, according to the tap. The nature of Morimura's business
in Oahu was clear On May 16 Carr noted with an underline: "Morimura seems to
spend most of his time outside the office. At first I assumed it was a coincidence or
that he was sick, but now have decided he is the outside man." Tillman initialed the

report and highlighted it for Washington.”

Morimura's espionage operations in Hawaii fall into two phases: from March 29
to August 21, 1941, and from August 2/ to December 6. In the first phase he sent
twenty-two messages to Tokyo. The Army and Navy intercept stations at Corregidor,
San Francisco, Fort Hunt, Virginia, and Mackay's Station X in Washington obtained
nineteen of the messages. In these intercepts, Morimura reported on types of warships

and aircraft he saw operating from Pearl Harbor and at Army airfields.*

He located the Navy and Army radio transmitting facilities on Oahu, but missed
Station H. Station FIVE, General Short’s intercept unit at Fort Shafter, also escaped
scrutiny not only by Morimura, but by Japan's new Consul-General Nagao Kila and
by Okuda. During a ceremonial visit to Fort Shafter in April to honor Kita's arrival at
the diplomatic post, both failed to notice the unit, which was located in an old laundry

building near the main gate.

For over fifty years Lop FBI officials have denied knowledge of Mori-
mura/Y oshikawa's activities prior to December 7, 1941. Their denials are another
major Pearl Harbor cover-up. Two dozen FBI and Navy documents dated before the
attack link Morimura with espionage in Hawaii. According to these documents, senior
American intelligence officials, including the President, knew of Morimura's
espionage at the Honolulu consulate. His reports clearly pointed to Pearl Harbor as a

prime target of Japanese military planners.*

On April 2, seven days after Morimura’s arrival at the Honolulu Consulate,
various activities of Japanese governmental missions in the United States came under
the direct scrutiny of the Joint Intelligence Committee, a group formed by Roosevelt
to monitor suspected espionage. Its members included Hoover, the Army and Navy
Intelligence directors,”® and Assistant Secretary of Slate Adolf Berle, Jr., FDR's
personal representative to the J.I.C. The committee noted that Japan had increased

personnel at various
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diplomatic posts in the US "out of all reasonable proportion to the volume of business
transacted."’ Hoover was directed to discuss the matter informally with Berle. Their
talks triggered additional surveillance in Honolulu. beginning with the wiretap on
Morimura's phone. On April 29 Berle coordinated the FBI team investigating
Japanese agents assigned to diplomatic posts.” In late May a mail cover” was placed
on the Honolulu consulate by FBI agent Tillman. It directed the postal service to
furnish a listing of all return addresses found on mail delivered to the consulate. In his
interview with the author, Tillman said he wanted to identify persons contacting either
the consulate or Morimura by mail. Later in the month. FBI interest in Morimura
heightened when agents obtained his picture and distributed it to all Field Offices.
Finally on June 16 Morimura was named the head Japanese espionage agent in
Hawaii by the FBIL.

The espionage reports involving foreign consulates triggered immediate reaction
in Washington. Somehow rumors reached the press corps. Reporters questioned
Roosevelt and asked whether consulates of nations other than Germany were engaged
in “doubtful activities." One reporter specifically sought details about subversive
characters attached to foreign consulates. Roosevelt dodged the question: "There isn't
any news on that today." But questions persisted: "Mr. President, there have been
charges made that certain other consuls and countries have also engaged in doubtful
activities." Again FDR, who occasionally wrote a column for a Hyde Park weekly,

dismissed the question with a joke: "We newspapermen don't speculate."*’

It is quite possible that Director Hoover learned he was excluded from the Tsu
intercepts and, in a slate of pique, planted the espionage questions directed at FDR
with favored White House reporters. The FBI chief was well known for leaking
secrets to friendly newsmen, such as Walter Winchell, the powerful New York gossip
columnist and radio broadcaster. Navy communications officials excluded the FBI
from the Japanese intelligence loop and Hoover wanted in. A major dispute erupted
between Hoover and the Navy on April 15. The prickly FBI director was offended
when he was refused access to secret naval communications documents. FBI
censorship still veils the full details, but apparently Navy codebreakers refused to

share Japanese intercepts, including the Tsu reports, with Hoover.
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Hoover was vindictive: "Because of the uncooperative altitude which has been
displayed towards the Federal Bureau of Investigation by the Communications
Division of the Navy Department it is essential that all Bureau Agents be most
circumspect®' in the handling of any material obtained which may be of interest to the
Office of Naval Communications." Every FBI agent knew that Hoover meant there

was to be no cooperation with Navy Communications.

A tenacious Hoover kept up the pressure on President Roosevelt. He fought to
arrest consulate spies or force their recall to Japan. Berle calmed the FBI chief and
said that only Roosevelt could expel Japanese consular agents engaged in espionage:
"No expulsion is possible as any charge leading to ouster would reveal American

"2 Neither Berle nor the President wanted to lose the

cryptographic success to Japan.
secret Japanese pipeline. Hoover never gave up and continued compiling evidence.
Though there is no proof that he saw the Tsu reports, he continued to forward evi-
dence of the Japanese espionage at Honolulu to Berle. Two reports prepared for
Hoover by Tillman found their way to the While House in August.”’ They named
Morimura as the “outside man" at the consulate and reported that Consul-General
Kila, who signed Morimura’s spy reports, had been placed on the FBI's "most

dangerous” list.

Soon after Kila earned his place on the FBI's list. Hawaii espionage entered a
new period. Morimura began his second phase of activity: preparing bomb plots of the

Pearl Harbor naval base.*
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CHAPTER 7

ALL CLEAR FOR A
SURPRISE
ATTACK

MORIMURA BEGAN PHASE TWO OF HIS REPORTS ON AUGUST 21. 1941.

In addition to keeping track of the warships present. Phase Two established grid
coordinates for Pearl Harbor so that Tokyo could prepare maps of Pacific Fleet

anchorages for the bombing and torpedo pilots of the First Air Fleet.

On August 21, Morimura,' using information gathered at Pearl Harbor by
Richard Koloshirodo, identified fifty-three of the Navy's docks, piers, and anchorage
areas and designated each by a letter code. He marked the berth of the USS Arizona as
Ho Ho. and then sent the coordinate details to Ambassador Nomura in Washington,
asking that copies of the message be forwarded to Tokyo and the San Francisco
consulate. His bomb plot grid details were encoded in the J code and sent by RCA
radiograms from Honolulu to Japan's Washington embassy. Censorship has
concealed from the American public the details contained in this first bomb map, nor

was the map's existence ever revealed to Congress in any of the Pearl Harbor
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investigations. Even worse, at the time when it was needed most, the report of
these J-code intercepts was withheld from both the US Pacific Fleet and the US
Army commander on Oahu.

Though the grid details for the bomb plot map are locked in National Archives
vaults in College Park, Maryland, it is possible to circumvent most of the censorship.
The contents of Morimura's grids can be pieced together using collateral information
found in the Navy wiretaps and secret FBI reports obtained through FOIA requests.
The plots were based on the best maps that money could buy. According to the Navy
wiretaps provided to the FBI, the Japanese consulate had purchased US Geodetic
Survey maps earlier in 1941 from a bookstore in Honolulu. Morimura's grid coor-

dinates were probably keyed to those highly accurate maps.’

On August 21 John Mikami, whose Packard taxi service was favored by
Morimura, drove up the circular driveway leading to the two-story Japanese
consulate building, which was adorned with the chrysanthemum seal of the Emperor
of Japan and the rising-sun flag. He parked the Packard limousine beneath the
Emperor's symbol and awaited his passenger. But instead of Tadashi Morimura, out
came Richard Kotoshirodo, who sat alongside Mikami and directed him to proceed
north to scenic roadside turnouts that provided views of Pearl Harbor. Kotoshirodo, a
$75-per-month clerk in the consulate, was paired with Morimura after Vice Consul
Otojiro Okuda dismissed Third Secretary Kokichi Seki from the spy team. Two years
younger than Morimura. the twenty-five-year-old Kotoshirodo was an American
citizen born in Honolulu. He and his wife, who were childless, lived in Honolulu with
his mother and two brothers and two sisters. He began working for the consulate in

1935 and had hopes of joining the Japanese diplomatic service.’

Morimura and Kotoshirodo worked well together. Both were young and enjoyed
excursions to the nearby islands or Kauai. Maui, and the ‘Big Island" of Hawaii,
where they spent Morimura's generous expense account visiting bars and brothels. In
between they scouted the islands for military installations. Kotoshirodo first appears
in the wiretaps on December 4. 1940, and about a dozen times in 1941. mostly in
conversations with women. Nothing in the wiretaps indicates that he was associated
with spying. Though the Navy's espionage file on Kotoshirodo begins on February
18, 1941, he is not mentioned in the pre-Pearl Harbor FBI
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spy lists. The Navy file does not contain the 1941 documents pertaining to
Kotoshirodo.

Driver John Mikami followed the assistant spy’s directions. The trip took two
hours—a two-dollar charge in Mikami’s account book. Upon his return to the
consulate, Kotoshirodo reported to Okuda's office. Here he found Morimura drawing
a rough sketch of Pearl Harbor. Kotoshirodo was asked to assist in updating the
military layout of the naval base. He confirmed the location of battleships alongside
Ford Island and of repair facilities and dry docks in the Navy Yard. Morimura labeled
each of the fifty-three military targets with a four-letter symbol. Late in the afternoon,
RCA’s motorcycle messenger picked up the bomb map message and it was dispatched

in an unusual roundabout way to the Naval Ministry in Tokyo.

Intercept logs in Station US in Washington traced this message. Two monitoring
units. Station CAST on Corregidor and the Army’s Station SEVEN at Fort Hunt,
Virginia, intercepted its RCA radio signals. Though censorship makes the message
difficult to trace today, both units heard and transcribed it. They said that it contained
sixty code groups of five letters each in the J system and the subject concerned the

movement of US warships.

Navy wiretaps of August 22 show that Morimura celebrated his first bomb map
report by going on a binge in several Honolulu bars. At 2:17A.M., just after the bars
closed, he was picked up roaring drunk by the police.

About eight hours later, the wiretap on Okuda’s office telephone highlighted the
story. At 10:15 A.M. an unidentified man told Okuda that he was greatly worried by a
police matter. Okuda immediately telephoned the Nippu Jiji, a Japanese-language
newspaper in Honolulu, and talked with reporter Zenichi Kawazoe, who confirmed
that the Honolulu police had issued a report on Morimura’s public drunkenness. On
Saturday morning stories about Morimura’s behavior reached reporters, who began
checking the reports. Lawrence Nakatsuka, of the Star-Bulletin, telephoned the con-

sulate for details. The wiretap provides a record of the conversation:

NAKATSUKA: I heard a very bad story about the Japanese consulate that says this

Morimura fellow sure runs wild.

CONSULATE: Yeah. How do you know?
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NAKATSUKA: A reporter is supposed to know everything. What’s the matter with
the guy, anyway?

CONSULATE: YOU know better than 1.

NAKATSUKA: I didn't know he would be that wild.

CONSULATE: He's wild already.

NAKATSUKA: IS he still working or have you folks fired him?

CONSULATE; No.

NAKATSUKA: What! You won't fire him?
CONSULATE: NoO.

NAKATSUKA: If T was Kita, I would fire that guy.

CONSULATE: YOU would?
NAKATSUKA; Sure. You can’t let him make so much trouble as that.
CONSULATE: Too bad. He lakes advantage of that.*

Morimura’s binge also came to the attention of the FBI. A two-page wiretap
transcript describing the Incident was forwarded to the FBI's Tillman, who saw and
initialed the report on August 27. So by the end of August, Morimura's spying on the
Pacific Fleet, his first bomb map of Pearl Harbor, and his raucous public behavior
were all in America's intelligence pipeline. It led from Tillman in Honolulu to Hoover
at the FBI to Adolf Berle, Jr., at the State Department.

In the White House, the messages soon caught the attention of President
Roosevelt. Throughout 1941, Berle served as the President's source for espionage
activities involving foreign diplomatic missions within the United States. There is no
doubt that Berle was aware of Morimura. On August 7, FBI Director Hoover informed
Berle that Morimura was Japan's "outside man" in Honolulu. In the next three weeks
Hoover sent five more reports by special messenger to Berle. To assure that FDR
would see the reports. Hoover sent copies to the President's military aide, Major
General Edwin "Pa" Watson. But the content of the reports is unknown. In 1999 the
text is blacked out by the FBI as a category B-I national defense secret.’

Captain Theodore Wilkinson. FDR's third Director of Naval Intelligence for
1941 and a colleague of Berle, admitted, "We were cognizant of the fact that

espionage on the fleet was underway but we were helpless to
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[12] From: Tokyo (Toyoda)

To: Honolulu « September 24, 1941
J-19

#83

Strictly secret.

Henceforth, we would like to have you make reports concerning vessels along
the following lines insofar as possible:

1. The waters (of Pearl Harbor) are to be divided roughly into five sub-areas.
(We have no objections to your abreviating as much as you like.)

Area A. Waters between Ford Island and the Arsenal.

Area B. Waters adjacent to the Island south and west of Ford Island. (This area is
on the opposite side of the Island from Area A.)

Area C. East Loch.
Area D. Middle Loch.
Area E. West Loch and the communicating water routes.

2. With regard to warships and aircraft carriers, we would like to have you
report on those at anchor, (these are not so important) tied up at wharves, buoys and
in docks. (Designate types and classes briefly. If possible we would like to have
you make mention of the fact when there are two or more vessels along side the
same wharf.).

ARMY 23260 Trans. 10/9/41  (S)
Source:-. PHPT 12, p. 261.

THE BOMB PLOT ORDER

This is the English version of the Tokyo request for the bomb plot order of September 24. 1941. as
primed for the Joint Congressional Investigation of 1945—46. It is inaccurate because American
censors excised the priority designator contained in the original Japanese text front the
Congressional printing (upper left). Such designators, inserted in spy reports by the Japanese, flagged
the messages for American intelligence. Cerhard Gesell, Chief Assistant Counsel for the 1945-46
Joint Congressional Investigation, explained why the designators were missing: They do not appear
on our copies of the exhibit because as w advised the committee, we had them stricken off” (Gesell's
testimony, December 19,1945, PHPT 4. p. 1911).

For over fifty-five years, no member of the public has seen the original of this message, which
contains the Japanese spy designators. Twice the original message details have been denied to

Congress—during the 1945-46 inquiry and during the Thurmond-Spence probe of 1995.

A letter S at lower right confirms that this message was intercepted al Station SAIL, neat Seattle. The
order originated with the foreign minister of Japan. Admiral Teijiro Toyoda. and was addressed to the
Japanese consulate. Honolulu. Toyoda directed the consulate to prepare a coordinate-grid schedule of the
Pearl Harbor anchorage und divide the waters into five areas including Battleship Row (Area B). J-19
denotes that the message was encoded m the Japanese diplomatic Tsu system. In 1945, Congress was told
that Army cryptographers (Army 23260, lower left) couldn't decode and translate this message until October
9—u delay of fifteen days (lower right). The Army's intelligence chief dismissed this type of communications

intelligence as "clutter chat." It was withheld from both Admiral Kimmel und General .Show in Hawaii.
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stop it. We could not arrest Japanese subjects. There was nothing we could do. All

hands knew that espionage was going on all along and reports were going back to

Japan."®

Hoover complained that the Department of Justice impeded his investigation of
the espionage being conducted from the Japanese consulates. Berle’s diary entry for
June 3. 1941, reports that the FBI director was "unhappy about a lot of things but
principally because he gets information about various activities but can never do
anything about it." Berle hinted in his diary that Francis Biddle, FDR’s Attorney
General, had silenced the FBI director; "I think there is some tension there between
him and Biddle."’

Apparently in late September Hoover, looking for congressional support for the
FBI’s counter-espionage efforts, leaked some information on Morimura's activity to a
Senate committee that included Senator Guy M. Gillette (D.. lowa). The senator was
quoted by the Associated Press in an October story alleging that the Japanese

consulate in Honolulu was under American espionage surveillance.

On September 24, Tokyo indicated a growing interest in the American fleet’s
precise anchorage patterns in Pearl Harbor and asked Morimura for more grid details.
Station SAIL, the US Navy's monitor station outside Seattle, intercepted the order.
Morimura was directed to divide Pearl Harbor into five grid areas and locale the
berthing locations of all warships, including aircraft carriers. Morimura lost no time
and spent two days scouting the Pacific Fleet. Mikami's Packard once again toured the

high roads around the naval base that weekend.

Morimura developed a more intricate grid system for identifying warship berths
in his second bomb plot. Battleship Row was designated bombing area FG. Morimura
completed the grid details on Monday, September 29, and telephoned for a Mackay
messenger. The text was wired to Tokyo and a copy sent to the Washington embassy.
The combination of Tokyo's request and Morimura's response was intercepted by four
monitor stations: SAIL, CAST. Station TWO, and Station SEVEN at Fort Hunt, Vir-
ginia. Officials at Mackay's Station X in Washington permitted Navy photographers

to copy the bomb plot messages addressed to the Japanese embassy.®

According to testimony given to various Pearl Harbor investigations, the

decoded and translated bomb plot messages were greeted with indifference
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[13] From: Honolulu (Kita)
To: Washington
29 September 1941
J19)
Re your #083*.
(Strictly secret.)
Circular #041 Honolulu to Tokyo #178
The following codes will be U9ed hereafter to designate the location of vessels:

1. Repair dock in Navy Yard (The repair basin referred to in my message to Washington
#48%%): KS.

2. Navy dock in the Navy Yard (The Ten Ten Pier) : KT.
3. Moorings in the vicinity of Ford Island: FV.

4. Alongside in Ford Island: FG. (East and west sides will be differentiated by A nnd B
respectively.

Relayed to Washington. San Francisco.

JD-1: 5730 23312 (D) Navy Trans. 10-10-41 X)
*Not available.
*sAvailable, dated 21 August.

Source- PHPT 12. p. 262
MORIMURA’S REPLY OF SEPT 29, 1941

Morimura's second bomb map pushed FDR into action. Not content with this intercept from
British--owned Mackay Radio. FDR persuaded David Samoff, president of RCA—an
American-owned wireless firm—to give the Hawaiian Army and Navy intelligence officials copies of

the Japanese messages in Hawaii.

This English translation of Morimura's bomb plot grid exposes three false statements by Navy
officers:

1. They testified to Congress that cable firms such as RCA and Mackay refused them access to the
Morimura espionage messages prior to December 7. The X in the lower right refutes the
contention. It indicates this report was photocopied in Mackay's downtown Washington office by

Navy photographers on September 29. 1941.

2 The claim that message 83 is not available lower left) is false. Message 83 is Admiral Toyoda's
bomb-plot order to Morimura. It was intercepted by the Navy's Station SAIL, near Seattle, on

September 24 and immediately became available to American cryptographers.

3. Congress was not told that this message was also intercepted at Station CAST in the Philippines
and was available Io General MacArthur and Admiral Hart, the American commanders. Neither

informed their counterparts in Hawaii that they had such a message.
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by Army and Navy intelligence officials in Washington. Brigadier General Sherman
Miles, head of Army Intelligence, told Congress in 1945 that he saw the bomb plot
intercepts but none impressed him as anything more than "chiller chat." Miles
dismissed a question posed to him by congressional investigator Gerhard Gesell: ‘It
was primarily of naval interest." Miles didn't agree with Gesell’s position that
Morimura prepared a bombing plan for Pearl Harbor. He implied that Japanese agents
prepared similar plots locating US warships in harbors and anchorages throughout the
world and that they were inconsequential. Gesell asked, "Will you find me one such

message. General?"

"Well," responded Miles, "if you mean similar in dividing the harbor into

sections, there are no such messages that I know of."’

When it came time for Navy intelligence to explain their failure to warn Admiral
Husband Kimmel of the bomb plot messages, political pandemonium erupted in the
congressional hearing room. Republicans interrupted the testimony of Admiral
Theodore Wilkinson and charged that the Navy was "spoon feeding" evidence to
Congress. Wilkinson, head of Naval Intelligence between October 15 and December

7, 1941, attempted to deflect Gesell's question about the bomb plot messages:
GEsSELL: This is a bomb plot message, isn't it. Admiral?

WILKINSON: In general, yes. I discussed the message with other officers in the
Navy Department including Captain [sic] McCollum. [In 1941, McCollum was a

commander. ]
GESELL: DO you recall your conversation?

WILKINSON: It showed an illustration of the nicety of detail of intelligence the

Japanese were capable of seeking and gelling.

GESELL: What did they say to you?

WILKINSON: | don’t recall.'’

Military officials may claim to have treated the bomb plot grid communique with
indifference, but President Roosevelt certainly did not. On October 14 he invited
David Sarnoff, founder and president of RCA, to lunch at the White House. The
Mackay connection formed the basis for this one- hour Samoff-Roosevelt luncheon. If
the British-owned Mackay firm supplied bomb map intercepts for the British Prime
Minister, then, the President must have reasoned, US-owned RCA should supply

copies of the
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A, SKeteh USES BEPORF/NG  Ewemy Audrorimg [oraatus,

Source: Pacific Fleet Intelligence Bulletin 1-42. RG 38. MMRB. Archives II.

This bombing and torpedo plot of Pearl Harbor was recovered by Navy intelligence from a downed
Japanese plane on December 7, 1941. Ford Island is shown center; the adjacent Battleship Row is
designated as NoNo (top) to HoHo (USS Arizona) The Navy Yard berths (left) are marked RaRa to Re
Re. At the right the M series denotes cruiser and destroyer anchorages in East Loch.

Hawaiian bomb plot messages direct from its downtown Honolulu office. Samoff,
who held a general's commission in the Army Reserve, offered to match the Mackay
arrangement and left for Hawaii, going by train from Washington to San Francisco,
and then taking the SS Matsonia to Honolulu. Assistant Secretary of the Navy James
Forrestal sent a Navy radio message to Admiral Kimmel asking him to extend every

courtesy to Samoff.""

Sarnoff spent nine days in Hawaii, discussed communications intelligence with
Admiral Kimmel. Lieutenant General Short, and Lieutenant Commander Rochefort of
HYPO. The Samoff visit, but not its true pur-
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pose, was well publicized in Hawaii. The Star-Bulletin published a news photo of
Short conferring with Sarnoff and the local RCA manager, George Street. During his
visit, Sarnoff directed that copies of all Japanese consulate messages filed with RCA
in downtown Honolulu be provided to Navy intelligence. Rochefort later testified that
at Station HYPO he had the facilities to decode and translate the Japanese messages
released by Sarnoff, but the early days of December would show that Rochefort failed

to do so once they were in his hands. >

Before he returned to the mainland on the steamer SS Matsonia, Sarnoff sent a
direct wire to President Roosevelt: "I am glad to report to you that the heads and the
staff of the Army and Navy here are well informed and keenly alive to the latest
developments in communications and to their useful possibilities." It appeared that
Admiral Kimmel and General Short would now be given copies of the Japanese

espionage messages. But they weren't.

The original copies of the messages were obtained from RCA's Honolulu office
under the Sarnoff-Roosevelt arrangement. Then, once transmission started, Army and
Navy monitoring stations throughout the Pacific Rim plucked the messages off the
RCA airwaves and placed their contents into the White House intelligence loop. But
deceit took over. Neither Short nor Kimmel received the cables until after the
December 7 attack. According to the evidence, it was not a bureaucratic snafu that
delayed the cables getting into American hands but Washington deceit—and the
Hawaiian commanders, their sailors and troops, and the civilians of Honolulu were the

victims.

A series of Navy documents that were hidden from all Pearl Harbor
investigations provides the evidence and the trail of deceit. The trail starts with a
seemingly innocuous radio dispatch on November 24. Rear Admiral Walter
Anderson, Commander, Battleships of the Pacific Fleet, and the original addressee of
McCollum's action plans, sent the November 24 dispatch to Captain Irving Mayfield,
District Intelligence Officer for the Fourteenth Naval District. Mayfield was ordered
to report aboard Anderson's flagship, the USS West Virginia, to serve on a
court-martial board. The radio orders removed Mayfield from his very important
intelligence duties—including supervision of the Sarnoff-Roosevelt arrangement.

After Mayfield reported aboard Anderson's flagship, the Sarnoff-Roosevelt
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arrangement completely failed in Hawaii. Between November 28 and December 6,
Morimura's spy messages obtained by American intelligence in Hawaii and
Washington were deliberately derailed and mistranslated. There is only one plausible
reason for the failure—to keep the information from Kimmel and Short and so ensure

an uncontested overt Japanese act of war.

Mayfield's subordinates in the Honolulu naval intelligence office attempted to
place the Sarnoff agreement in operation but immediately faced difficult obstacles.
Navy intelligence officer Lieutenant Yale Maxon picked up the first batch of spy
reports at the RCA office on Monday, December 1. Maxon and his colleague
Lieutenant Denzel Carr were skilled Japanese linguists, but not cryptographers, so
they were unable to decipher the messages. Maxon knew that Rochefort had the
skilled personnel and facilities to decode the messages and requested his help. In 1982
Maxon and Carr vividly remembered alerting Rochefort. "I obtained the RCA
messages the morning of December first," Maxon said. "Denzel normally would have
taken custody but was ill with the flu. The coded messages on the RCA forms were
unreadable. Yet I knew they were important because of the earlier visit of Mr. Sarnoff
who met with our boss, Captain Irving Mayfield, head of Navy Intelligence in
Honolulu." Maxon decided to send an alert directly to Rochefort; it is known to the

author as the Maxon alert. "

In his handwritten note to Rochefort, Maxon carefully chose his words. He knew
the code-breaking unit was surrounded with secrecy to prevent leaks to the Japanese.
Marking the note "SECRET," he alerted Rochefort that "radio checks, from a source
you know, are now available." Both Maxon and Carr suspected that the coded
messages involved espionage of some sort. The code-breaker had discussed the RCA

messages with Sarnoff during his visit and had agreed to assist Maxon and Carr. '*

Then problems arose. There were no Navy officer couriers available to speed the
RCA messages to Rochefort's office, eight miles away in Pearl Harbor. Washington
had disallowed a five-cents-a-mile cost for use of officer courier automobiles earlier
in September. Though made personally aware of the RCA messages by Sarnoff's visit,
neither Kimmel nor Short ever took an interest in them. After the war ended, they
would claim that they were unaware of these messages. Rochefort was equally lax. He

knew

108



ALL CLEAR FOR A SURPRISE ATTACK
of the spy messages through the Sarnoff meeting and the Maxon alert. And his daily

commute to Pearl Harbor from his Honolulu hills home took him directly past the
RCA wireless office. He could have personally picked up copies of the messages each

day.

On Tuesday, December 2, Morimura informed Tokyo that the naval base at Pearl
Harbor was not on the alert for an attack. Commander Mitsuo Fuchida, leader of the
air attack, said he received the report aboard the Akagi. According to Fuchida,

Morimura's message was:

NO CHANGES OBSERVED BY AFTERNOON OF 2 DECEMBER. SO FAR THEY DO

NOT SEEM TO HAVE BEEN ALERTED. SHORE LEAVE AS USUAL.

Morimura filed the report with RCA at 4:51 P.M. as consulate outgoing message
357. The message reached Station HYPO on Friday afternoon, December 5, and was
in the group that Rochefort's staff deciphered and translated prior to December 7. The
consulate log said it concerned "Movement of USN Warships." But the description of
the message by Rochefort's diplomatic cryptographer, Farnsley Woodward, conflicts
with the Fuchida version. Woodward labeled the text of 357 as "?". Neither Congress
nor any Pearl Harbor investigation explored Woodward's contradictions. Morimura's
original of 357—filed with RCA—has never been released by the United States.

When Sarnoff left Honolulu on November 14, twenty-three days remained
before the attack. Toward the end of the period Morimura disclosed that Pearl Harbor
was the target. Each report leading up to his final disclosure was flagged for American
intelligence by the telltale designators inserted within the message. Five of America's
cryptographic stations in the Pacific region intercepted the spy reports. These were
Stations CAST and SIX in the Philippines, Station FIVE in Hawaii, and the two West
Coast listening posts, SAIL at Seattle and TWO at San Francisco. But before they
could be read and produce meaningful intelligence, each report had to be decoded at a
processing center. The decoding procedures worked fine in Manila and Washington,
but not in Hawaii. When the opportunity came for direct Hawaii access to the contents
of the espionage messages which originated in Honolulu, it was not properly

exploited. This intelligence failure came
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not in the acquisition of the messages but in decoding and translating them.

The cover-up concerning the Japanese consulate's spy messages is another Pearl
Harbor deceit. There are major contradictions. Four intelligence officials testified that
the Japanese spy messages were unavailable to the United States government because
the cable firms, RCA and Mackay, refused to provide copies of each message based
on a federal law that prevented interception and disclosure of private communications.
Robert Shivers, the FBI bureau chief in Hawaii, detailed the cable firms' refusal in a
report to J. Edgar Hoover. "It should be stated here that repeated efforts had been
made to enlist the cooperation of the managers of Globe Wireless, R.C.A.
Communications, Mackay Radio, and Commercial Pacific Cable companies in
Honolulu, T.H. to furnish this office and the Office of Naval Intelligence copies of all
communications between the Japanese consulate in Honolulu and the Foreign Office
in Japan. The managers of these respective companies flatly refused to cooperate to
this extent, notwithstanding the fact that they were even pleaded with and that the
seriousness of the situation was pointed out to them so we would know in advance
what, if anything, was going to happen against the Hawaiian Islands by the Japanese

1
Government." '

Three Navy intelligence officials backed up Shivers: Theodore Wilkinson,
FDR's fourth Director of Naval Intelligence in 1941, Edwin Layton, the Pacific Fleet's
intelligence officer in 1941, and Joseph Rochefort, commander of Station HYPO. In
testimony given to the seventh Pearl Harbor investigation in 1945, Wilkinson said,
"the District Intelligence Officer of Hawaii had endeavored to obtain copies of
dispatches sent by Japanese diplomatic agents from the local cable companies but had
been advised that the law did not permit interference of such messages." Layton said,
"the FBI was restricted by law from getting Japanese cables." Rochefort said, "the
United States was handicapped because it could not censor Japanese

communications."

But the evidence in the Station US papers contradicts the assertions of
Wilkinson, Layton, and Rochefort. Washington intelligence officials ignored the
federal laws and intercepted the Japanese messages, but kept the information from
Admiral Kimmel and General Short. Mackay's Washington DC office allowed Navy
photographers to copy the Japanese spy messages. Again, the evidence is

overwhelming. There were sixty-nine spy
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messages transmitted from Honolulu to Tokyo by RCA and Mackay between January
1 and December 6, 1941, according to a log book kept by the consulate and
confiscated by the Honolulu police department on December 7. Monitor stations of
the United States and England obtained fifty-eight of the messages. Nine were not
intercepted, according to US intercept logs found by the author in Archives II. '*

President Roosevelt shouldn't have bothered with the Sarnoff deal. It was not
needed. Fully 84 percent of the spy messages were in American hands without
Sarnoff's help. The total was even higher between August 1941—when Morimura
began sending his bomb plot messages—and December 6, 1941. American intercept
operators and cryptographers ignored federal anti-intercept laws and obtained
thirty-four of the thirty-six spy messages sent by Morimura—a success total of 94.4

percent during the five months.

The Sarnoff-Roosevelt arrangement for delivery of the spy messages in
Honolulu remains a mystery. A logical explanation focuses on Rear Admiral
Anderson. The Honolulu release of the RCA cables can be viewed as an arrangement
for Anderson's exclusive use so he would know when to expect the attack. He was not
aboard his flagship, the USS Maryland, during the weekend of December 6-7, 1941.
He left Pearl Harbor Saturday afternoon and went to the safety of his home on the
Maui side of Diamond Head—far from the disaster that hit Battleship Row on the

morning of Sunday the seventh.

During the final six days of peace, Morimura dispatched ten messages from the
RCA office on South King Street. Within minutes the reports were on their way to
Tokyo and to American hands, including the important CAST monitoring station in
the Philippines. Yet there is no record that General MacArthur or Admiral Hart shared
the CAST spy reports with the Hawaiian commanders. Hart had a direct Navy radio
dispatch code for contacting Kimmel. It was an electronic cipher machine called
COPEK, similar to Japan's Purple and Germany's Enigma, that linked together Hart,
Kimmel, Station US, Atlantic Fleet commander Admiral King, HYPO, and CAST.
COPEK was the Navy's most secret code system, used exclusively for rapid exchange
of intercepted communications intelligence. Access was limited. Commander
Laurance Safford, who devised the system, said it was unbreakable. There is no

evidence that Japan or Germany
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ever solved the COPEK system. Captain Theodore Wilkinson, Director of Naval
Intelligence at the time of Pearl Harbor told Congress: "I think our (Navy) code was

: 19
fairly secure."

Robert Dowd, a Navy yeoman in the cryptographic section of Station CAST (see
cutaway drawing in photo insert), can trace the dissemination of the Japanese
diplomatic messages obtained by CAST. "They were dispatched by radio in our own
cryptographic code to Admiral Hart and General MacArthur in Manila. Copies were
relayed by the Navy radio station at the Cavite naval base to Honolulu and
Washington," Dowd said in a telephone interview with the author in May 1999. He
said he had no way of knowing whether these types of messages were delivered to
Admiral Kimmel or General Short in Hawaii. But Dowd said he was positive the
intelligence information was dispatched. His post in the CAST cryptographic tunnel
was next to the Navy's radio transmitter and the cipher machines used to encode the
very secret messages. "I could see our electronic cipher machines from my desk," he
said. *° Dowd's recollection is backed up by his boss in 1941, Rear Admiral Leigh
Noyes, Director of Naval Communications. During testimony to the Joint
Congressional Investigation on Saturday, February 16, 1946, Noyes testified: "l knew
perfectly well that they [CAST] could decipher the diplomatic traffic and send it to

Honolulu." !

Between June 27 and December 3, 1941, Morimura's espionage reports were
encoded in the J-19 (Tsu) diplomatic system, which Tokyo believed was impervious
to American code-breakers. These J-19 reports were transmitted from Honolulu to
Tokyo over either RCA or Mackay radio circuits (November was MacKay, December
RCA). All three of the processing centers knew how to decode J-19, because
decryption instructions called Radio Intelligence Publications (RIP) had been issued
to them from Station US in Washington.”

But as an intelligence tool the use of J-19 became moot on December 3, when the
Japanese Foreign Ministry directed the Honolulu consulate to destroy all their code
systems except Oite (Called PA by Navy cryptographers). At midday the Japanese
Foreign Office signaled that war was near. It sent a message via RCA to Japanese

diplomatic posts in North America that directed:
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BURN YOUR CODE BOOKS EXCEPT FOR "OITE." WHEN DESTRUCTION IS

COMPLETE, WIRE US THE CODE WORD HARUNA.

An exception was made for the embassy in Washington, which was directed to
hold on to its Purple machine. In Honolulu the consulate complied. It burned the
codebooks including the Tsu code (J- 19) and retained Oite (PA) for last-minute
communications. It confirmed the destruction to Tokyo by dispatching the code word
HARUNA in plain language over RCA. Thereafter, from December 3 to the late
afternoon of December 6, all of the Hawaii messages involving Morimura and Tokyo
were encoded in PA and transmitted by RCA. Duplicate copies were sent by Navy
courier to HYPO for decryption and translation. There was backup; each PA message
was intercepted by American monitoring stations and sent to decoding and

translations centers in Washington.23

Chief Yeoman Farnsley Woodward was one of America's top codebreakers for
Japan's diplomatic codes. He had learned to break the diplomatic codes in 1939 while
stationed at the Navy's intercept station in Shanghai. Woodward knew one of the
diplomatic systems by heart: the PA code, used for messages requiring less security.
Its wide use by Japan over her China diplomatic radio network enabled Woodward to
become adept in decrypting the system. His cryptographic know-how was perfect for

decoding Morimura's target messages in Hawaii.

Japan's PA messages were startling. On Saturday morning, December 6,
Tokyo—using the PA system—ordered Morimura to report on the current status of
the anti-aircraft defenses at the naval base and nearby Army facilities. Morimura
finished his last descriptive report on Pearl Harbor just before noon. Hawaii, he
claimed, was ripe for a surprise attack. His final bit of advice to Japanese bomber and
torpedo pilots was explicit:

THERE ARE NO BARRAGE BALLOONS UP AND THERE IS AN OPPORTUNITY

LEFT FOR A SURPRISE ATTACK AGAINST THESE PLACES.

Then Morimura telephoned the RCA office and asked for a motorcycle
messenger. Within minutes his message was in the South King Street office,
time-clocked at 12:58 p.m., and dispatched to Tokyo using the PA system. Station
TWO, at San Francisco's Presidio, intercepted and forwarded the all-clear message by

teleprinter to Washington. RCA also made a copy
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Source: PHPT 38, item 232.

Japan 's two-group spy designator pattern appears on the second line, left: 02530 KOKOK. This
designator placed this message on top of America's cryptographic want list. Stamp showing that this
message arrived at the RCA office in Honolulu at 12:58 p.m. [top] and was transmitted at J .04 p.m. at

bottom is obscured by the consulate's seal..

114



ALL CLEAR FOR A SURPRISE ATTACK

# 3B8
From: Ella
To: FM Tokyo 6 DEC 41
#368
Referring to last paragraph of your No. 123
1. The Army ordered several hundred balloons for training at Camp Davis NC
un the American mainland. They considered (at that time) the practicability
of their employment in the defense of Hawaii and Manama. Investigation of the
vicinity of Pearl Harbor reveals no locations selected for their use or any preparations
for constructing moorings. No evidence of training or personnel preparations
were seen It is concluded that their installation would be difficult. Even if
they were actually provided they would interfere with operations at nearby
Hickam Field, Ewa Field and Ford Island. The whole matter seems to have been
dropped.
2. Am continuing in detail the investigation of the non-use of nets for torpedo
defense of battleships and will report further.
Delivered 1248
Transmittal 1304.

Source: PHPT 37. p. 998

The incorrect translation of Morimura's PA report of December 6, 1941. See last
sentence ofparagraph 1 (above) for Lieutenant Joseph Finnegan's translation error.
Finnegan was a Japanese translator assigned to Station HYPO immediately after the
attack on December 7, 1941. of Morimura's espionage report at the downtown
Honolulu office for Station HYPO's Rochefort. **

Japan's Pearl Harbor secret was now, finally, fully open to American
cryptographers. Yet inexplicably the entire "splendid arrangement" crashed—but only
for the intercepts that indicated the specifics of the attack. Twice during the week of
December 1 to 6, Morimura indicated that Pearl Harbor would be attacked. On
Tuesday, December 2, he stated that the naval base was operating in a normal fashion
and not on the alert. His Saturday report was even more specific. Yet these fatal
messages sat unexamined by the men who needed them—Admiral Kimmel and
General Short.

Joseph Rochefort and his assistant, Farnsley Woodward—America's top
military/diplomatic code-breakers—offered contradictory explanations of why they
did not solve the RCA messages until after the attack. There were twenty-seven
Japanese messages processed by RCA's Honolulu office between December 1 and
December 6. Eighteen were spy messages; the remaining nine were routine
business-type reports. Each of the routine messages was decoded and translated

before the attack. But the spy mesl-
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From: Honolulu

To: Tokyo December 6,1941

PA-K2 Re the last part of your #123°.

1. In the American Continent to October the Army began training barrage balloon troops at Camp Darts, North
Carolina. Not only hare they ordered four or five hundred balloons, but It Is understood that they are considering
the us of these balloons In the defense of Hawaii and Panama. In so far as Hawaii is concerned, though
investigations base been made in the neighborhood of Pearl Harbor, they have not set up mooring equipment,
nor have they selected the troops to man them. Furthermore, there Is no Indication that any training for the
maintenance of balloons la being undertaken. At the present time there are no signs of barrage balloon
equipment In addition. It la difficult to Imagine that they have actually any. However, even though they have
actually made preparations, because they must control the air over the water and land runways of the airports in
the vicinity of Pearl Harbor, Hickam. Ford and Ewa ® there are limits to the balloon defense of Pearl Harbor. I
Imagine that in all probability there la considerable opportunity left to take advantage for a aurprlae attack
against these places.

2. In my opinion the battleships do not have torpedo nets. The details are not known. I will report the results of
my Investigation.

a Not available.

b Kana spelling.

The correct translation, above, has Morimura's "considerable opportunity left to take

advantage for a surprise attack against these places" in the last sentence of paragraph
1. Originally Pearl Harbor was mentioned three times by Morimura (above), but only
once in the incorrect translation.

sages—in the same PA code system and most containing the designators that placed
them on America's most-wanted list—were not. Woodward indicated in a written note
that he received the RCA messages in two deliveries: twenty-one messages on the
afternoon of Friday, December 5, that were "deciphered and translated prior to
December 7, 1941," and six messages intercepted during Saturday, December 6, that

were "delivered the night of December 7." **

Rochefort withheld the written alert that he had received from Yale Maxon on
Monday, December 1, from all Pearl Harbor investigators. It was a crucial piece of
evidence that directly placed Rochefort in the decoding pipeline of the
Sarnoff-Roosevelt arrangement. The Maxon alert directly placed responsibility on
Rochefort for decoding the messages and delivering them forthwith to Admiral
Kimmel. By hiding Yale Maxon's alert, Rochefort diverted a thorough examination of
the Sarnoff-Roosevelt spy-message deal and made it impossible for Admiral Kimmel
to establish
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#02530 Secret "P. A." (#388) 6 Dec. 41,
From: Kita.

To: Gaimudaijin Tokio.

Kiden (dai . . .gd) 123 matsudan nikanshi (Para).

1 Bei how do ni a ri te wa October ko . riku gun wa Beg. Eng KE [c] LA [am] EK [p] ZI [-»] DI [da] YC [vi] IW
[s]1ZI[—] VY [N] AA [.] KE [c] AA[,] 10 [End spell] ni oite so sai ki kyu u hei no yo sei ni chaku shu si su hyaku
no ki kyu wo chu mow se shi nominarazu ki kyu ni yoro ha wa i . Panama po [Bd] ei wo mo k8 ryo shi wo ru omomu
(ki) na ru to koro t8 chi ni 9 [KAN] shi te wa shin zyu wan fu kin wo tan sa se ru mo so re to wo mo wa ru ru ba sho
no sen tei oyobi kei ryu shi se tsu td na shi wo ra zu ma ta ki kyu fu yd" kun ren mo mi za ru wo niotte i ma no tokoro
so sai ki kyu se tsu chi no chd k5 su ra mito (me) zu ka tsu so kyu ni wa Ji tsu geu seraru (ru) mono to wa mito (me)
gata (ku) shi shikashite mo shi ji tsu geu surin to mo shin ju wau ni kin se ku se ru [hi tsu ka mu] [fu 6 do] [e wa] hi k6
JO no ri chaku riku su i ni tai sum so ra no kai gu wo OU—D—K za—Y beikara (zu) yuc (mi) shin ju wau ki kyu po
ei—E—F geu Y—a ri kore wo A—=ze ki sum ki kai wa so" t<5 ta buw mi mo ko sa ram (ru) mono to —N dau seram
(ru) (para) (2) kan 1—ku se ru tokoroxyo md wo yG se ru tbb sal blidtsuku (kI) chd aa bo—o0 ran koto to au. sen kan
wa gyo rai po" zyo mo wo yu se zu shS sai hikitsuku (ki) cho sa h6—G ran koto to su.

Source: PH PT 37 p. 999

The erroneous Japanese-language decryption of Morimura's December 6 PA message was discovered
by the seventh Pearl Harbor investigation, conducted by Admiral Henry Kent Hewitt on July 4, 1945.
There are eighty-eight decryption errors in this text, according to translators Naemi and Sean
McPherson of the University of California at Berkeley. Even the words for Pearl Harbor, Shinju Wan,
were misspelled in lines 11,7, and 5 from the bottom by Lieutenant Joseph Finnegan, the Navy
cryptographer/translator.

a logical defense to charges of dereliction of duty. The blame for dereliction of duty
belongs on the shoulders of the two cryptographers, not Admiral Kimmel. Rochefort's
motive can only be guessed. In his Oral History he told a US Navy interviewer that the
carnage at Pearl Harbor on December 7 was a cheap price to pay for the unification of
America.26 His unity observation parallels that of his close friend Arthur McCollum
and suggests that Rochefort was aware of or approved of McCollum's eight-action
plan that called for America to create "ado" and provoke Japan into committing an

overt act of war against the United States.

The apparent do-nothing posture of the personnel at Station HYPO during the
week of December 1 to 6, their ignoring Morimura's "all-clear" message, and the false
decryption misled Admiral Kimmel. But the look the-other-way attitude was US
policy and it came direct from the White House. None of the other last-minute PA

messages decoded and translated at HYPO contained errors.

Navy officials assert that Morimura's all-clear message did not reach
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Rochefort until late Sunday afternoon, about seven hours after the attack. Even though
the Rochefort effort failed to produce a timely decryption of Morimura's PA report,
there was still an opportunity for American cryptographers to uncover the all-clear
message and warn the Pacific Fleet. Station TWO sent the message to Washington by

teleprinter—but it was ignored by Army and Navy intelligence officials there.

How could such important intelligence pertaining to the Pearl Harbor attack have
been shunted aside? Answers—over fifty years late—have come forth in evidence
hidden from investigators. The first discovery was the alert sent by Lieutenant Yale
Maxon to Rochefort on December 1, telling of Navy access to the RCA intercepts.
Maxon's alert was part of a collection of 1941 official Navy communications

documents found by the author in Rochefort's personal effects, held by his daughter.

The failure of the Navy's Hawaiian intelligence organization to exploit
Morimura's all-clear message has never been satisfactorily examined. After the war,
when Kimmel learned of the significance of the message, he did not call for a probe of
the circumstances that denied him the vital information before the attack, nor did he
complain of the mistranslation. Apparently Woodward deciphered the surprise attack
message by December 11, 1941. Then it was handed over to Navy Lieutenant Joseph
Finnegan, who produced the misleading translation. His error was not discovered until
1945. In a brief appearance before the seventh official Pearl Harbor inquiry,
conducted that June by Admiral Henry Kent Hewitt, Finnegan admitted "without
hesitation" that his translation of the Morimura message was not correct. But he could

not explain why.”’

For the six days prior to the attack, Captain Mayfield supervised the handling of
the coded radiograms. He had one paramount responsibility, to get the intercepts to
Admiral Kimmel. His failure to do so has escaped scrutiny. Morimura's famous final
message, filed at 12:58 p.m. on December 6, has been falsely reported to investigators.
The differences between the message Morimura sent and the one Finnegan translated
tell the real truth of Pearl Harbor.
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CHAPTER 8

AN UNMISTAKABLE
PATTERN

WERE INDICATIONS OF AN OVERT ATTACK ON PEARL HARBOR

mistakenly or deliberately ignored? After fifty years it is difficult to impute motives.
Even if Anderson, McCollum, Rochefort, Mayfield, et al., were in accord with a
general policy decision to provoke a Japanese attack—a not unreasonable position—it

is impossible to be certain about what happened to the original Morimura intercepts.

What we can do, however, is to examine a broader array of evidence and look for
a pattern. Japan's preparations for war took a definite new turn in July 1941 after
President Roosevelt put the last of McCollum's actions in place. That was Action H,
which called for a complete embargo on all US trade with Japan in collaboration with

a similar embargo imposed by the British Empire.

Diplomatic intercepts shown to President Roosevelt early in July and throughout
the summer months disclosed Japanese reaction. It was swift. Three bold new steps

suggested that hostile actions were not far off:
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(1) 500,000 Japanese males were inducted into the armed services—the largest draft

since the China Incident of 1937; (2) Japanese merchant vessels were recalled from
the oceans of the world; and (3) Japanese warships and aviation units were recalled

from occupation bases in China. '

The China Incident started in July 1937, with a skirmish between Japanese troops
and forces of Chinese Nationalist Generalissimo Chiang-Kai-shek at the Marco Polo
stone bridge near Peking (now spelled Beijing). Japanese troops had been garrisoned
in the Peking area as a result of a thirty-seven-year-old agreement that concluded the
Boxer Rebellion of 1900. The presence of Japanese troops on China's soil was a sore
point and formed a catalyst that united Chiang and the Communist forces led by Mao
Tse-tung. The two warlords pledged to drive the Japanese from North China. On July
7, 1937, a minor shooting skirmish on the Marco Polo bridge between a company of
Chiang's troops and a Japanese patrol escalated into major warfare. Over the next four
years of war between the two Asian nations, public sentiment in America favored the
Chinese over Japan. Japanese officials, citing the Communist menace in North China,

attempted to persuade the United States to favor their cause but were rebuffed.”

By reading the Japanese diplomatic intercepts during the summer of 1941,
President Roosevelt could gauge Japan's response to Action H. The three bold steps
taken that summer confirmed that Japan was preparing for hostile action. Still there
was the possibility of a diplomatic settlement as outlined by Foreign Minister Yosuke
Matsuoka's "worst" policy, initially proposed in January 1941. Matsuoka's strategy
offered diplomacy as the first option for Japan; war with the United States and her
allies would be the last resort—and only when worse came to worst. But conceding to
a diplomatic solution does not appear in the President's strategy. His response instead
was to tighten the economic screws and encourage the "worst" policy. In July 1941 he
closed the Panama Canal to Japanese shipping, seized Japanese assets in the United
States, and placed a truly effective embargo on shipments of petroleum products, iron,
steel, and metal products—restrictions that were sure to infuriate the

military-dominated government in Tokyo.’

The earlier embargo of 1940, which had allowed the sale of millions of gallons of

petroleum products to Japan, ended. Roosevelt followed McCol-
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lum's suggested Action H and embargoed all trade with Japan. Joseph Rochefort, the
commander of Station HYPO, regarded the total embargo as an ultimatum: Japan had
no recourse but war. "We cut off their money, their fuel and trade. We were just
tightening the screws on the Japanese. They could see no way of getting out except

" * Both Hawaii and the nation's capital grasped the danger. In Honolulu

going to war.
the editors of the Advertiser sensed the war clouds hovering over the Pacific and on
July 25, 1941, published a feature story on a possible air attack on Pearl Harbor. The
article, in the magazine section, featured drawings showing what such an attack might

entail.

In Washington, authorization and funding for a two-ocean Navy had been
approved by Congress, and by the summer of 1941 construction was underway in the
nations' shipyards. In 1941 US naval forces were weak compared to Japan's. America
had seven aircraft carriers; Japan had ten flattops. One of the seven in the US Navy,
the USS Ranger, lacked maneuverability at high speeds and was not considered a
front-line carrier. Funding and contracts had been let for construction of a powerful
American naval force built around 100 aircraft carriers. Though the goals of the
twoocean navy were laudable, completion of the first phase of the American naval

might was not expected until 1943—almost two years away.’

With the tightening of the economic screws, Japanese oil tankers unable to load
up at American refineries in California returned home. But the Empire was not
without oil resources. During the previous year-long limited embargo, the White
House issued export permits that allowed Japan to obtain just enough fuel to keep her
warships going. Most of the reserve was stored at the major Japanese naval fuel depot
at Tokuyama in the Inland Sea. America had quite deliberately put Japan in an
untenable position with just enough fuel to fight, but not enough to win. There was

only one recourse for Japan: resort to military might and gain access to the petroleum.

In 1941 Japan required 3,500,000 tons of oil for peacetime use and allocated
2,000,000 tons for the Imperial Navy, 500,000 tons for the army and 1,000,000 tons
for civilian use. As of July 1941 she had a two years' peacetime supply, or about

7,000,000 tons, according to Lieutenant Maxon.’

It was a timetable intended by the United States to expire in 1943 when her

petroleum reserves would be exhausted and American war pro-
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duction was predicted to kick into high gear allowing an offensive war operation.’

The timetable was a perfect fit as far as United States strategy was concerned.
Congress had approved and funded a two-ocean Navy. Although a 1941 tally of each
nation's warships gave the edge to Japan—she had ten first-line carriers to America's
seven flattops—by mid- 1941 United States shipyards had laid down the keels for
what would become a fleet of 100 aircraft carriers, built around the heavy carrier
design of the Essex class, the light carriers of the Independence class, and escort

carriers called baby flattops. *

By September 1 , Japan's war planning was proceeding at high speed. Japan's
naval radio broadcasts disclosed both its overall strategy and its tactics. American
cryptographers learned of major changes in Japanese worldwide shipping
assignments. Merchant vessels, which normally operated under civilian control,
began receiving their movement orders from the Imperial Navy. At the same time a
significant number of warships and naval air units assigned to the war in China were
recalled to the Empire for overhaul and reorganization. New expeditionary groups
emerged from these recalled forces; the restructured units then trained in beach

. . . . 9
invasion and landing tactics.

Admiral Yamamoto's war plans called for seizure of the American, British, and
Dutch possessions in Southeast Asia. Japan wanted access to the vast natural
resources of this huge area. Her planned conquest extended along 100° east longitude
from Siam (Thailand), south along the Malay Peninsula to the Netherlands East
Indies, then branched eastward to the mid-Pacific Ocean near longitude 180°, the

international date line.

To implement this immense campaign, Yamamoto organized his Combined
Fleet into eight separate commands. American radio intelligence obtained the details
and Rochefort at Station HYPO informed Admiral Kimmel of the reorganization on
September 4. Four of the fleet commands were assigned to support the southern
offensive—the invasion of Southeast Asia by Japan's army. These fleets were the
major firepower of Japan's 1941 navy, but did not include the six major aircraft

carriers of the First Air Fleet.

Cryptographers at Station CAST on Corregidor were able to break down the

composition and targets of the main forces. Traffic analyst Duane
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Whitlock of CAST prepared a Japanese Order of Battle, which apparently was
later forwarded to Kimmel and to Washington at the end of October: the Southern
Expeditionary Fleet consisted of troop transports, torpedo boats, mine layers,
submarines, and other small craft; the Second Fleet served as main support for the
other fleets and included battleships, cruisers, and destroyers. The Third Fleet was the
invasion fleet of amphibious forces trained for beachhead landings; its supporting
vessels included light cruisers and destroyers; finally, Air Fleet-Eleven was made up
of land-based air support which combined the major bomber and fighter squadrons of

Japan's navy with seaplane tenders and four light aircraft carriers. '°

With these fleets, Admiral Yamamoto planned to block American interference
with Japan's Southeast Asia conquest. He was sure that the United States would react
to the invasion of the Philippines by dispatching warships, air units, and military
reinforcement to the British and Dutch governments. Part of his plan included
invading and seizing Guam and Wake islands, two minor and lightly defended
American bases in the Central Pacific. He organized four fleets to counter the
American threat and formed a screening force to immobilize the Pacific Fleet through
a surprise attack on Pearl Harbor. This screening force consisted of the First Air Fleet
with six fast aircraft carriers, protected by a screen of destroyers, cruisers, and
battleships and a supply train of seven fuel tankers; the Fourth Fleet based at Truk in
the Central Pacific, including cruisers, coastal submarines, air units, destroyers,
landing craft, troop transports, and Air Flotilla 24 with its land-based bombers,
fighters, and seaplanes; the Fifth Fleet, a patrol force built around trawlers, gunboats,
and other small craft capable of making ocean patrols of Japan's northern and eastern
coasts to send out early warnings of countermoves by the United States or the USSR;
and the Sixth Fleet, a powerful force of 45 oceangoing fleet submarines, some of

which carried float planes and midget subs.

Japan's Fast Carrier Force was concentrated in the First Air Fleet, which had
been formed on April 1 . This force and 30 submarines of the Sixth Fleet would be
aimed at Pearl Harbor on December 7. Japan's Fourth Fleet, based at Truk, was
assigned to capture Guam and Wake and prevent an American military advance
through the Central Pacific. '

By organizing these fleets into combat-ready forces using the radio waves,

Japanese officials unwittingly disclosed their intentions to Ameri-
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cans, Dutch, and British. These disclosures occurred throughout 1941. Most Japanese

and American historians assert that Japan's naval vessels ceased radio broadcasts after
November 25 pursuant to an order issued by Admiral Yamamoto. These assertions
have been accepted as fact for fifty years. But Yamamoto's order of the twenty-fifth
was not all-inclusive—it contained a proviso that permitted radio transmissions. The
order was intercepted at Station H by Radioman Second Class Jack Kaye at 8:48 p.m.,
on November 24. It read, according to a USN translation dated March 18, 1946:

FROM 26 NOVEMBER, SHIPS OF COMBINED FLEET WILL OBSERVE RADIO
COMMUNICATION PROCEDURES AS FOLLOWS, (i) EXCEPT IN EXTREME
EMERGENCY, THE MAIN FORCE AND ITS ATTACHED FORCES WILL CEASE
COMMUNICATING. (2) OTHER FORCES ARE AT DISCRETION OF THEIR
RESPECTIVE COMMANDERS. (3) SUPPLY SHIPS, REPAIR SHIPS, HOSPITAL
SHIPS, ETC., WILL REPORT DIRECTLY TO PARTIES CONCERNED. "

Radio intercepts obtained by US Navy monitoring stations disclosed that the
broadcasts continued after the order was issued. Instead of radio silence there was
substantial, continuous radio traffic from the Japanese naval ministry, foreign
ministry, and warships, most of which American communications intelligence
personnel intercepted and understood. It was a major departure from normal Japanese
naval communications. Since the late 1920s, Navy intercept operators using IBM
statistical machinery maintained an ongoing analysis of Japan's naval broadcasts. The
analysis established a norm for all categories of her naval commands and indicated
who communicated with whom and how often. When her naval transmissions
increased dramatically in 1941 it was a clear indicator of Japan's intent to make war

against the United States, according to Homer Kisner of Station H.

Radio intercept operators monitored the eight commands listed above and
determined which were the most active, as well as each command's radio association
with Japanese warships and the land bases and bureaus of Japan's navy. By analyzing
these radio associations, American cryptographers could accurately predict Japan's
military moves in 1941. 13 For example, a major source for predicting future Japanese
naval operations was Japan's Bureau of Military Preparations. The Bureau provided

war sup-
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plies such as replacement aircraft, aerial torpedoes, and bombs for the First Air Fleet.
When radio communications between the Bureau and the First Air Fleet exceeded
normal levels, American cryptographers knew that something was brewing. When
information copies of the messages between the Bureau and the First Air Fleet were
sent to Japan's Central Pacific bases, the communication pattern revealed a probable
destination. Soon the destination was confirmed when Japanese naval post offices in
the Central Pacific received directions by radio to forward mail to Saipan, Truk, and

other Japanese naval bases in the region. '*

So far as is known, all of Yamamoto's original orders initiating the naval recall
from China were contained in secret letters hand delivered to commanding officers by
Japanese naval couriers. No recalls ordered by radio dispatch have been located in
American intercept files. Nevertheless, the White House learned of the recall when

Japan's naval commanders acknowledged their movement orders by radio.

September 1, 1941, marked the day the Japanese navy unwittingly revealed the
secret recall of its forces from China. Rochefort's intercept operators at Station HYPO
obtained movement reports, and he informed Admiral Kimmel of the mass arrival of
the China units at Sasebo and other homeland ports during a five-day period from
September 4 to 8. It appears that the China-recall reports were either in plain language
or in the SM (Ship Movement) code.

At about noon on September 1 Admiral Mineichi Koga, commanderin-chief of
Japan's naval forces in China, forecast that critical times lay ahead. He even suggested
that a huge new operating area for offensive operations required withdrawing forces
from the China region. His estimations came in an ominous radio message sent to the

commander of Japan's Eleventh Air Fleet, then quartered in China:

ON THIS OCCASION OF DETACHING YOUR FLEET FROM MY
COMMAND, I WISH TO THANK ALL HANDS OF THE FLEET, FROM
THE COMMANDER IN CHIEF ON DOWN, FOR THEIR ORDEALS, AND
ESPECIALLY TO ASK THAT YOU WORK EVEN HARDER TOWARD
INCREASING YOUR FIGHTING ABILITY, IN VIEW OF THE CRITICAL
TIMES WHICH WE ARE FACING. '

Hints of the recall order didn't stop with Admiral Koga. Other commanders of
large and small units took to the airwaves during the week. The
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commander of Base Force One. which consisted of amphibious landing craft and

support units, reported,
SUBCHASER DIVISION | AND II, AOTAKA, HATSUTAKA WILL LEAVE THE PLACE OF
THE CHINA INCIDENT AND PROCEED TO HOME PORTS IN ACCORDANCE WITH
THIRD FLEET OPERATION ORDER 16..
Later, Koga sent this message to Yamamoto:
AIR FLOTILLA TWENTY-THREE WILL RETURN TO KANOYA AND SAEKI [Navy
airfields on Kyushu].
During the remainder of the week the China exodus continued. The commander
of the Eleventh Air Fleet, comprising all of Japan's land-based naval aviation, 17

announced his arrival at Kanoya Air Base after a seven and- a-half-hour flight from
China:

AT 0900 TODAY THE SECOND, | DEPARTED CHINA AND ARRIVED AT KANOYA AIR
STATION AT 1645 VIA BOO AIR BASE. | RETURNED MY FLAG TO KANOYA AIR
GROUP.

More China units reported heading for Japan. On September 4, Destroyer
Squadron Five reported leaving Amoy for homeland naval bases at Maizuru, Sasebo

and Yokosuka:

THE FOLLOWING SHIPS DEPARTED FROM AMOY: NATORI FOR MAIZURU, DES
DIV 22 FOR SASEBO; DES DIV 5 FOR YOKOSUKA.

Submarine Squadron Six transmitted:

THIS UNIT LESS SUBDIV 9 DEPARTED FOOCHOW OFFING FOR KURE..

The orders continued on September 5. The Commander in Chief of Japan's Third
Fleet, Vice Admiral Ibo Takahashi, radioed:

DEPARTED HANGCHOW IN COMMAND OF CRUDIV 16, LESS KUMA.

At 7 a.m. the next day Takahashi reported his fleet's total removal from China:

THIRD FLEET IS HEREBY REMOVED FROM OPERATIONAL COMMAND OF CINC,
CHINA AREA FLEET. ALL UNITS AND SHIPS WILL PROCEED TO DESIGNATED
PLACES FOR UPKEEP.
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He sent action orders to his command and thus unwittingly disclosed their
identity to American Intelligence: Sea Plane Tender Division 12, Submarine
Squadron 6, Destroyer Squadron 5, Base Force 1, the light cruiser Kama. The
broadcasts continued as Takahashi's ships kept him (and Station H) informed:

SEA PLANE TENDER DIV 12 AND THE FUJIKAWA MARU ARRIVED SASEBO. '

These forces remained in Japan's Third Fleet through December 7, and were
never attached to the Hawaii-bound carrier force. This separation was noted by
American intelligence and confirmed that Japan had no intention of actually invading

Hawaii in the initial stage of the war.

Additional proof of the recall of Japan's amphibious fleet from China's waters
continued to come through naval radio transmissions. As September 6 turned into
night, Subchaser Division 5 1 and Seaplane Tender Division 12 reported their arrival
at Sasebo. That base, located northwest of Nagasaki, was the naval center for Japan's

China and Southeast Asia operations.

The China naval recall, we now know, prepared Japan for the first phase of its
war and supported the invasion and occupation of the Philippines, Singapore, Borneo,
and Malaya. The warships and units of the Third Fleet headed for dry docks at Sasebo,
Maizuru, and Yokosuka for refitting, overhaul, and stripping of flammable materials
such as wood, linoleum, etc. Once outfitted for war, every Third Fleet unit remained

under the control of one commander.

In October, men of the recalled warships and auxiliaries of the Third Fleet trained
in beach landing drills. Their training took place at Tachibana Bay on Kyushu and at
Murozumi Bay on the south tip of Honshu. When the forces sailed between the two
areas they kept in touch by radio communications, always sending information copies
of their dispatches to the Third Fleet commander. These radio exchanges enabled
American cryptographers such as Kisner's radiomen to identify the "mother hen" (the

Third Fleet) and the "chickens" (the invasion forces). "°

Since the Japanese warships failed to observe basic communications security,
American cryptographers at Station H learned the organizational structure of the
Third Fleet. It was a simple procedure to follow the warships to Southeast Asia and to

locate and separate vessels headed eastward
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across the Pacific. Commanders of Third Fleet cruisers, destroyers, and submarine
squadrons dutifully reported their positions and arrivals at their home ports, located on
one of the four main islands of the Empire. Japan's naval organization was consistent.
None of the six flattops of the First Air Fleet was ever associated with the Third Fleet
by American radiomonitor operators. The First Air Fleet was always linked with an
easterly movement across the Pacific Ocean toward Hawaii, never toward Southeast

- 20
Asia.

As September ended, Japan had recalled most of its capital warships and military
air units from China, and Americans knew it. The move signaled a major change in
Japanese military strategy. President Roosevelt and his staff closely watched the

developments as the Japanese military intercepts revealed a new theater of operations.

Japan's worldwide recall of its merchant marine paralleled that of the China
warship recall. In a matter of hours Japan's world trading operations came to a halt. It
was immediately seen in Washington as a prelude to war. Arthur McCollum
recognized the importance of the recall: Japan's merchant marine fleet would soon
become troop transports and military cargo-handling vessels. McCollum had once
written: "It is assumed that prior to any initiation of hostilities, a nation contemplating
war probably would withdraw its commercial shipping and detached naval units from

those areas where this shipping could be readily seized or destroyed." *'
American radio intercept operators easily distinguished between

Japan's warships and her merchant vessels, called Mams. Japan used a different
communication procedure in contacting the latter. Commercial vessels communicated
through Tokyo in peacetime by using radio call signs issued through the International

Radio Tribunal in Berne, Switzerland, known as the Berne List. 2

Each Japanese Mam was assigned four Roman letters beginning with J for Japan.
For example, the Tatsuta Mam, Japan's premier ocean liner, was known as JFYC.
Japanese warships and naval shore stations were addressed in a separate code system
that used two kana syllables and a number. For example, the flagship of the Japanese
carrier force was the HUMS Akagi, whose secret radio call sign in the fall of 1941 was
8 YU NA. The two different Japanese communications procedures have confused

some Amer-
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ican World War II historians, who claimed that the vessels could not be distinguished

by radio procedures.”

The recall of the Marus was first noted by American intelligence on July 1, 1941.
Eight Japanese merchant vessels were told to depart American East Coast ports
immediately. To meet the deadline, officials of the NYK line and other Japanese
shipping firms directed American longshoremen working the East Coast docks of
Baltimore, New York, Boston, and Philadelphia to "rush-load" supplies into cargo
holds. Radio Tokyo ordered the captains of these ships to clear the Atlantic coastal
harbors immediately, transit the Panama Canal, and be in the Pacific Ocean by July *.
The schedule called for one ship per day to transit the Canal, starting on July 16th and
ending on the 22nd. War planners in Japan badly needed these ships. Most were slated
for conversion to troop transports for the invasion of the Philippines and the Kra
Isthmus. Others were scheduled for the invasions of Singapore, Malaya, and Borneo.
Three of the vessels, Tokai Mam, Amagisan Mam, and Kirishima Mam, were

earmarked for the Philippine invasion at Lingayen Gulf on Luzon in mid-December.

The Amagisan Mam would play a key part in operations against the US Army
Air forces in the Philippines, commanded by General Douglas MacArthur. During the
war's opening salvos—just six months away—the vessel would transport elements of
the Eleventh Air Fleet from the home islands to air bases in Formosa (today called
Taiwan or Chinese Taipei). On December 7, the Eleventh Air Fleet took off from their
Formosa bases and destroyed most of MacArthur's bombers and fighters on the
ground at Clark Air Field in central Luzon. A fourth merchant vessel, the Awajisan
Mam, slipped out past New York City's Statue of Liberty on July 4. The 9700-ton
passenger/cargo vessel steamed past the Sandy Hook lightship, entered Atlantic
waters, and headed for the Panama Canal. New Yorkers who happened to observe her
departure were looking at a doomed ship. The Awajisan Mam, assigned to the
Japanese Third Fleet, was sunk on the first day of the war by Australian bombers

during Japan's amphibious operations at Khota Bharu, north of Singapore.

From Boston, New York, Philadelphia, and Baltimore Japan's East Coast
merchant fleet sailed for home. July 22 was fast approaching. But the ships found the

Panama Canal closed to them. Because President Roo-
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sevelt knew of the planned exodus from the intercepts he had ordered that Japanese

merchant shipping be denied the right to use the Canal.

Most of the American intercept operators were Navy men, trained for a job ina
concrete classroom built on the roof of the Sixth Wing of the Navy Department
headquarters on Washington's Constitution Avenue. All were regular
noncommissioned radiomen. They called themselves the "On-the-Roof Gang." Every
Roof Gang member was sworn to a lifetime of secrecy. To protect the security of the
intercept stations, only the commandant of a Navy District was allowed aboard them.

Even the admiral's staff was kept off the stations. **

Radio orders to the captains of the Marus were intercepted by the Roof Gang
personnel. By July 3, the message sheets containing the Japanese encrypted text had
been decoded and translated by cryptologists in Washington. While celebrating the
Fourth of July at Hyde Park, President Roosevelt read the reports and closed the Canal
effective July 5. A cover story was concocted. Major General Daniel van Voorhis of
the Panama Canal Zone Command issued a press release claiming that the emergency
closure was caused by water leaks in the transit locks of the canal. Japan had no
choice. Denied the Panama Canal transit, the vessels were routed back to Japan the

long way—via the Straits of Magellan at the southern tip of South America.

At 7:39 p.m. on July 3, just minutes after Radio Tokyo's dispatches had been
translated, Admiral Stark sent a war warning to Admirals Kimmel and Hart: "Japan's
policy probably involves war in the near future. They have ordered all Jap vessels in

the Atlantic ports to be west of the Panama Canal by August 1." %

By late summer, the oil embargo stopped the flow of American oil products into
the bunkers of Japanese tankers and merchant ships then waiting for refills on the
West Coast. On August 14, Admiral Stark, as CNO, sent additional details to the
Navy's Pacific commands: "Japanese rapidly completing withdrawal from world
shipping routes. Scheduled sailings canceled and the majority of ships other than
(those in) China and Japan sea areas are homeward bound." It was the last meaningful
message based on communications intelligence that Stark sent to Kimmel. In Hawaii,
although Kimmel had been denied crucial communications intercepts from

Washington, he learned about the merchant vessel exodus from
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Rochefort's cryptographers. But as we shall see, the Rochefort source was

eventually curtailed.*®

Admiral Kimmel knew these ships were likely to be part of Japanese invasion
forces. Beginning in the late summer, Kimmel requested, received, and initialed the
recall position reports of various Japanese Marus obtained by the US Navy's West
Coast intercept network (WCCI). These documents show the admiral's direct interest
in the matter. For example, on September 27 Kimmel saw the radio direction finder
position of the merchant ship Heiyo Maru. Kimmel read the report obtained by the
WCCI and directed his intelligence officer Edwin Layton "to bring these late reports
to me." According to the intercepted Japanese broadcasts decoded and translated in
Washington, DC but not sent to Kimmel, the vessel was returning to Japan from

. L7
Manzanillo, Mexico.

As Pacific Fleet commander and as an experienced naval officer, Kimmel would
have fully grasped the import of Japanese merchant vessels being abruptly placed
under military control. Such ships were essential components of invasion and
occupation forces. Layton passed Kimmel's order to the US Navy's intercept
operators, who began tracking the Heiyo Maru and other ships. The tracking paid off.
In the two week period following Kimmel's directive, Rochefort's intercept operators
and those on the West Coast reported that 45 vessels were pouring military troops,
laborers, and supplies into Japanese naval bases in the Central Pacific. One of the most

active was the Heiyo Maru.™®

Rochefort's Daily Communication Summary of September 24 called Kimmel's
attention to a "peculiar" 5-Num coded dispatch involving the Maizuru naval base and
special guard units. Kimmel was told that the naval base and the guard units were
associated with Japan's Central Pacific command—the Fourth Fleet. According to
Rochefort's alert to Kimmel, Maizuru rarely sent radio messages concerning
personnel. He said the communication procedure was highly unusual. Rochefort

promised to follow up.

Rochefort ** sorted out the 5 -Numeral dispatch and wrote that it was a peculiar
dispatch originating with the Maizuru naval base's supplies and accounts section. Six
days earlier, on September 18, he had advised Kimmel that Maizuru's personnel
bureau had changed radio communication tactics. Instead of receiving radio messages

involving transfer of person-
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nel, Maizuru was actively engaged in moving military personnel away from the

base—an unusual communication procedure for Maizuru, according to Rochefort. US
Naval intelligence knew that Maizuru was one of the amphibious landing training
centers for the Imperial Japanese Navy—similar to US Marine Corps amphibious
centers. Though he didn't predict the intent of the movement away from Maizuru,
Rochefort had discovered the Japanese force that eventually invaded and seized Wake
Island in late December 1941.

It is not clear how much of the 5-Num message text he could decipher, translate,
and read. But Rochefort's 1941 admission concerning the 5-Num code is startling. It
uncovers another Pearl Harbor deceit—because when questioned by Senator Homer
Ferguson (R., MI) of the Joint Congressional Investigation Committee on February
16, 1946, Rochefort claimed that neither he nor other Station HYPO cryptographers
worked on the 5-Num code until after December 7, 1941: "We were specifically told
to keep away or not to exploit that so-called five-number system, which was a naval

system. That was being done elsewhere." *°

Rochefort's Communication Summary of September 24, 1941, directly
contradicts his statement to Senator Ferguson. He told Kimmel he obtained
information from the intercepted 5-Num code dispatch. Obviously he exploited the
code system and did not keep away from it, as he claimed to Ferguson. Rochefort
identified three Japanese units for Kimmel that he predicted merited future watching:
Keibii 51, Keibii 52, and Keibii 53.31

Kimmel read and initialed Rochefort's informative report culled from the 5-Num
dispatch: "For purposes of future reference, the following peculiar despatch [sic]
heading is noted: 52 Keibii 32 at Maizuru originated a 5 numeral dispatch (SMS
001-NR 690) for action 4th fleet staff officer info to 52 Keibii 32 at Sasebo and 53
Keibii at Yokosuka. The suffix 32 is generally associated with Supplies or Accounts
and the Keibii is something similar to the meaning for guard ship." Four days later, on
September 28, Rochefort developed additional information from the 5-Num code for
Kimmel and wrote that "a 4th fleet staff officer originated a dispatch to 51 Keibitai
believed at Sasebo, 52 Keibitai at Maizuru and 53 Keibitai believed at Yokosuka." **

Rochefort's identification for Kimmel was right on. He had detected Landing
Force 51, 52, and 53 which—three months in the future—would
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supply Japanese military reinforcements for the Battle of Wake Island. Clearly the
two 5-Num dispatches indicated a close association between the three amphibious
landing forces and the Central Pacific (Fourth Fleet).

Rochefort implied that he would keep Kimmel informed of any later movements
of the three Keibii units. There is no record that he did. A Japanese radio dispatch
from Kwajalein did provide the destination information on November 29, 1941. The
dispatch, in the 5-Num code, was intercepted at Station H. It listed Keibii 51, 52, and
53 in the heading of the message and firmly connected the units with the Japanese
expeditionary forces gathering in the Central Pacific. Normally Rochefort, after a
quick analysis of the communications components of a message, summarized the
information found in the headings of 5-Num dispatches. In cryptology jargon an
addressee anywhere in the heading of the message reveals vital location information.

It is like reading an address on the front of a postal envelope.

Two weeks later on December 1 1, US Marines on Wake Island, under command
of Major James Devereux, drove off an initial Japanese landing attempt, sank the
destroyer HUMS Hayate, and damaged the light cruisers HUMS Tenryu and HUMS
Tatsuta, a transport, the Kongo Maru, and two patrol boats. The Japanese
force—temporarily defeated—Ilimped back to Kwajalein, regrouped by adding the
troops of Keibii, 51, 52, and 53, and returned on December 23, 1941. The US Navy
commander of Wake Island, Commander Winfield Cunningham, radioed Pearl
Harbor:

ENEMY ON ISLAND. ISSUE IN DOUBT.

He surrendered to Japan that afternoon. Wake Island was a costly battle for the
Japanese. In the sixteen days of fighting, a total of 820 Japanese were killed and 333
wounded. American casualties totaled 120 killed, 49 wounded, and two missing.
Taken prisoners of war by the Japanese military, the American survivors were
brutalized by their captors. 33 Joseph Rochefort's public testimony in the Pearl Harbor
investigations of 1944 to 1946 and his own Oral History of 1969 challenge his and the
uUsS

Navy's credibility regarding the pre-Pearl Harbor Japanese naval code
interceptions. At issue is the 5-Num code and whether Rochefort provided the Pacific
Fleet with all the essential intelligence he had gathered and collated. He clearly
informed Admiral Kimmel that Station HYPO's crypto-

133



DAY Of DECEIT
graphic staff had intercepted the 5-Num code. On seven different occasions between
September 4 and November 16, he specifically informed Kimmel that his staff had

obtained intercepts in the 5-Num code.34

On September 4, Rochefort called Kimmel's attention to "a short 5-Num dispatch
originated by the Naval Minister." By October 1, he noted: "S-Num messages are
increasing in volume." And he reiterated on the fourth, "Messages in the 5-Num
system slightly greater than normal." The reason for the increased frequency of
5-Num traffic would soon be painfully clear. But unaccountably, Rochefort ceased
mentioning 5-Num to Kimmel on November 1 6—the day Japanese naval forces
headed for assembly points to begin their assault on America and her allies. For the
Hawaii air attack, the assembly point was Hitokappu Bay. His next mention of a
5-Num report would come on December 19, when he intercepted, decoded, and

translated Admiral Nagumo's report on his devastating attack on the Pacific Fleet.

Between September 24 and mid-November, significant portions of the Japanese
naval code systems revealed much about the composition of the Japanese amphibious
force being sent to the Central Pacific for the invasions of Wake and Guam. How
much was disclosed to Admiral Kimmel and the White House is obscured by
continued US censorship. But it is clear that the merchant vessels were steadily
tracked through the Central Pacific; radio direction finders located them when they
transmitted movement reports to Tokyo. Each fix provided a precise location. These
position reports were included in daily summaries furnished directly to Kimmel and to
Arthur McCollum in Washington. The concentration of Japanese warships and
invasion forces was an obvious threat to US bases at Guam, Midway, and Wake

Island, if not to Pearl Harbor itself.*

It is ironic that Admiral Kimmel singled out the Heiyo Mara for electronic
monitoring. It is one of the "what if" questions of Pearl Harbor. What if Rochefort had
followed through on his promise and reported tracking the Special Landing Forces to
the Marshall Islands, south of Wake? Would Admiral Kimmel have sounded the
alarm and saved his reputation and naval career? Just days after Kimmel ordered
Edwin Layton, his intelligence chief, to track the Heiyo Mara, she arrived in Japan and

was converted to
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an armed merchant vessel. Shipyard workmen installed anti-aircraft guns and other
armament. In two war preparation voyages in October and November, the 9800-ton
vessel traveled to Maizuru naval base on Japan's west coast, took on Special Landing
Forces that were slated to seize Wake Island, and transported them to Central Pacific

bases.

The movements of the Heiyo Maru throughout the two months can be traced
through communication intelligence records of Station H (Hawaii), Station SAIL
(Seattle), Station ITEM (Imperial Beach, California), and Station AE (Sitka, Alaska).
The four intercept stations obtained RDF bearings and reported her precise locations
to Admiral Kimmel. Her first war preparation voyage began on October 19.
Significantly, each radio order linked the Bureau of War Preparations office in Tokyo
with the commander of Japan's Fourth Fleet based at Truk in the Central Pacific, who
commanded all Japanese naval forces in Micronesia. The Bureau's radio messages
heralded a major change. The Heiyo Maru no longer received sailing instructions
from the passenger agents of the civilian NYK line. Her new boss was Vice Admiral
Shigeyoshi Inoue, the Fourth Fleet commander, who directed the vessel to ferry

military forces to various bases in the Mandate Islands of the Central Pacific. *°

During the two months of war preparation voyages the Heiyo Maru broke radio
silence on at least eleven occasions. Her bearings left no doubt; she was positioned by
US Navy direction finders traveling eastward past the Bonin Islands, Iwo Jima, and to
the Marshall Islands—carrying troops and war materials slated for Wake. The captain
of the ship originated the transmissions and was heard by Navy monitoring stations
throughout the Pacific. *’

They came in loud and clear at Station H in Hawaii. Though Japan issued new
radio call signs for its naval ships on October 1 and November 1, they were solved by
cryptographers at Station H. One of the first to be solved was the coded call sign of the
Heiyo Maru, whose captain broke radio silence on November 22 and reported that he
was departing the Maizuru naval docks and heading for Saipan. His arrival at the
Central Pacific base was set for 0600 hours on November 26. His radio messages said
nothing about an invasion of American territory, but there were plenty of indications
that would alert a vigilant American radio intelligence officer just by analyzing the

radio call signs found in the address headings of the
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intercepts. In October, the military radio call sign of the Heiyo Maru was SA TE 0.

Her radio contacts were with the Maizuru naval base and Japanese forces in the
Central Pacific, including Vice Admiral Shigeyoshi Inoue, the commander of Japan's
Fourth Fleet at Truk, and advance bases in the Marshall Islands. The radio association
listed in the heading addresses, combined with the RDF bearings, confirmed the route.
Japan changed her naval radio call signs on November 1 for the forces afloat—but not
those of the shore stations. They kept their former call signs. By November 4, US
Navy cryptographers unmasked the Heiyo Maru. Her new call sign was HE NU 2. **

The passenger/cargo ship was directed to pick up amphibious forces at Maizuru
base and transport them to Saipan in the Central Pacific. Then Japanese radio
operators firmly linked the Maizuru forces with the Central Pacific by sending copies
of the radio orders to Japan's naval base at Kwajalein in the eastern Marshall Islands,
about 600 miles south of Wake. On November 20, the Special Landing Force boarded
the ship at the Maizuru docks and the vessel headed for Saipan, radioing that it would

arrive on the morning of the 26th.”

Admiral Kimmel's war plans staff should have been alarmed by the arrival of a
Japanese invasion force south of Wake Island. The man who was responsible for
evaluating Japanese intentions was Commander Vincent R. Murphy, assistant war
plans officer for Kimmel. Murphy was a holdover from Admiral Richardson's staff,
and accompanied Richardson to Washington in October 1940 for the tumultuous
meeting in the White House. Murphy attended major meetings with America's top
naval brass while in Washington in late 1 940, which suggests that he learned of
FDR's policy of "let Japan commit the first act of war." It is unreasonable to believe

Richardson did not convey Roosevelt's policy to his top aide—Murphy.*’

Though he promised to continue monitoring the movements of the Maizuru
landing force, Rochefort dropped the forces from his Daily Summary and did not
suggest to Kimmel that the destination of the Maizuru force was Wake. He did warn
Kimmel that Japan was concentrating "far greater" naval forces east of Saipan in the
Marshall Islands.*'

Kimmel picked up on the warning and, after conferring with Rochefort, alerted
Washington to the dangers posed by Japan's growing military force in the Central

Pacific. The admiral's response was proper military
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procedure—he sought authority from Washington to confront Japan's military moves
in the Marshall Islands, particularly at the Jaluit naval base.*” But General George
Marshall, Army Chief of Staff, wanted physical proof and dispatched two B-24 photo
plan